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REVENUE EBITDA†

TOTAL ZINC PRODUCTION (tonnes)# TOTAL LEAD PRODUCTION (tonnes)#

nyrstar is a new star in the metals industry and the world’s largest producer
of zinc with a market share of approximately 10%*, as well as a major lead producer.
We were created on 31 August 2007 from the zinc and lead smelting and alloying assets
of Umicore and Zinifex. Nyrstar became a publicly listed company on 29 October 2007
on the Euronext Brussels stock exchange.

Our name, Nyrstar, is a combination of ‘nyr’, an old Norse word meaning new, and ‘star’
a leading light. For us, Nyrstar means a bright new star, a new organisation full of energy
with a strong focus on future growth.

We have a truly global spread of high-quality assets that are well positioned to supply our
customers in Europe, North America,Australia and Asia Pacific.We focus on meeting our
customers’ needs for premium quality zinc and zinc alloys worldwide.

Our vision is to be a global leader in metals processing and recycling – making products
for a sustainable future.
*Source: Brook Hunt

€3,815m €560m

1,073,000 221,000

Important note: Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in this annual
report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2007 set out on pages 90 to 102 (please refer to page 45 ‘Important
note in relation to the presentation of financial information’ for a detailed explanation of
the presentation of financial information in this annual report).

†Including income from associates.
#Production tonnes include production from primary zinc smelters and primary and secondary lead smelters only. Production at
subsidiaries and associate companies has been consolidated proportionate to our equity holdings. Zinc production includes market metal
production from Balen and Overpelt and excludes cathodes purchased from Auby for conversion into zinc and zinc alloys.

KEy 2007 HIGHLIGHts

NY002 Covers:NY002 Covers 7/4/08 16:41 Page 2



��NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007

02 THINKBIG
AN OVERVIEW OF OUR MAIN MARKETS AND OPERATIONS

04 THINKGLOBAL
OUR GLOBAL OPERATIONS

06 THINKESSENTIAL
THE USES OF ZINC AND SOME OF OUR OTHER PRODUCTS

08 THINKEXPERIENCE
OUR CHAIRMAN SHARES HISVIEWS

11 THINKTEAMWORK
THE CEO REVIEWSTHEYEAR AND GIVES HISTHOUGHTS ONTHE FUTURE

14 THINKGROWTH
THE DRIVERS OFTHE ZINC INDUSTRY, CURRENT MARKET CONDITIONS
AND A MARKET OUTLOOK

18 THINKLEADING
AN OVERVIEW OF OUR STRATEGY

20 THINKACTION
OUR STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION PLANTO MAXIMISE
PRODUCTION AND GROWTH

22 THINKRESULTS
A REVIEW OF OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS IN 2007 AND PRINCIPAL RISKS

26 THINKPERFORMANCE
A PLANT BY PLANT OVERVIEW OF OUR OPERATIONS

34 THINKRESPONSIBLE
OPERATING A RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS FOCUSED ON
SAFETY, HEALTH ANDTHE ENVIRONMENT

38 GOvERNANCE AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THINKZINC
Zinc is an essential element. Everyone needs zinc. It is vital for many biological
functions and plays a crucial role in more than 300 enzymes in the human body.
Zinc is fully recyclable. It can be recycled indefinitely without loss of its physical or
chemical properties. Over 11 million tonnes of zinc is produced annually worldwide,
with global zinc consumption increasing by 3.8% in 2007*.

Because of its protective qualities in preventing corrosion, zinc is vital for the
construction industry, the transport sector, a large number of consumer products,
industrial machinery and many other sectors. Zinc helps to conserve natural
resources. It prolongs the life of steel, which in turn reduces replacement costs
and the environmental impact of regularly replacing rusted steel.

*Source: Brook Hunt
Cover image: Galvanized steel sheet
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SAFETY
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MANAGEMENT

ZINC 72%*

No.�†

€2,73�m

Nyrstar is the world’s largest producer of zinc. Our raw material consists of zinc concentrate
and a significant portion of secondary materials.We convert the raw material into zinc metal
so that it can be used in several different end use markets. Zinc has many qualities attractive
to industry; it reacts with iron to provide corrosion resistance to steel and alloys readily with
other metals such as copper. It is a relatively hard metal with a low melting point, making it
suitable for die casting, but still soft enough to be formed, rolled or extruded.

We aim to improve safety across all of our operations to achieve world-class standards.
The key environmental issues for our smelters relate to ensuring that we meet ongoing
changes in regulatory standards and that we continue to address impacts from
historical operations.

*%figures refer to share of revenue calculated on a modified pro forma basis for the 12 months ended 31 December 2007.
†Source: Brook Hunt
#Production tonnes include production from primary zinc smelters and primary and secondary lead smelters only. Production at subsidiaries and
associate companies has been consolidated proportionate to our equity holdings. Zinc production includes market metal production from Balen
and Overpelt and excludes cathodes purchased from Auby for conversion into zinc and zinc alloys.

Europe is a key market for our premium quality zinc alloy products.
Demand for our zinc metal is high in developing areas such as Asia,
in particular China and other industrialising markets.

Producing zinc and zinc alloys for our customers is the core focus of Nyrstar.We will
continue to produce high-quality branded products and deliver high levels of customer service
that enable us to maximise premiums over commodity metal prices.We will improve our
operations through productivity, synergy and growth initiatives. As an industry leader we
intend to take a leading role in consolidating and improving the profitability of the industry.

Because of its protective
qualities in preventing
corrosion, zinc is vital for the
construction industry, the
transport sector, a large
number of consumer products
and industrial machinery.

1,073,000 tonnes#

NY002 p01-07.qxp:NY002 p01-07  8/4/08  11:24  Page 02



�3NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007

GROUP OVERVIEW

LEAD ��%* OTHERS �7%*

€432m €653m

No.3†

Nyrstar is one of the largest primary lead smelting
and refining companies in the world. Over half the
lead we produce comes from secondary or other
sources of scrap lead, including some from our
own zinc plants. Lead is found in ore bodies in
association with other minerals, mainly zinc,
silver and copper.

Lead is an important product for Nyrstar.
A key focus for us is to optimise our assets
and increase production from secondary sources.

Asia is a key market for us as the region is
experiencing rapid expansion in the domestic
vehicle sector and is also home to some of the
world’s largest lead acid battery producers.

The majority of
lead we produce is
used to make lead acid
batteries for motor
vehicles and industrial
applications.

Gold and silver are
predominantly used in
electronics, sulphuric acid
in fertiliser production and
indium in the manufacture
of LCD flat screen
televisions.

221,000 tonnes#

The majority of our lead is produced at Port Pirie
in Australia which has been an operating site for
over 100 years.The key environmental project
is theTenby10 program, where we are reducing
community exposure by minimising lead emissions
into the air.

Although our main products are zinc and lead,
we also produce a number of valuable by-products
such as silver, sulphuric acid, gold, copper and,
more recently, indium.The quantity of by-products
we produce is dependent on a number of factors
including the chemical composition of the raw
material and our recovery rates.

We are one of the world’s largest producers
of refined silver.Primary lead producer

We will leverage our technological expertise to
increase our recovery rates and maximise the
production of our by-products, such as indium
recovery at Auby.

We have global customers for our sulphuric acid,
while the Middle East and Asia are key markets
for our silver and gold.

Silver: 11,670,000 troy ounces
Sulphuric acid: 1,461,000 tonnes
Gold: 14,600 troy ounces

Our key operating sites are certified to
internationally recognised management system
standards for environment (ISO 14001) and
quality (ISO 9001). Our aim is to achieve fully
integrated site management systems for safety,
environment and quality.
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Galva 45 France (66%)
Zinc galvanizing
2007 Production: 61,000 tonnes coated steel parts

Balen/Overpelt Belgium (100%)
Corporate office
Western regional office
Zinc smelting, alloying,
oxide washing
2007 Production: 264,000 tonnes zinc

Budel Netherlands (100%)
Zinc smelting & alloying
2007 Production: 225,000 tonnes zinc

GM-Metal France (100%)
Zinc alloying
2007 Production: 26,000 tonnes zinc

Zinc smelter

Other zinc operations

Lead refining & recycling

Corporate office

Auby France (100%)
Zinc smelting
2007 Production: 129,000 tonnes zinc

Clarksville USA (100%)
Zinc smelting & alloying
2007 Production: 121,000 tonnes zinc

London United Kingdom
Corporate office

Nystar’s plants are well positioned
to supply the largest and fastest growing zinc
consuming markets in the world including
China,Australasia and Europe and to benefit
from further growth in emerging markets,
such as India, the Middle East and Russia.

GLOBAL OPERATIONS

(%) figures refer to Nyrstar’s ownership as at 31 December 2007.

*Föhl interest transferred on 24 January 2008.
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Nyrstar Yunnan China (60%)
Zinc smelting
2007 Production: 55,000 tonnes zinc

Melbourne Australia
Eastern regional office

ARA Australia (50%)
Lead recycling
2007 Production: 38,000 tonnes lead

PadaengThailand (24.9%)
Zinc mining & smelting
2007 Production: 99,000 tonnes zinc

Föhl China (50%)*
Zinc die casting
2007 Production: 500 tonnes die casting parts

Port Pirie Australia (100%)
Lead/zinc smelting
2007 Production: 202,000 tonnes lead/

37,000 tonnes zinc

Genesis China (50%)
Zinc alloying
2007 Production: 24,000 tonnes zinc

Hobart Australia (100%)
Zinc smelting & alloying
2007 Production: 250,000 tonnes zinc

DEDICATEDTO
MAINTAINING
WORLD-CLASS
SAFETY AND
ENVIRONMENTAL
STANDARDS

AWORKFORCE
OF 4,000 SKILLED
PEOPLEWITH
A HIGHLY
EXPERIENCED
MANAGEMENT
TEAM

ONE OFTHE
WORLD’S LARGEST
PRODUCERS OF
PRIMARY LEAD

THEWORLD’S
LARGEST
PRODUCER OF
ZINC METAL
AND ALLOYS

A PRODUCER
OFVALUABLE
BY-PRODUCTS,
SUCH AS SILVER,
SULPHURIC ACID,
GOLD, COPPER
AND INDIUM

SMELTING,
REFINING
AND ALLOYING
OPERATIONS
ON FOUR
CONTINENTS
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Nyrstar is the world’s largest producer of zinc and a leading
producer of lead. We also produce a number of valuable 
by-products such as silver, sulphuric acid, gold, copper and, 
more recently, indium. Our products form an essential part 
of everyday life.

Our primary focus is zinc production. 

Zinc consumption is measured by first and end use. 
First use is the process application and end use is the 
final product application.

AGRICULTURAL

INDUSTRIAL MACHINERY

Sulphuric acid is often used in the
production of fertiliser and zinc itself 
is now recognised as a key ingredient
in fertiliser. Many components of
agricultural machinery are made 
from galvanized steel products.

Zinc is consumed in a variety of forms
in industrial equipment. Galvanized
steel is used in corrosion-resistant
structural parts and enclosures, brass 
is widely used in many electrical and
hydraulic systems and die casting zinc
alloys are used in a variety of precision
components and assemblies.

BY END USEBY FIRST USE

GLOBAL ZINC CONSUMPTION

PRODUCT CONSUMPTION 
BY END USE

GALVANIZING 48%

BRASS 17%

DIE CASTING 11%

ROLLED 
& EXTRUDED 10%

OXIDES
& CHEMICALS 10%

OTHER 4%

CONSTRUCTION 49%

TRANSPORT 23%

INFRASTRUCTURE 13%

CONSUMER
PRODUCTS 8%

INDUSTRIAL 
MACHINERY 7%

GLOBAL ZINC CONSUMPTION BY FIRST USE

Galvanizing (48%)
Galvanizing is basically the protection of steel from corrosion. 
Clean steel is immersed in molten zinc. The coating formed is an 
alloy between iron in the base metal and zinc. Nyrstar is a leading
producer of galvanizing alloys and has a joint-venture operation
which specialises in galvanizing.

Brass (17%)
Brass is an alloy of copper and zinc and is a high-value product. 
It can be cast, forged, formed into sheet, wire and rod, and because 
of its high tensile strength, brass is machinable, thereby making it
suitable for complex shapes.

Die casting (11%)
Die casting, or the forcing of molten metal under high pressure into
moulds or dies, is a high-value first use market. Nyrstar is one of 
the world’s largest producers of die casting alloys.

Oxides & chemicals (10%)
The principal use for zinc oxide is the vulcanisation of rubber, mainly
in tyres. Demand is driven by replacement needs and the expansion 
of the world’s vehicle fleet, particularly in developing economies. 

Source: Brook Hunt

Our products are used in many
different end use sectors. Some of
the largest consumer sectors are:
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CONSTRUCTION AND
INFRASTRUCTURE

HEALTH AND COSMETICS

TRANSPORT

Galvanized steel is often used to
produce car bodies. A lifetime
guarantee of corrosion resistance 
is an attractive selling point. 

Zinc die casting alloys are used in
many automobile parts such as door
handles, mirrors, air bag sensors,
seat belts and decorative parts. 

Zinc oxides are used on a large scale
to vulcanise the rubber in car tyres.

The majority of lead produced is
used to make lead acid batteries for
use in motor vehicles worldwide.

Galvanized steel is used extensively 
in various infrastructure projects
around the world, including bridges,
electricity and telecom towers and
building structures. Zinc coatings
provide a continuous, impervious
metallic barrier that does not allow
moisture to contact the steel. 
Zinc coatings provide the most
effective and economical way of
protecting steel against corrosion.
Zinc die casting alloys are widely
used throughout buildings such as 
in taps, door and cupboard handles,
hinges and hooks.

Zinc is an essential trace element and
is vital for many biological functions.
Zinc oxide is used extensively in 
many pharmaceutical products and
cosmetics, from sun creams and
toothpastes to the injectable form 
of slow-action insulin.

Within the white goods industry
galvanized steel sheet has
contributed significantly to the
durability of items such as washing
machines and dishwashers. 

Many appliances such as food 
mixers, DVD players and mobile
phones contain components made
from zinc die casting alloys. 
Even golf clubs and toy cars are
made from zinc.

Zinc die casting alloys are widely
used in clothing to make buttons,
zippers and belt buckles.

CONSUMER PRODUCTS
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I am pleased to present to you the first annual report and accounts
of Nyrstar NV.The group was formed on 31 August 2007, listed
on the Euronext Brussels stock exchange on 29 October 2007
and joined the Bel20 Index on 3 March 2008.

Nyrstar is the world’s largest zinc metal producer with operations
on four continents, producing over 1.07m tonnes of zinc and zinc
alloys in 2007, representing approximately 10%* of global output.
We are also a major producer of lead and other by-products, which
are similarly supported by strong demand and historically high prices.

Nyrstar is the world’s only global pure play zinc smelting company.
The company comes to market at a time of rapidly rising global
consumption of zinc, with indications that capacity constraints
in smelting may result in more attractive margins.

Our origins stem from the strategic reorientations of our former
parent companies, Zinifex Ltd of Australia and Umicore SA/NV
of Belgium, whose boards each decided that zinc smelting was no
longer a core activity. In early 2006, Umicore approached Zinifex
with a view to integrating their smelting assets.The parent companies
decided that given the favourable market conditions for zinc and the
ability to capture synergies, the creation of a joint venture and its
subsequent sale via an Initial Public Offering (IPO) would best
position the new company to grow and prosper.

The timing of the IPO proved unfortunate for our initial
shareholders, coming immediately before a string of bad economic
news which depressed global stock markets and commodities shares
in particular. As a result, the initial share price of €20.00 declined
18% by the end of the year.

Against this backdrop, your board is even more determined to ensure
that Nyrstar delivers long-term sustainable value to its shareholders.
We continue to believe that the fragmented zinc industry needs to
consolidate, and that Nyrstar should play a leading role in such
consolidation. However, any acquisitions will have to meet
appropriate internal rate of return thresholds.

Group performance
We are very pleased to report that overall metal production in 2007
exceeded 2006 and we look forward to continued improvement in
2008. However, as flagged during the IPO, the company is susceptible
to zinc prices and exchange rates. During the year, zinc fell from
record levels of more than US$4,000 to a low of US$2,214,
while the US dollar to Euro exchange rate declined further than
most economists anticipated. As a result, the momentum of the
first half was not sustained in the second half of the year. Overall,
in 2007 we recorded EBITDA of €560m, an increase of 5%
from EBITDA of €533m in 2006.

Shareholder returns
Based on a considered assessment, we are pleased to propose a
dividend of €0.40 per share for the four months to 31 December 2007,
corresponding to a dividend payout of 2.4% on the year end share price
of €16.45. If approved by shareholders, the 2007 dividend will become
payable on 7 May 2008. Basic earnings per share amounted to €1.65
for the six months to 31 December 2007.

Strategic priorities
We remain optimistic that the continued growth of domestic markets
in China will be the key driver of increased global zinc consumption.
Combined with strong growth in other large emerging markets, the
forecasts suggest that the demand for zinc will remain strong.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Julien De Wilde

08 NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007 * Source: Brook Hunt
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“I am delighted to work with
a supportive board focused on
meeting our common goal of
delivering sustainable, profitable
long-term growth.”
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Our strategic imperatives are to:

•Complete the integration of our assets and capture the synergies
inherent in the new company;

•Optimise the assets through focused improvements and leveraging
the strengths of the new organisation; and

•Promote consolidation of the industry.

Corporate responsibility and sustainable development
Nyrstar takes its commitment to stakeholders seriously. It has
launched new policies in relation to its community obligations,
environment and the health and safety of employees.

We are implementing a framework of policies, procedures and initiatives
to ensure we improve our performance and meet our commitments
in terms of preventing harm to people and the environment.

Forward outlook
Brook Hunt, a leading metal industry forecaster, estimates that
in 2008, global zinc demand will grow 4.4% and that overall
consumption may reach a high of 12m tonnes.

Brook Hunt also forecasts that global smelter output will increase by 9%
in 2008 to 12.26m tonnes, largely as a result of the commissioning
of new and expanded capacity in China. Much of this new capacity
is needed for the rapidly growing domestic Chinese market.

Brook Hunt also forecasts that in 2008 and 2009 mine production
growth will outpace smelter production growth.We believe this
represents a tight market that should support higher zinc prices and
enable zinc smelters to negotiate higher zinc treatment charges
from the miners than the past few years.

Board members
I am delighted to work with a supportive board focused on meeting
our common goal of delivering sustainable, profitable long-term growth.

Ray Stewart, chief financial officer of Belgacom, joined the board
in October 2007 and is chairman of the audit committee.We are
fortunate to benefit from his many years of experience and leadership.

Roland Junck, former chief executive officer of Arcelor Mittal,
joined the board in October 2007 and is chairman of the safety,
health and environment committee. His experience in the steel
sector, a major consumer of zinc, brings the perspective of a major
customer group.

Peter Mansell and Karel Vinck, chairmen of our two former parent
companies, remain on the board, providing deep experience and
a valuable historical perspective.

Our stakeholders
Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our many
stakeholders, especially our customers, suppliers, employees and
the communities around our plants for their support during the
integration process. I would also like to thank our shareholders for
their support, which has been crucial in helping to make Nyrstar
the vibrant, independent new company we have become.We look
forward to an exciting future together.

Julien De Wilde
Chairman, 18 March 2008

Important note: Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in
this annual report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information
for the 12 months ended 31 December 2007 set out on pages 90 to 102 (please
refer to page 45 ‘Important note in relation to the presentation of financial
information’ for a detailed explanation of the presentation of financial information
in this annual report).
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Karel Vinck Non-executive Director
Karel Vinck is chairman of Umicore. Before joining Umicore, Karel was CEO
of Eternit and Bekaert. He is also a member of the board of Suez-Tractebel,
Tessenderlo Group, Eurostar and of Théâtre Royal de la Monnaie.

Ray Stewart Non-executive Director
Ray Stewart is chief financial and administration officer of Belgacom Group.
Prior to Belgacom, he was CFO of Matav. Ray has also held senior positions
with Ameritech, including CFO for Ameritech International.

Roland Junck Non-executive Director
Roland Junck was former CEO of Arcelor Mittal and remains a member of
the board of directors of Arcelor China Holding S.à r.l. He was previously a
member of the group management board of Arcelor. Prior to Arcelor he was
senior vice president and member of the group management board for Arbed.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Julien De Wilde Chairman
Julien DeWilde is a director and former CEO of Bekaert, a Belgian metals
company. Prior to Bekaert, Julien held senior positions at Alcatel, where he
was a member of the executive committee, and at Texaco, where he was a
member of the European management board.

Paul Fowler Chief Executive Officer
Paul Fowler was the former COO of Zinifex. Prior to Zinifex, Paul was CEO
of Fletcher Challenge Forests in New Zealand. Previously, Paul held senior
management positions at British Petroleum for 15 years, rising to become
senior vice president and head of North American downstream operations.

Peter Mansell Non-executive Director
Peter Mansell is chairman of Zinifex. Before Zinifex, Peter was a corporate
and resources partner of the law firm Freehills. Peter holds directorships of
a number of publicly listed companies in Australia. He is chairman of West
Australian Newspapers and ThinkSmart and a director of Great Southern
Plantations and Bunnings Property Management.

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

clockwise from left
Julien De Wilde
Paul Fowler
Peter Mansell
Karel Vinck
Ray Stewart
Roland Junck

NY002 p10-13.qxp:NY002 p10-13  8/4/08  10:51  Page 10
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THINK
TEAMWORK

I am delighted to say that Nyrstar has made an excellent start.
Despite the complexity of the merger of assets from different
companies in a very short period of time – and while simultaneously
preparing for and conducting an Initial Public Offering (IPO) – the
new company operated smoothly.This accomplishment is a credit to
the skills and dedication of our staff at all levels in the company.

Total production of zinc in 2007 was 1.07m tonnes.This result was
bolstered by excellent zinc prices at the start of the year, although
the second half of the year was affected by falling zinc prices and
a weakening US dollar.The overall result is an EBITDA of €560m
for 2007.

The safety of our people and environmental protection are core
values for Nyrstar. Safety performance year on year remained
relatively constant.While it is acceptable, there is much more to
do to reach our goals.We continue to educate our workforce on
the importance of safety, while investing in environmental
remediation and emission reduction programs.

Current trading
Despite the distractions of the merger and IPO processes, it is very
pleasing to note that operational performance was strong at ARA,
Auby, Balen, Clarksville, Galva 45, Genesis, GM-Metal and Nyrstar
Yunnan Zinc Alloys.

Hobart experienced a decline in demand for its zinc die casting
alloy towards the end of 2007, driven largely by the difference
between the Chinese domestic zinc price (on the Shanghai Metal
Exchange) and the London Metal Exchange (LME) zinc price.
Shipments have picked up again since year end. Budel faced
production issues associated with a fire in its cell house and higher
carbon content in Century mine concentrates which led to lower
than expected production levels. At Port Pirie, we continued to

experience process instability in the sinter plant and this, together
with other operational issues, have caused metal production levels
at Port Pirie to be below anticipated levels.

Zinc prices and exchange rates were very volatile during the year.
The LME zinc price averaged US$3,248/tonne during the year,
beginning the year at US$4,259 and finishing the year at
US$2,290.The zinc price in the first two months of 2008 has
improved.While it is below the highs of 2007, the zinc price
remains well above the historical long-term average.

Profit drivers and prospects
Realised Treatment Charges (TCs) were lower in the second half
of 2007 as a result of the TC de-escalators that came into effect
as the zinc price dropped below US$3,000/tonne. Lower zinc
prices also affected the element of our margin which comes from
the so-called ‘free zinc’, which is the difference between the amount
of zinc in concentrate which we purchase and the amount actually
recovered and sold as metal.

Annual TC negotiations for 2008 commenced towards the end of
2007. At mid-March 2008 these negotiations are on-going, although
I can say that zinc TCs are expected to increase in 2008 since the
production of concentrates from mines exceeds smelting capacity.

Zinc premiums, another element of our margins, are likely to fall
from recent levels to nearer the historical averages, but remain
relatively strong in Europe.

TCs for lead are also expected to increase in 2008, with
negotiations in early 2008 indicating that Asian benchmark
lead TCs are likely to be significantly higher than those achieved
in 2007, which should boost the profitability of the Port Pirie
plant in 2008.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REVIEW

Paul Fowler

NY002 p10-13.qxp:NY002 p10-13  8/4/08  10:51  Page 11
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Production
Full year zinc production in 2007 of 1.07m tonnes was 3% up
on 2006. However, a number of minor operational issues slightly
reduced zinc production in the second half when compared to
the first half of the year.

Most of these issues have been rectified and are not expected
to affect 2008 operating performance. In addition, we have
commenced initiatives to further improve plant reliability.

Costs
Typically, the average operating cost structure of our smelters
can be broken down as one-third for energy (mostly in the form
of electricity), one-third for labour and the remaining one-third
for consumable materials and services such as maintenance.

However, energy can represent more than 40% of the operating
costs at some European plants.Therefore the ability to efficiently
use energy and manage electricity contracts is critical.

In Europe, the plants at Balen, Budel and Auby are actively pursuing
consortiums with other intensive electricity users in their respective
countries.These consortiums aim to stabilise electricity prices to
support the long-term viability of electricity intensive manufacturing
in these countries. At the Clarksville plant in the USA, electricity
is supplied by the government-controlled Tennessee Valley Authority
and is priced at globally competitive rates. In Australia, during
2007 we finalised a long-term electricity contract for the Hobart
plant that resulted in reduced costs in 2008 in comparison with
this year. Port Pirie currently also benefits from competitive rates.

Underlying total operating costs rose 16% in 2007, largely as
a result of one-off costs in the first half of the year. Underlying
energy costs decreased slightly in 2007, but are expected to
increase in 2008.

As would be expected, cost containment will be a major focus
for Nyrstar in the coming years.

Integration
The current senior Nyrstar management team has been sourced
mainly from Zinifex and Umicore. I am pleased to say that we are
well on the way to creating our own unique Nyrstar culture based
on a set of shared values which guide our actions.

As part of the process of creating Nyrstar, both parent companies
and Nyrstar management spent a significant amount of time
evaluating and identifying the risks and integration issues, and
we have a clear strategy to address them.

Non-recurring events
Metal price risk exposure, known as Metal at Risk (MAR), results
from timing differences between the purchase of raw materials
and the eventual sale of the finished metal. Following the creation
of Nyrstar, parent company approval for hedging our MAR was
received on 13 September 2007, and hedges were then placed to
cover an exposed position estimated at approximately 100,000
tonnes of metal. An additional 19,000 tonnes of metal was
subsequently determined to be exposed and was successfully
hedged by mid-December.

During the period in which this metal was not hedged, both the price of
zinc and the US dollar fell, resulting in a realised loss of approximately
€37m at the EBIT level. By the end of 2007, all MAR was hedged
in accordance with our policy of eliminating this exposure.

Offsetting this loss were one-time gains resulting from an embedded
derivative in the new electricity supply contract at Hobart, which
resulted in a pre-tax gain of €40m and the unwinding of the
previous Hobart electricity contract which contributed a further
pre-tax net gain of €10m.

Nyrstar has a highly
experienced management team.

clockwise from top left

Heinz Eigner
Chief Financial Officer

Greg McMillan
Chief Operating Officer

Paul Bibby
Chief Development Officer

Erling Sorensen
Chief Marketing Officer

THINKTEAM
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Synergy and business improvement projects
Nyrstar has commenced implementation of the projects identified
at the time of the IPO. In December the company launched a new
global initiative, Improving Performance Together, which is intended
to capture known synergies and identify more opportunities to lower
production costs and improve plant reliability.

We will seek to realise synergies through measures such as
coordinating our major asset maintenance programs which
increase plant availability, reducing physical inventories,
streamlining logistics, optimising production planning and
generating bulk purchasing opportunities.

Currently up to 20% of our feedstock requirement is sourced
from secondary materials, but there is still a significant opportunity
to increase their consumption in some of our plants.These
secondary materials assist in reducing our dependence on zinc
concentrates and increase roaster throughput, which is often
the bottleneck in our plants.

Outlook
Nyrstar is well placed to benefit from the increased consumption
of minerals in China and the concurrent rise of other large emerging
markets such as Brazil, India and Russia.

The growth in smelting capacity will come primarily from China
and India, where it is needed to feed rapidly growing domestic
markets.The Chinese government has adjusted export tariffs to
reduce the economic attractiveness of exporting a variety of metals.
The stated intent is to use more metal for the development of its
internal economy.

Europe is structurally short of zinc and is therefore reliant on
exports from other countries.We are one of the largest sellers
of zinc and zinc alloys in Europe, and we will continue to benefit
from premiums above the LME price of zinc that are higher than
in most of the rest of the world.

It is also important to note that higher zinc prices in recent years
have led to previously closed zinc mines reopening and to new mines
starting up. Once the start-up costs are incurred, this new capacity
is likely to remain economic and continue even at lower zinc prices.
This results in a surplus of concentrates relative to smelting
capacity, which positions Nyrstar to negotiate better treatment
charges in 2008 and perhaps beyond.

Lastly, I would like to thank every one of our employees and
contractors who have made this possible.

In summary, Nyrstar is not only off to a good start, but we are
well positioned to take advantage of market opportunities and
create an exciting future.

Paul Fowler
Chief Executive Officer

THINKVALUES

Nyrstar’s five values are central to the way we operate.

PREVENTING HARM – We always put safety first – which guides
our actions for our people, for our local communities and for the
environment around us.

BEING OPEN AND HONEST – We communicate openly and tell the
truth, building trust and simplifying our communication with each
other, customers and other stakeholders.

KEEPING OURWORD – We keep our promises and commitments
and are accountable, strengthening our relationships with each other,
customers and other stakeholders.

BEING CONSIDERATE – We treat each other with care and respect,
recognising our different cultures globally.

WORKING TOGETHER – We support and encourage one another
across the organisation, embracing new ideas and constantly seeking
the best way to do things.

Important note: Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in
this annual report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information
for the 12 months ended 31 December 2007 set out on pages 90 to 102 (please
refer to page 45 ‘Important note in relation to the presentation of financial
information’ for a detailed explanation of the presentation of financial information
in this annual report).
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The zinc smelting industry
Nyrstar’s core activity is based on processing zinc-bearing raw
material, supplied predominantly by third-party mining companies,
to produce zinc metal. As for all zinc smelters, the revenue flow
arising from this activity can be separated into four main streams:

Treatment charges (TCs) – These are the fees conceded to smelters
for processing raw material and are customarily negotiated and
agreed between miners and smelters for term contracts annually with
reference to a specified price for zinc, known as the base price, and
provision for adjustments – both upward and downward, known as
escalators and de-escalators – according to changes in the base price.

Free zinc – This is the value of the difference between the amount
of zinc that is paid for in the raw material and the total zinc that is
recovered in the production process by smelters.Typically, smelters
pay miners for 85% of the zinc contained in concentrates and all
revenues arising from the sale of zinc recovered in excess of this
threshold accrues to smelters, which gives smelters’ earnings
exposure to rising prices. Nyrstar’s smelters normally achieve
zinc recoveries in a range from 91% to 98%.

Zinc premiums – These are additional revenues accruing to
smelters over and above the London Metal Exchange price for
standard commodity-grade zinc.These premiums relate to regional
variations in the supply-demand balance and value-added by
smelters in the service provided to customers or the specification
of the zinc product supplied, such as alloys produced for specialised

end-use applications. Over half of Nyrstar’s zinc output is
in the form of specialised alloys for the die casting and steel
galvanizing industries.

By-product sales – The concentrates supplied to zinc smelters
also contain other metal compounds and the process of treating the
concentrates to recover the zinc usually yields significant quantities
of saleable by-product metals such as silver, gold, copper, cadmium
and indium, as well as sulphuric acid.

Nyrstar is also an important producer of lead. Revenues flow to
lead smelters along the same channels as for zinc, although the
‘free metal’ component of the concentrate payment formula is less
important for lead than zinc whereas treatment charges typically
contribute a higher proportion of income.

The zinc and lead industries are fragmented. Industry analyst
Brook Hunt calculates that the top four zinc smelting companies
supplied 29% of zinc metal output in 2007 and, according to an
analysis by Citigroup in 2005, of all the major metals industries
only steel was less concentrated than zinc and lead.This analysis
also showed that industry concentration is positively correlated with
return on capital – that is, as industry concentration increases so
return on capital tends also to rise. Nyrstar’s formation increased
the market share of the four largest zinc smelting companies by
almost 4% compared with 2006. Nyrstar, now the world’s largest
zinc smelting company, intends to promote further consolidation
of the zinc industry.

MARKET REVIEW

The supply of zinc concentrates is shifting to a
surplus.With constraints in smelting capacity and
the demand for zinc forecast to grow strongly, we
believe this situation supports treatment charge
income for smelters and a steady price for zinc metal.
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The zinc market in 2007
For the fourth year in a row, world output of refined zinc once more
fell short of demand, leaving a deficit of almost 200,000 tonnes in
metal supply in 2007.World consumption of refined zinc rose by
3.8% in 2007 to reach a record of 11.6m tonnes, driven by
sustained strong growth in its largest market, China, which now
accounts for about one-third of world demand.

China’s zinc consumption increased by 11.5% in 2007, reflecting
rising demand from users supplying both expanding domestic and
export markets for zinc-containing products – in particular,
galvanized steel.The China Iron & Steel Association reports that
galvanized steel production increased by over one-third last year,
while exports were up by almost as much, according to the
International Iron & Steel Statistics Bureau. China’s increased use
of zinc in galvanized steel contributed almost half of the growth in
the country’s zinc consumption, although galvanizing still accounts
for only one-fifth of China’s total zinc use compared with around
one-half at a world level.

Responding to strong demand, world output of refined zinc rose
by 7.8% in 2007 to 11.4m tonnes.The major contribution to
this increase came from China, which provided almost 70% of the
additional tonnes produced in 2007.This raised smelter capacity
utilisation in China to 80% in 2007, from less than 75% in 2006,
and was more than sufficient to supply the increase in its domestic
demand, with the result that China switched from being a marginal
net importer of refined zinc to a net exporter of almost 200,000

tonnes. As at mid-March 2008, whilst the Chinese government has
adjusted export tariffs to reduce the economic attractiveness of
exporting a variety of metals, Chinese zinc producers receive a
5% tax rebate on exports of Special High Grade (SHG) zinc (the
product most widely traded on the international market). However,
many market observers expect China’s government, worried by
excessive export-oriented investment, especially in energy intensive
manufacturing industries, will replace the rebate with a tax on
exports of SHG zinc, as it has done for many other metal products,
in an effort to curb exports. Market observers expect that this
would reduce China’s zinc exports, tightening the supply-demand
balance in the rest of the world and supporting international zinc prices.

The London Metal Exchange (LME) zinc price, the industry’s reference
price outside of China, averaged US$3,248/tonne on a cash settlement
basis in 2007, virtually unchanged from US$3,275/tonne in 2006,
which was a new all-time record in nominal terms.However, this belies
a downward trend in the price through the year brought about by the
progressive rise in smelter production moving the market back towards
balance, and finally into a surplus in the fourth quarter of the year,
which became visible with the steady build-up of exchange stocks
towards the end of 2007.Recording its highest close at US$4,259/tonne
on the first trading day of the year, the LME zinc price ended the year
at US$2,290/tonne.LME zinc stocks fell to a low of 58,100 tonnes
in mid-October before climbing to close the year at 88,475 tonnes.The
Shanghai Futures Exchange,which launched a new zinc contract at the
start of April, recorded similar patterns in price and stock movements.
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Notwithstanding, it should be recognised that the unprecedented
high price at the beginning of 2007 was in large part the product of
speculation driven by investment funds and, while the price did fall
sharply over the year, it remained well above its average level of the
last ten years 1998–2007, which was less than US$1,500/tonne.
The impact of investment funds on the price of commodities,
including zinc, has been very important. A Macquarie Bank study
in 2008 estimates that investments in commodity index funds
increased by over 15% to a record of over US$140bn in 2007
and that as much as another US$30bn has been invested in the
first two months of 2008 alone, which has coincided with another
period of rising commodities prices. Moreover, zinc metal premiums
rose to record highs during last year, notably in the European and
US markets that are most important to Nyrstar, and although zinc
stocks ended the year on a rising trend, stock levels remained very
low by historic standards.

In contrast to the market for refined zinc, which remained in deficit
over the year as a whole, the world market for zinc concentrates
moved from close to balance in 2006 to a surplus of approximately
235,000 tonnes in 2007, as strong demand and historical high
prices prompted a number of new and previously closed mines
to start production, mainly in China, Peru, Australia, Kazakhstan
and the USA.This was the largest surplus seen in the concentrates
market for seven years.The surplus is highly significant because
the balance between supply and demand in this market plays a key
part in deciding how the value of zinc is shared between mining
and smelting companies through the treatment charges (TCs)
that miners concede to smelters for processing concentrates to
produce zinc metal.

When the market for zinc concentrates is in deficit the mining
companies hold the balance of power in the market since there is a
shortage of concentrates relative to smelting capacity competing to
receive and treat those concentrates, with the result that TCs will

tend to fall. Conversely, when concentrates are in surplus the
balance of power switches to smelters since there is a shortage
of capacity to treat the available concentrates, with the result
that mining companies must compete to secure smelting services
and so TCs will tend to rise.

TCs for term (i.e. non-spot) contracts are customarily negotiated
annually at the start of each year.When TCs were negotiated for
2007, the market for zinc concentrates was finely balanced and
so the TCs were typically settled at about US$300/tonne on a
base price of US$3,000/tonne to US$3,500/tonne. Although TCs
actually realised fell to an average of around US$285/tonne in
2007, due to the drop in the price of zinc, this still represented one
of the best ever results for smelters. Moreover, as the concentrate
market moved into surplus through the year, spot TCs rose steeply
and ended the year ahead of contract terms, providing an important
pointer to the direction that contract TCs should take in 2008.

Notwithstanding the decline over last year, the fact that zinc metal
prices remained high by historic standards continued to encourage
strong growth in secondary (non-concentrate) feed supplies to smelters.
At Nyrstar, such materials play a significant part in supplying zinc
metal production and provide an important recycling step in the industry,
as well as reducing our overall reliance on primary raw materials.

The markets for lead and by-products
For the fifth year in a row world output of refined lead fell short of
demand in 2007, leaving a deficit of over 150,000 tonnes in metal
supply. Sustained strong growth in China, where lead consumption
increased by 16% year-on-year to record its ninth consecutive
double-digit gain driven by rising demand for batteries in industry,
cars and bicycles, more than offset lower off-take in Europe and a
flat market in the USA, with the result that world usage of refined
lead was up by 3.4% to 8.2m tonnes.The shortfall in supply was
met by a draw down of stocks, with visible inventories on the LME
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dropping to record lows of less than 21,000 tonnes in late September,
before rebuilding towards the end of the year. Responding to strong
demand, refined lead production rose by 2.3% to over 8m tonnes in
2007, with countries of the Commonwealth of Independent States
supplying about one-third of the additional 150,000 tonnes produced
last year. However, this was not enough even to meet new demand and
the supply deficit in the world market more than doubled, laying the
foundation for a doubling of the LME lead cash settlement price to
a historic nominal annual average high of US$2,600/tonne.

Recycling plays a very important part in the supply of lead and
secondary production contributed about half of total lead output
in 2007. Nyrstar’s joint venture battery recycling operation, ARA in
Australia, continued to perform above expectations, with the global
environmental agenda encouraging sustainable production processes.

As in the zinc market, the supply of lead concentrates continued
moving in smelters’ favour in 2007 due to strong mine output,
which was reflected in TCs. Moreover, in China, which accounts for
around one-third of world lead metal ingot output, the government’s
decision to impose a new tax on exports of lead metal in June 2007
had a direct impact on TCs, as Chinese smelters sought to pass
some of the increased cost on to miners by way of higher TCs.

Nyrstar’s main by-product markets recorded strong price performance
in 2007. Silver and gold prices, which historically have had a clear
inverse correlation to the US dollar exchange rate, and positive
correlation to inflation rates, both rose as the US dollar dropped and
inflation picked up.The annual average silver price advanced 15.9%
on the London Bullion Market to US$13.38/troy oz, its highest level
since 1980, and the gold price gained 15.2% to US$696.43/troy oz,
marking a new annual average record in nominal terms.

The International Copper Study Group reports that the copper
market remained in deficit, despite slowing demand, and the average
LME cash settlement price rose by 5.8% to US$7,125/tonne.

In 2007 prices for sulphuric acid staged a very strong rally over
the year in a tight international market brought about by rising
demand, notably from the mining industry. In January 2008,
sulphuric acid prices in the major markets served by Nyrstar
were approximately double their level of a year earlier. Nyrstar
also started producing indium in 2007, which we believe will
contribute further to our by-products business in future.

The outlook for markets in 2008
Growth in demand for zinc and other base metals, which have
historically had a strong correlation with world industrial
production, is expected to slow to some extent since the rate
of expansion in industrial production is projected to dip in 2008.
Nonetheless, the ongoing industrialisation and urbanisation of
China and other populous developing countries, where per capita
income and metals consumption levels are much lower than in
industrialised countries, should remain supportive and world usage
of zinc and other base metals is still forecast to rise with demand
for the products of our key customers in the steel galvanizing,
die casting and battery industries, among others. Coupled with
currently low inventory levels, this should be positive for prices
and many market observers anticipate that the impact will be
reinforced by investment fund inflows into commodities.

At the same time, the swing in the market balance for zinc
concentrates from deficit to surplus, with mine output predicted to
post further increases this year, points to higherTCs based on past
experience. Accordingly, Nyrstar expects a move back towards a
more historic level of sharing in the zinc value of concentrates
between miners and smelters, resulting in higherTCs at any given
zinc price than in 2007. Similarly, an anticipated surplus in the
supply of lead concentrates should support TCs in this market.
Nyrstar is well placed sinceTCs for the Australian lead concentrates
that supply its lead smelting operations are rising from a lower base.
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THINK
LEADING
STRATEGIC REVIEW

We will continue our focus of enhancing our
operations, and expect to generate average
production increases of approximately 3%
per annum during the next three years
through productivity, synergy and growth
initiatives. Improved efficiencies should also
result in a reduction of overall operating
costs.The fragmentation of the zinc
industry presents a unique opportunity
for Nyrstar to lead the inevitable trend
towards industry consolidation.
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STRATEGIC REVIEW

3 INDUSTRY LEADERSHIP

We occupy a position as a major producer of zinc and zinc alloy products, with
premiums for die casting alloys and galvanizing alloys contributing significantly
to our profitability. By identifying new customers and markets for these products
and increasing the proportion in our sales portfolio, we will pursue product
leadership positions globally.

We will evaluate and pursue opportunities for consolidation in the industry where
it adds shareholder value and is consistent with our overall policy of maintaining
capital discipline and a conservative level of financial gearing.

2

�

OPTIMISING THE ASSETS

The proximity of our European facilities creates synergy opportunities that will reduce
our operating costs and conserve capital. Our developed expertise in the use of secondary
materials, with approximately 20% of feedstock coming from secondary zinc-rich feeds,
reduces our reliance on zinc concentrates, enabling us to reduce our raw materials costs
and improve our operational flexibility.

We continue to pursue growth opportunities and have initiated projects to:

• Improve the zinc recovery rates of our assets;

• Remove existing bottlenecks to increase operational efficiency and maximise
capacity utilisation; and

• Pursue additional expansion opportunities at our production facilities that meet
our financial hurdle of a two-year payback period.

ENHANCING THE OPERATIONS

A pipeline of organic efficiency projects has been identified for our existing assets.
These initiatives will be realised by sharing and pooling the technological expertise
of our diverse management team.

We will continue to provide high quality products and services tailored to the needs
of our customers which enable us to maximise our margins.

Electricity is a major operating cost and we will continue to actively manage
the electricity consumption of our assets to achieve price stability over the longer term.

Good safety means good business.The safety of our workforce, our plants and the
communities around us are key strategic priorities for Nyrstar.
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THINK
ACTION
STRATEGY IN ACTION

Planning for implementation of numerous projects designed to improve our operations
commenced in the third quarter of 2007. Expected payback periods for all projects
identified to date are approximately two years each. Our plants have been well
maintained, yet under-investment in production improvements and growth opportunities
by previous owners represent an opportunity that Nyrstar intends to exploit.

2� NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007

OPERATIONS
ENHANCEMENT

SYNERGY
REALISATION

APPROXIMATE INVESTMENT

€��m
APPROXIMATE INVESTMENT

€25m

We are implementing maintenance programs across
our plants to increase plant availability.

INITIATIVES

• Co-ordinate major maintenance shutdowns
• Explore bulk purchasing opportunities
• Increase use of secondary feed materials
• Increase casting efficiency

IMPACT

• Minimise impact of shutdowns
• 3–5% reduction in indirect costs targeted
• Incremental production

The Improving Performance Together initiative
will result in a more competitive cost structure
and improved capacity utilisation.

INITIATIVES

• Reduce maintenance costs and improve
process reliability

• Tighten supply chain management
• Optimise indium production at Auby

IMPACT

• Overall capacity utilisation increases
• Inventory reductions
• Target 56 tonnes of indium recovery
capacity at Auby by end 2008
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STRATEGY IN ACTION

GROWTH
PROJECTS

CROSS-SITE SKILLS &
KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER

We have identified a pipeline of organic efficiency
projects for our existing assets.These initiatives
will be realised by simply sharing and pooling the
technological expertise of our diverse management
team.

INITIATIVES

• Optimise roaster throughput and cell
house efficiency

• Increase zinc recovery yields
• Increase oxide feed as percentage of
total feedstock

IMPACT

• Higher cathode production and reduced power costs
• Zinc recovery at all sites targeted to reach
96% or higher

• Target for oxides to reach >20% of total feed

We are investing in or planning for growth projects
at many of our facilities.

INITIATIVES

• Increase Auby capacity by 30,000 tonnes
• Change recovery process at Hobart
• New oxide washing facility at Clarksville by
early 2009

IMPACT

• Auby capacity targeted to reach 160,000 tonnes
per year with limited capital investment by
end 2008

• 4% zinc recovery improvement at Hobart
targeted by late 2009

• Increase feed of secondaries at Clarksville

APPROXIMATE INVESTMENT

€6�m
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Group performance
Nyrstar’s 2007 performance at the revenue, EBIT and EBITDA levels
was ahead of 2006. Much of this improvement can be attributed to
the high price environment in the first half of 2007.The average LME
zinc price for the second half of 2007 fell to US$2,925/tonne from
US$3,560/tonne in the first half.This, and the continued decline of
the US dollar against all major currencies, had a negative impact
on second half performance.

In the second half of the year the average monthly zinc price declined
from US$3,546/tonne in July to US$2,352/tonne in December.
During the same period the average US$/€ exchange rate declined
from €1 = US$1.372 to US$1.457. In effect this resulted in a decline
in the Euro price per tonne of SHG zinc from an average of €2,913
in January 2007 to €1,614 in December 2007, an overall decline of
45%. However, the decline in zinc prices was partially offset by an
increase in the average LME lead price.

Gross profit
Gross profit in 2007 increased by 6% from €1,144m in 2006 to
€1,219m in 2007, but the gross margin declined from 34% to 32%.
Gross profit from Treatment Charges (TCs) in 2007 decreased by
€33m due to the decline in zinc prices from exceptionally high levels
in 2006. Premiums on zinc and zinc alloys were significantly higher
than 2006, with a number of annual contracts settled in January 2007
when spot premiums for European sales were US$310–320/tonne
versus average values of US$136/tonne in January 2006.

The contribution from free metal increased by 14% from 2006 to
2007, as a result of improved zinc recoveries.The shift to Tennessee
Valley concentrates improved zinc recoveries at Clarksville, from
90.7% to 93.0% in 2007.This increase was partially offset at
Hobart, where recoveries fell from 92.3% to 91.9% due to one-off
production issues, but which are forecast to rise again in 2008.

Gross margin contribution from by-products increased significantly
in 2007 due to price increases in all relevant commodities.
Nyrstar’s result was particularly influenced by lead (average price

US$2,580/tonne vs US$1,290/tonne in 2006), silver (average
price US$13.38/troy oz vs. US$11.54/troy oz in 2006) and gold
(average price US$696/troy oz vs. US$604/troy oz in 2006).
Contribution from gold and silver was particularly strong in the
second half, with December prices finishing at US$836.50/troy
oz and US$14.76/troy oz respectively.

Nyrstar’s results are significantly affected by changes in metal
prices and metal treatment charges, as well as in exchange rates.
Sensitivities to variations in these parameters are depicted in the
following table which sets forth the estimated impact on Nyrstar’s
modified pro forma EBITDA for the year ended 31 December
2007 as a result of a change in each of the parameters below, taken
separately, using as a basis the 2007 average for such parameters.

Key EBITDA sensitivities
Parameter Variable (€ million 2007)

Zinc price +/- US$100 per tonne +/- 19

Lead price +/- US$100 per tonne +/- 2

US$/€ +/- €0.01 +/- 12

AS$/€ +/- €0.01 +/- 4

Zinc TC +/- US$25 per tonne +/- 32

Lead TC +/- US$25 per tonne +/- 6

Important note:The above sensitivities were developed by modelling
Nyrstar’s 2007 modified pro forma operating results. Each parameter
is based on the 2007 average and was varied in isolation to determine
the EBITDA impact. Sensitivities are:
• Not cumulative.These sensitivities do not reflect the impact of varying

more than one parameter in isolation and cannot be added together;
• Expressed as linear values within a relevant range. Outside the range

listed for each variable, the impact of changes may be significantly
different from the results outlined; and

• Based on Nyrstar’s modified pro forma financial information for the year
ended 31 December 2007.These sensitivities may not be representative
of EBITDA sensitivity to any of the variations going forward.

FINANCE REVIEW

Heinz Eigner
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2007 was one of the
strongest ever years for
zinc smelting. Nyrstar
is well positioned to
take advantage of the
continued growth in
demand for resources
worldwide.
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Operating costs
Operating costs increased by 8% in 2007 from 2006. Operating
costs in 2007 included a gain from an embedded derivative in the
Hobart electricity supply contract, which had the effect of reducing
operating costs for the year. On an underlying basis (after deducting
this gain) the increase was 16%.there was a significant increase in
other costs deriving mainly from the first half of the year, including
an increase in allocations from Zinifex. Underlying energy costs
decreased slightly in 2007. Employee benefit costs increased by
7% from 2006, due to the new corporate offices.

Share of profit/(loss) from equity accounted investments
On a full year pro forma basis there was an increase of 22%
in profit from equity accounted investments from €15m in 2006
to €18m in 2007.

Taxation
nyrstar had a tax benefit in 2007 of €18m (on an IFrs basis),
primarily arising from a €29m deferred tax benefit which resulted
from the re-setting of the cost base of the assets for tax purposes,
following the acquisition of the Hobart assets.

Earnings per share (EPS) and dividends per share
EPs is calculated for the period in the audited consolidated
financial statements.the EPs on a basic basis was €1.65 per
share on a weighted average number of shares issued of 73.6m.
the EPs on a diluted basis was €1.55 per share on a weighted
average number of shares issued of 80.2m. Using nyrstar’s total
issued shares of 100m for the calculation would result in an EPs
of €1.21 on a basic basis and €1.25 on a diluted basis.

the board has proposed dividends of €0.40 per share.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure (capex) for 2007 was €102m. nyrstar expects
to spend €150m on capex in 2008.the key areas in which this
will be spent are €70m on sustaining maintenance capex, €30m in
growth projects and the remaining €50m on environmental capex.

Cash flows
In the period of nyrstar operations (as per the audited consolidated
financial statements) in 2007 nyrstar realised a net increase in
cash of €126m.this same period saw a release of working capital
of €212m primarily due to a decline in the lME zinc price.

Net debt
In December nyrstar concluded a three-year €350m multi-currency
revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks.the facility has
an opening margin of 47.5bps, with the applicable margin based
on a leverage grid ranging from 32.5bps to 65bps.the repayment
of €200m is required by December 2009.this facility has been
used to refinance a bridging loan taken out at the creation of
nyrstar, as well as for general corporate and working capital
purposes.

at 31 December 2007 the net debt of nyrstar stood at €155m
(including short-term loans and borrowings), down €95m from
the opening position of €250m at 31 august 2007.
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FINANCE REvIEw

2007 GrOss PrOFIt*

TREATMENT

CHARGES 42%

PREMIUM 15%

BY-PRODUCTS

19%

FREE METAL 23%

Modified pro forma full year
07 % of 06 % of

revenue revenue

Revenue 3,815 3,389

Gross profit 1,219 32% 1,144 34%

Operating cost (677) 18% (626) 18%

EBITDA* 560 15% 533 16%

Underlying EBITDA 547 14% N/A N/A

Capital expenditure 102 – 108 –

07 06

Average zinc price US$/t 3,248 3,275

Average lead price US$/t 2,580 1,290

Average US$/€ exchange rate 1.37 1.25
* includes income from associates

GrOUP rEsUlts (€MIllIOn)

ExtErnal MarkEts

* Gross profit has been prepared on a modified basis excluding ‘other’ gross profit of €(88m)
which consists of: realisation expenses, losses from unhedged metal at risk, realised price
differentials and other miscellaneous items.

Important note: Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in
this annual report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information
for the 12 months ended 31 December 2007 set out on pages 90 to 102 (please
refer to page 45 ‘Important note in relation to the presentation of financial
information’ for a detailed explanation of the presentation of financial information
in this annual report).
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Nyrstar faces risks and uncertainties in conducting its business.
Managing those risks and understanding how they affect our
business is critical to our success.

Nyrstar recognises that risks and uncertainties are unavoidable,
but that by adopting a rigorous approach to risk management the
threats presented can be effectively managed in a manner consistent
with operating safely and maximising shareholder value.

Nyrstar will manage its risks and uncertainties by adopting a
structured enterprise risk management system.The key activities
of this system are:

• Regularly assessing our environment to understand the risks we
face in relation to both our internal and external environments.
This assessment will affect Nyrstar’s overall tolerance to risk;

• Installing systems, procedures and policies that provide a
framework for both the identification of risks and uncertainties
(proactive measures) and responses to risks and uncertainties
as they occur (reactive measures);

• Assessing risks identified, evaluating existing controls and control
effectiveness and determining whether the level of risk being
accepted is consistent with levels of risk approved by the board;

• Taking action where it is determined that the company is being
exposed to unacceptable levels of risk;

• Actively encouraging all Nyrstar employees to communicate
freely risks and opportunities identified and actively seeking
their input; and

• Regularly monitoring and reviewing the outputs of our systems
and their effectiveness.

Only by recognising that risks are inherent in our business will
Nyrstar be able to achieve a safe operating environment and
create value for its stakeholders.

The principal risks Nyrstar faces are set out in the table below,
although these are not the only risks we face.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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FINANCIAL RISKS

Description Impact Mitigation

Commodity price risk
Our results are largely dependent on
commodity prices, which are cyclical
and volatile.

Forward price risk
We are exposed to the shape of the
forward price curve for underlying
metal prices.

Exchange rate risk
Our business is exposed to the effects
of exchange rate fluctuations.

Profitability will vary with the volatility
of metals prices.

The volatility in the London Metal
Exchange price creates differences
between the average price we pay for
the contained metal and the price we
receive for it.

Appreciation of the Euro or such other
currencies against the US dollar
without an offsetting improvement in
US dollar-denominated zinc and lead
metal prices could adversely affect our
profitability and financial position.

Nyrstar does enter into short-term
hedging transactions to cover the timing
risk between concentrate purchases and
sales of metal and to cover our
exposure on fixed-price forward sales of
metal to customers.

Nyrstar uses short-term hedging
transactions to cover the timing risk
between concentrate purchases and
sales of metal and to cover our
exposure on fixed-price forward
sales of metal to customers.

Nyrstar uses short-term hedging
transactions to cover the timing
risk between concentrate purchases
and sales of metal and to cover
our exposure on forward sales
to customers.

NY002 p22-25.qxp:NY002 p22-25  8/4/08  10:00  Page 24



25NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007

RISk MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RISKS continued

Description Impact Mitigation

Treatment charge risk
Our results are directly linked to
the levels of TCs that we charge zinc
miners to refine their zinc concentrates
and lead miners to refine their lead
concentrates.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of non-payment
from any counterparty in relation to
sales of goods or metal lease operations.

Fluctuations in the supply and demand
for zinc and lead products will impact
profitability through increased or
decreased TCs.

Cash flow may be impacted by
non-payment.

TCs are negotiated on an annual basis.

Nyrstar has determined a credit policy
with credit limit requests, approval
procedures and a continuous
monitoring of the credit exposure.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

Description Impact Mitigation

Operational risks
Operating our zinc and lead smelters
and our other production facilities is
subject to many risks and hazards,
including industrial accidents, power
interruption, critical equipment failure
and fires.

Supply risk
We are dependent on a limited
number of suppliers for zinc and
lead concentrate.

Environmental, health & safety risks
Our operations are subject to stringent
environmental and health laws and
regulations, which are subject to
change from time to time.

International operations risk
Risks inherent in international operations.

Interruptions to operations resulting
in loss of production volumes, which
may have an adverse effect on profit
and cashflow.

We may become subject to liability
(including in relation to pollution,
occupational illnesses or other hazards)
against which we have not insured or
cannot insure, including those in respect
of past activities. Should we suffer a
major uninsured loss, future earnings
could be materially adversely affected.

Loss of supply from one of these
suppliers may have a material adverse
effect on production and results.

Exposure to significant increased
compliance costs and potential
litigation relating to environmental and
health issues.

May have a material adverse effect on
production, cash flow and results.

Process risk management system
incorporating assessment of safety,
environment, production and quality
risks, which includes the identification
of risk control measures, such as
preventative maintenance, critical spares
inventory and operational procedures.

Insurance coverage for operating risks
including all risk property damage
(including certain aspects of business
interruption for certain sites),
operational and other liabilities.

Alternative sources of supply have
been sourced, however, use of alternate
supplies may result in higher costs
and lower recoveries.

Safety is a core value of Nyrstar.We
pro-actively monitor environmental,
health and safety legislation and are
implementing common safety policies
across all sites.

Nyrstar pro-actively monitors
changes in its international
operating environment.
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2007 2006

Zinc cathode (standard & battery grade) 129,110 127,777

Total 129,110 127,777
Sulphuric acid 188,533 181,663

Indium concentrate (contained indium) 15.85 N/A

Production (tonnes)

Auby sources its zinc concentrates from a variety of global
suppliers, typically on annual benchmark terms. Approximately
20% of Auby’s feed consists of secondary zinc oxides.

During 2007, Auby produced 129,110 tonnes of zinc cathode.
Some production for the reporting period was lost as a result
of several periods in which the site was asked to shed power
by Electricité de France (EDF) and difficulties on restarting
operations after the October shutdown.There were also two major
shutdowns for preventive maintenance in the roaster (typically
every 18 months) and the cellhouse (typically every three years).

For the first half of 2007, Auby sourced electricity under a contract
with EDF, which included a zinc price escalator. On 1 July 2007 the
site moved to a new government program called TRTAM, which will
provide the site with a regulated tariff electricity price with no zinc
price escalator until 30 June 2009.The Auby site is also pursuing
an agreement with a consortium to establish a long-term contract
price based on the production costs of a nuclear power plant for a
portion of its electricity demand.

Auby labour agreements are governed by an extension of French
labour law for the metal industry.

The major capital project for 2007 was the commencement of the
cellhouse expansion to reach 160,000 tonnes capacity by the end
of 2008. Key environmental initiatives progressed in 2007 included
upgrade works to the historical ponds area, soil remediation works
both on-site and off-site, and a goethite residue compacting project
to increase pond life.
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OPERATING REVIEW

Auby, France

Strengths:
– Located close to customers

– High percentage of secondary feed materials

– Indium recovery circuit introduced in 2006

– Comparatively low energy costs

Key opportunities:
– Increase capacity to 160,000 tonnes/annum by the end

of 2008

– Bring indium recovery plant to full production

– Realise operational synergies with other Nyrstar
European smelters

The Auby smelter is a medium-scale smelter located in the north
of France. Auby sells its zinc production as zinc cathodes rather
than refined slab metal.The majority of site production is sold to
the Umicore Building Products plant located adjacent to the site,
and to Nyrstar Balen/Overpelt for conversion into alloys.The plant
also produces a significant quantity of high quality battery-grade
cathodes. Auby’s by-products include sulphuric acid, an Auby Leach
Product, copper cake and an indium concentrate.The indium
recovery circuit was commissioned at the end of 2006 to produce
a 20% grade indium concentrate, which is sold to third parties for
further processing.The site plans to ramp-up indium concentrate
production by the end of 2008.

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 347 354

Gross profit* 132 117

Operating cost* (73) (83)

EBITDA* 59 34

Capital expenditure 12 12
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

Performance

2007 gross profit*

TREATMENT

CHARGES 57%

FREE METAL

28%

BY-PRODUCTS

12%

PREMIUMS 3%

THINK
PERFORMANCE

Workforce 300 employees
75 full-time contractors

Technology RLE smelting
Products Zinc cathode and indium
Feed 80% concentrates, 20% secondaries
Recovery 96%
LTR 2.0 Data as at 31 December 2007

* Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(6)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.
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The Balen smelter is a large-scale smelter and is located in the
northeast of Belgium.The Overpelt plant is only 18 kilometres
from Balen, consisting of one of Europe’s largest oxide washing
facilities, as well as significant alloying and casting facility.The
oxide washing plant produces washed secondary zinc oxides for
supply as feedstock to Nyrstar’s European smelters, with oxides
predominately arising from suppliers in France and Germany.
The Overpelt alloying and casting plant produces alloys, utilising
cathodes predominately from the Balen smelter.

Balen and Overpelt’s primary products include SHG zinc, zinc
galvanizing alloys and zinc die casting alloys. Balen’s by-products
include sulphuric acid, Balen Leach Product, copper cake, cobalt
nickel cake and a zinc sulphate solution. A process change is being
investigated to enhance site revenues by converting this zinc
sulphate solution into cathode.

2007 2006

SHG zinc* 49,472 57,245

Zinc galvanizing alloys 55,201 39,525

Zinc die casting alloys 158,873 161,800

Total** 263,546 258,570
Sulphuric acid 342,113 338,146
* SHG zinc includes liquid zinc sales and some cathode zinc sales.
** Total production includes conversion of approximately 11,000 tonnes of cathode purchased

from our Auby plant.
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OPERATING REVIEW

Balen and Overpelt, Belgium

Production (tonnes)

Balen sources its concentrates from a variety of global suppliers,
typically on annual benchmark terms. Approximately 20% of
Balen’s feed consists of recycled secondary zinc oxides, providing
raw material flexibility to the site. Process improvements in 2006
allowed Balen to increase its zinc recovery in 2007 to 96.2%.

Balen and Overpelt benefited from favourable energy prices under
a three-year contract, which ended in December 2007.These sites
have now entered into a new electricity supply contract covering
2008 and 2009 with pricing terms based on the forward prices of
the Belgian electricity market. Balen participates in a consortium
of energy-intensive industries in Belgium that is seeking to
negotiate a more competitive long-term power supply contract.

Employees are governed by a number of collective bargaining
agreements. In December 2007, we experienced some disruption
by the local unions that was followed in March 2008 by a 24-hour
strike to support improved pay.The actions did not result in any
financial loss.

Major capital projects for 2007 included a residue
compacting project, as well as projects to upgrade the
main administration building.

Key environmental initiatives progressed in 2007 included final
landfill covering at Overpelt in connection with soil remediation of
close surroundings of the Balen site, design of groundwater recovery
and treatment systems at Balen and Overpelt and commissioning
of a compacting plant for goethite and waste water treatment
residues at Balen.

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 969 809

Gross profit* 340 270

Operating cost* (160) (133)

EBITDA* 180 137

Capital expenditure 18 15
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

2007 gross profit*

Performance

TREATMENT

CHARGES 41%

BY-PRODUCTS

9%

PREMIUMS

29%

FREE METAL 21%

Strengths
– Capable of treating a wide variety of concentrates
– Significant percentage of secondary feed materials
– Proximity to major customers and end users
– One of Europe’s largest oxide washing facilities

Key opportunities:
– Increase volume of washed oxides for Nyrstar European

smelter consumption
– Increase production of higher margin zinc alloys
– Pursue opportunities to reduce electricity costs

Workforce Balen: 534 employees
35 full-time contractors
Overpelt: 194 employees
5 full-time contractors

Technology RLE smelting
Products SHG zinc and zinc alloys, washed oxides
Feed 80% concentrates, 20% secondaries
Recovery 96.2%
LTR 9.3 Data as at 31 December 2007

* Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(25)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.
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OPERATING REVIEW continued
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The Budel zinc smelter is situated in the southeast of the
Netherlands near the Belgian border, and is a large-scale smelter.
Budel’s primary products are SHG zinc and zinc galvanizing alloys.
More than 80% of sales are to customers within a radius of less
than 400 kilometres from the site. Budel’s concentrate feedstock
comes primarily from the Zinifex Century mine in Australia, with
which Nyrstar has a life of mine agreement. Around 15% of the
site’s feed consists of secondary zinc oxides produced primarily
in scrap steel recycling businesses.

Since its conversion in 2000 to predominantly low-iron Century
concentrates, Budel has been a solid-waste-free zinc smelter.The
site’s by-products include sulphuric acid, a Budel Leach Product
(sold to secondary smelters which recover the lead and precious
metals), cadmium and copper cake.

Budel,The Netherlands

Site production in 2007 was impacted by problems in the cell
house, including a fire which severely limited production in May
2007 for three weeks. Higher than expected carbon levels in the
Century concentrate further reduced calcine production through
the roasting plant. In 2008, we expect Budel will begin to realise
synergies with the other Nyrstar assets in Belgium and France,
including utilising group roaster capacity to ensure all cell houses
can operate at maximum throughput, the sharing of calcine stocks
to maintain production levels during roaster shutdowns and
optimising the production of alloys in the region.

Due to high electricity prices in the Netherlands, electricity
accounted for approximately 45% of Budel’s operating costs
in 2007. Budel participates in a consortium of energy-intensive
industries in the Netherlands that is seeking to negotiate more
competitive long-term power supply contracts and these
negotiations are continuing in 2008. In 2007, Budel participated
in the Dutch Benchmarking Covenant, which determined that Budel
was operating at best practice levels of energy efficiency and
greenhouse gas emissions for zinc smelters.The site is continuing
to invest in further voluntary energy efficiency measures.

The Budel smelter workforce operates under a collective
labour agreement.

Major capital projects for 2007 focused on capacity maintenance
and safety improvement projects, particularly in the roasting and
electrolysis sections of the operation.

Key environmental initiatives progressed in 2007 included
planning for covering of the final gypsum pond in 2008.
Further improvements were made to the stability of the biological
wastewater treatment plants used to treat site effluents, which
have also resulted in lower emissions.

2007 2006

SHG zinc 116,539 104,815
Zinc galvanizing alloys 103,494 131,755
Zinc die casting alloys 4805 1704
Total 224,838 238,274
Sulphuric acid 284,668 300,770

Production (tonnes)

Strengths:
– High zinc recovery

– Produces virtually no solid waste

– Relatively new plant

– 80% of customers located within 400km of site

Key opportunities:
– Operational synergies with our other European smelters

– Increase proportion of secondary materials in feedstock

– Pursue opportunities to reduce electricity costs

Workforce 459 employees
22 full-time contractors

Technology RLE smelting
Products SHG zinc and zinc alloys
Feed 85% concentrates, 15% secondaries
Recovery 98.5%
LTR 3.5 Data as at 31 December 2007

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 674 719

Gross profit* 259 278

Operating cost* (137) (120)

EBITDA* 122 157

Capital expenditure 10 13
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

Performance

2007 gross profit*

TREATMENT

CHARGES 37%

BY-PRODUCTS

16%

PREMIUMS

20%

FREE METAL 27%

* Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(17)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.
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OPERATING REVIEW

Clarksville,Tennessee, USA
The Clarksville smelter is located in Tennessee beside the
Cumberland River. Commissioned in 1978, it is a relatively modern,
medium-scale smelter.The site is currently the only primary zinc
producer in the United States. Main products are SHG zinc and
galvanizing alloys, supplied primarily to customers within one day
delivery distance from the plant.The site’s by-products include
sulphuric acid, cadmium metal, an intermediate copper cementate,
leach product and synthetic gypsum.

Historically, the Clarksville smelter was reliant on the nearby
Tennessee Valley mines, a situation that changed with the mines’
closure in early 2000s.With the mines reopening in 2007 and
2008, Clarksville expects to source an increasing proportion of
its concentrates from these local mines.

Production in 2007 was 121,221 tonnes and was affected by a 19-
day planned shutdown to complete refractory repairs to the roaster.

Electricity for the site is purchased from the Tennessee Valley
Authority (TVA), a government entity.The renewal of the five-year
power contract with the TVA was completed in December 2006,
providing a globally competitive price.

The Clarksville smelter has a non-unionised workforce. Safety
performance at the site has been steadily improving over the last
five years and behaviour-based safety training was completed for
all employees and key contractors.

Major capital projects for 2007 were a shutdown that included
major repairs to the roaster refractory lining and upgrading of the
acid plant catalyst.The site installed a new acid plant pre-heater, a
plant information management system and commenced design for
key growth and improvement projects including zinc flotation and
an oxide washing facility.

Key environmental initiatives completed in 2007 included
replacement of the acid plant pre-heater and the recovery and sale
of a germanium by-product material stored in on-site impoundments.

2007 2006

SHG zinc 86,400 49,602
Zinc galvanizing alloys 34,821 63,190
Total 121,221 112,792
Sulphuric acid 145,956 144,206

Production (tonnes)

Strengths:
– Majority of customers within one day’s delivery from site

– Relatively modern smelter with stable non-unionised
workforce

– High percentage of secondary feed materials

– Only primary zinc smelter in US

Key opportunities:
– Increase production capacity by treating higher

volumes of lower cost secondary materials

– Realise full benefits from reactivation
of neighbouring Tennessee Valley mines

– Improve plant reliability and reduce unit
costs via increased roaster availability

Workforce 247 employees
17 full-time contractors

Technology RLE smelting
Products SHG zinc and zinc alloys
Feed 80% concentrates, 20% secondaries
Recovery 93%
LTR 2.4 Data as at 31 December 2007

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 332 301

Gross profit* 86 70

Operating cost* (61) (51)

EBITDA* 25 19

Capital expenditure 10 6
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

Performance

2007 gross profit*

TREATMENT

CHARGES 40%

BY-PRODUCTS

10%

PREMIUMS

16%

FREE METAL 34%

* Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(9)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.
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OPERATING REVIEW continued
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Hobart,Australia
The Hobart smelter is a large-scale zinc smelter, located on the
western bank of the Derwent Estuary in Hobart,Tasmania.The
site’s main products are SHG zinc, zinc die casting alloys and zinc
galvanizing alloys, which are exported predominantly to Asia and in
particular to China. Hobart sources the majority of its concentrate
requirements from within Australia, mainly from the Zinifex Century
and Rosebery mines. Hobart is also focused on sourcing higher
percentages of secondary zinc oxides, to increase flexibility of feed
to the site. Secondary feed processing started from the end of 2007.
Hobart’s by-products include sulphuric acid, cadmium and copper
sulphate, as well as two leach by-products that are typically
processed by the Port Pirie smelter, paragoethite and a lead
sulphate leach concentrate.

2007 2006

SHG zinc 124,219 57,409
Zinc galvanizing alloys 26,687 26,514
Zinc die casting alloys 99,580 150,893
Total 250,486 234,816
Sulphuric acid 430,846 386,111

Production (tonnes)

Production in 2007 was 250,486 tonnes and was affected by lower
calcine stocks restricted by acid cooling and inductor failures.
Corrective measures for the inductor failures have since been
implemented based on an extensive reliability study. Hobart sources
its electricity from Aurora Energy, a state government-owned
retailer.The 2007 contract included a zinc price escalator and take
or pay provisions, however a new ten-year energy contract has been
negotiated from 1 January 2008, which is indexed to the Australian
consumer price index, and does not contain any zinc price-related
escalation nor any take or pay provisions.

Hobart’s workforce includes 350 unionised employees who
currently work under a three-year agreement, which expired
on 30 November 2006 and is currently being renegotiated.

Major capital projects for 2007 included deferred expenditure for
a roaster shutdown, automated skimming on the casting lines and
a stormwater retention pond.

Key environmental initiatives completed in 2007 included
installation of additional storm-water retention capacity and
finalising arrangements for the treatment and disposal of mercury
contaminated wastes.

Strengths:
– Strong focus on operational reliability and cost efficiency

– New, lower cost electricity contract negotiated

– Flexibility to treat number of feed stocks

– Supplying strongly growing Asian markets

– Dedicated adjacent deepwater port

Key opportunities:
– Reconfigure to goethite process to improve zinc

recoveries and reduce residue

– Introduce secondary materials into feedstock mix

Workforce 506 employees
91 full-time contractors

Technology RLE smelting
Products SHG zinc and zinc alloys
Feed 99% concentrates, 1% secondaries
Recovery 91.9%
LTR 4.1 Data as at 31 December 2007

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 646 649

Gross profit* 211 218

Operating cost* (118) (98)

EBITDA* 94 119

Capital expenditure 23 24
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

Performance

2007 gross profit*

TREATMENT

CHARGES 61%

BY-PRODUCTS

13%

PREMIUMS 8%

FREE METAL

18%

* Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(24)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.
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Port Pirie,Australia
The Port Pirie smelter is located on the eastern side of the Spencer Gulf
in South Australia, approximately 200 kilometres north of Adelaide.
Port Pirie is an integrated multi-metal smelter and refinery, with
flexibility to process a wide range of lead-containing feedstocks to
produce refined lead, silver, zinc, copper and gold. Other by-products
include copper, gold and sulphuric acid.The site processes feedstock
from a variety of locations, including lead concentrates from Zinifex
Rosebery and Century mine. Port Pirie also processes secondary
materials and by-products sourced from the Hobart smelter, existing
site stockpiles and other external materials.

Production in 2007 was below 2006 because of an unplanned
rebuild of a copper drossing furnace, planned maintenance work
on the sinter plant to implement previously identified control
improvements and the impact of an unplanned blast furnace shut
in late December to rectify an unacceptable safety risk. A concerted
effort around process stability and structural integrity has enabled
a plan to be implemented, using a risk-based methodology for
delivering sustainable improvements. 2008 production is expected
to be marginally lower than 2007 owing to a planned shutdown in
October, during which major maintenance and improvement works
will be undertaken in the sinter plant, blast furnace and copper
drossing furnace.

Coke and coal are the major sources of energy for the blast furnace,
both of which are supplied under annual contracts, expiring in
June 2008. Flinders Power supplies electricity to the site.The
contract for supply of electricity to the lead plant runs until
31 October 2008, and the contract for supply of electricity to
the zinc plant runs until 30 June 2009.

A collective bargaining agreement for the workforce is in place
until 31 October 2008, which provides for a performance-based
payment regime.

Major capital projects for 2007 included installation and
commissioning of a blast furnace enclosure, replacement of the
slag fumer coal injection plant, together with a range of other
structural recovery and safety/environmental compliance projects.

The key environmental initiative at Port Pirie is the continuation
of the Tenby10 project, the goal of which is to ensure at least 95%
of children in the Port Pirie community less than five years of age
have a blood lead level below 10 micrograms per deciliter (μg/dL)
by the end of 2010. Substantial improvements are now being seen
in both employee and children’s blood lead levels as a result.

Strengths:
– World’s largest single stream lead smelter; world’s third

largest silver producer

– Ability to produce a range of metals and treat a wide
variety of by-products and residues

– Supplying strongly growing Asian markets

– Significant by-product and free metal revenue

– Track record of commitment to environmental improvements

Key opportunities:
– Expand multi-metal capability to increase production of

high value metals

– Derive additional metal value through treating more low
cost residues and by-products

– Complete the restoration of process plant and infrastructure

Workforce 680 employees, 130 full-time contractors
Technology Lead: Sinter plant, blast furnace

Zinc: pyro, hydro, casting
Copper: solvent extraction, electrowin

Products Lead, lead alloys, SHG zinc, zinc alloys,
copper, gold, silver

Feed 55% concentrates
45% secondaries and residues

Recovery 98.2% lead, 90% zinc, 96.7% silver
LTR 3.7 Data as at 31 December 2007

Modified pro forma full year
€million 07 06

Revenue 643 424

Gross profit* 190 161

Operating cost* (139) (110)

EBITDA* 51 51

Capital expenditure 24 36
* On an underlying basis. For a definition of underlying please refer to page 97.

Performance

2007 gross profit*

FREE METAL

19%BY-PRODUCTS

58%

TREATMENT

CHARGES 21%

PREMIUMS 2% * Gross profit has
been prepared
on a modified
basis excluding
‘other’ gross
profit of €(6)m
which consists
of: realisation
expenses; losses
from unhedged
metal at risk;
realised price
differentials;
and other
miscellaneous
items.

2007 2006

Lead 184,904 191,420
Lead alloys 16,767 14,766
Total lead 201,671 206,186
SHG zinc 32,668 32,379
Zinc galvanizing alloys 4,733 929
Total zinc 37,401 33,308
Refined silver (‘000 troy ounces) 11,670 11,554
Gold (‘000 troy ounces) 14.6 16.5
Copper cathode 3,362 3,560
Sulphuric acid 68,376 76,601

Production (tonnes)
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Föhl China
Föhl China Co., Ltd (Föhl China) is a die casting facility located in
the Kaiming Industrial park in the town of Taicang, 50 kilometres
from Shanghai. Föhl China was established as a joint venture in
November 2005 and production commenced in June 2006. Nyrstar
owns 50% of the joint venture, with the remaining 50% owned by
Adolf Föhl Verwaltungs-und Beteiligungs GmbH of Germany.

Drawing upon the expertise of its parents in alloy formulation,
mould design and engineering, Föhl China positions itself as a top
quality die casting parts provider in the Chinese market.The plant
is supplied with die casting alloys by various local producers,
including Nyrstar’s Genesis plant.

The plant produced approximately 500 tonnes of die casting
components in 2007, compared to approximately 200 tonnes
in 2006, and has plans to increase production capacity to
900 tonnes per annum by the end of 2008.

The site has 62 employees and 21 full-time contractors, at the
end of 2007.

Genesis
Genesis Alloys Ningbo Ltd (Genesis) is a zinc die casting alloy
producer, located 20 kilometres northwest of the city of Ningbo
in the Zhejiang province of China. Nyrstar owns 50% of the joint
venture and is the operating partner, and the remaining 50% is
owned by Lee Kee Group, a metals distribution company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Genesis commenced operations
in 2001 and has a strong reputation as a supplier of choice for
customers demanding premium quality die casting alloys in China.

Genesis produced 24,257 tonnes of zinc alloys in 2007, compared
to 9,299 tonnes in 2006. Due to changes in Chinese import duties
in September 2006, there was a significant increase in demand for
domestically produced Chinese die casting alloys. As a result the
site is undertaking an expansion from a nominal capacity of
23,000 tonnes to approximately 70,000 tonnes, which is expected
to be complete by mid-2008.

The site had 49 full-time employees at the end of 2007.

Our Chinese operations contributed €0.6m to EBITDA in 2007
compared to a loss of €0.3m in 2006. At Nyrstar Yunnan Zinc
Alloys Co., Ltd (NYZA) production was up 9% at 55,192 tonnes
in 2007, and significant progress was made towards the
construction of casting facilities for premium alloys which will be
fully operational by March 2008. Operations at Genesis and Föhl
China were in line with expectations.

Nyrstar Yunnan Zinc Alloys (NYZA)
NYZA is located within the Yunnan Copper plant site in Kunming,
the capital of Yunnan province in the southwest of the People’s
Republic of China. Nyrstar owns 60% of NYZA and a Chinese
state-owned enterprise,Yun Tong Zinc Co. Ltd, owns the other 40%.

The NYZA smelter is located near several zinc mines in an area
rich in zinc concentrates. Due to the proximity of several hydro-
electric power plants in Yunnan, the smelter has relatively low
production costs compared to other smelters.

The site primarily produces SHG zinc, as well as by-products
including sulphuric acid, cadmium, copper cake, an indium
concentrate and a slag processed by the local cement industry.

NYZA has an average zinc recovery of approximately 93.1%.
Zinc production in 2007 was 55,192 tonnes, compared to 50,684
tonnes in 2006. At the end of 2007, the site had 494 employees
and approximately 393 full-time contractors.

Chinese operations

OPERATING REVIEW continued
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ARA
Australian Refined Alloys Pty Ltd (ARA) is a lead acid battery
recycling joint venture with two secondary lead smelters in
Australia, located at Alexandria in Sydney in the state of New
South Wales, and Laverton North in Melbourne in the state of
Victoria. Nyrstar owns 50% of the joint venture and is the
operating partner, whilst the Sims Group, a large Australian
metal recycling company, owns the remaining 50%.

The two sites produced 37,842 tonnes of lead alloys in 2007,
compared to 35,079 in 2006.The higher production level was
due to strong levels of battery receipts, driven by high LME lead
prices and reduced exports of batteries from Australia.The
battery recycling process also generates significant volumes
of polypropylene plastic for recycling. Solid waste has been
categorised following processes specified by the respective state
Environment Protection Agencies and is disposed of into licensed
landfills operating in each state.

The two sites had 66 employees and 29 full-time contractors at
the end of 2007.

ARA is currently undertaking a feasibility study on combining
its two facilities into a single lead recycling facility utilising best
available technology.The study is expected to be completed by
mid-2008.

Padaeng
Nyrstar owns a 24.9% interest in the share capital of Padaeng
Industry Public Company Limited (Padaeng), a Thai company
established in 1981 and listed on the stock exchange of Thailand.
Padaeng is the only producer of SHG zinc in Southeast Asia. Its
head office is located in Bangkok.

Padaeng operates a zinc mine (Mae Sot mine) and a smelter in
the Tak province, as well as a roaster plant located in the Rayong
province.The smelter produced 98,877 tonnes of zinc and zinc
alloys in 2007, compared to 96,500 tonnes in 2006. Mining
operations have been interrupted since 18 October 2007 following
the expiry of the main mining licence. A new mining licence
application has been submitted and is awaiting approval by the
Thai government.

Results from Nyrstar’s other operations were strong, with all sites
recording significant year-on-year increases in production volumes.
Other operations contributed €15.5m to EBITDA in 2007, slightly
down from €16.4m in 2006.

GM-Metal
GM-Metal SAS (GM-Metal) is a wholly owned zinc alloys producer,
located close to Le Vigeant, approximately 75 kilometres south of
Poitiers, France. GM Metal is also a specialised recycler of die
casting alloys, predominately from the die casting industries in
Germany, Spain, France and Italy.

The site produced 26,126 tonnes of zinc alloys in 2007, compared
to 24,841 tonnes in 2006.The site had 36 employees at the end
of 2007.

Galva 45
Galva 45 SA (Galva 45) is a galvanizing facility located some
80 kilometres south of Paris between Orléans and Pithiviers.
Galva 45 was founded in 1982 and is one of the largest European
galvanizing plants specialising in the galvanizing of automotive
parts and agricultural tubular parts. Nyrstar owns 66% of Galva
45, with the remaining 34% held by Etablissements Jourdain SA,
a leading French manufacturer of agricultural tubular components.
Nyrstar’s investment in Galva 45 provides first hand experience
with the most recent developments in the galvanizing industry, with
an emphasis on speciality galvanizing segments such as the
automotive sector.

In 2007, Galva 45 produced 61,056 tonnes of galvanized steel
parts, compared to 56,898 tonnes in 2006.The site had 192
employees and approximately 27 full-time contractors at the
end of 2007.

Other operations
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One of Nyrstar’s core values is to prevent harm.This includes
preventing harm to our employees and other people working at our
sites, preventing harm to the communities that surround our sites
and preventing harm to the environment from the way we manage
our operations.

In forming Nyrstar we have brought together a number of sites
that are at different points in their improvement journey and
that have had different improvement programs, key performance
indicators and reporting systems. In reporting on our performance
for 2007, we have focused on the key indicators of injury statistics
and environmental compliance. In moving forward we will be
developing more comprehensive measures to track our performance
on preventing harm to people and the environment.

Another key focus moving forward is to establish core safety,
health and environment policies, procedures and programs across
the group that reflect our vision and values and support our
corporate governance, compliance and risk programs. Nyrstar’s
networks for safety and health and for environment practitioners
have been established to support a consistency in approach and
to ensure sharing of leading practice across the organisation.

We are also establishing energy management working groups
at corporate, regional and site levels to understand our energy
use and greenhouse gas emission profiles, provide leadership on
managing the impacts of climate change on our business and to
determine improvement opportunities for energy efficiency and
greenhouse gas emission reductions.

Safety and health
Because of our sites’ diverse backgrounds in terms of culture
and geography, they are currently at varying stages in safety
performance and in the development of safety and health programs
and culture. In order to establish a standardised approach that
reflects the company’s value to prevent harm, it will be necessary
to address historical site-specific issues and at the same time
introduce a comprehensive safety and health program that ensures
the consistent implementation of best practice across the company.

A first key step in this approach is to establish a set of uniformly
applied safety performance measures and gain an accurate
understanding of the current status of safety and health at our
sites. Subsequently, a minimum level of safety standards and
systems will be established across all sites in critical areas such as
safety leadership and risk management. A company-wide set of 14
management standards will provide guidance in the development
of a systematic and comprehensive approach to safety and health
management, consistent compliance with laws and regulations, and
the continuous improvement of our performance. Progress will be
measured and assured by annual safety and health audits of all
sites where Nyrstar has operational responsibility.

Currently, our key safety performance measure is Lost Time Injury
Rate per million hours worked (LTR). For the 12-month period
ending December 2007, we achieved a Group-wide LTR of 9.3*.

In the coming year we will be developing other safety and health
performance indicators, including proactive indicators that will
measure our safety culture and progress against planned safety
improvement programs.

Various early initiatives at our operational facilities support our
approach to safety and health.

The key focus at the Auby plant during 2007 has been the
implementation of programs and resources in compliance with
the Seveso 2 directive, and the development of a 2008 action plan
aimed at compliance with Nyrstar’s management standards.

In response to an increased lost time injury frequency rate, the
Balen site has recently focused on behavioural safety and safety
leadership through the introduction of daily pre-shift safety
meetings for all employees, aimed at building a solid safety culture.
This initiative was supported by a safety and health campaign, and
is strongly linked to the 2008 roll-out of the company’s safety
leadership program.

Improvements at Budel focused on ensuring continued compliance with
European directives regarding machine safety and explosion risks.

In addition, local networking between the major European sites
at Auby, Balen and Budel has been initiated, aimed at sharing
best practices and developing a common approach to specific
European issues related to safety and health. Early successes
include a standardised approach to protective clothing and
regional co-operation regarding the implementation of European
occupational exposure limits for sulphuric acid mist. Such regional
ties will be strengthened in 2008 with a focus on the roll-out of the
company’s safety leadership program in the Belgian and French
operations and the development of a common proactive approach
to evolving European legislation. Finally, this local networking
initiative will be expanded to include the GM-Metal and the Galva
45 joint venture, both sites that are currently in the earlier stages
of developing safety leadership.
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THINK
RESPONSIBLE
SAFETY,HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT REVIEW

* Excludes Chinese joint ventures.

Nyrstar’s networks for
safety and health and for
environment practitioners
have been established to
support a consistency in
approach and to ensure
sharing of leading practice
across the organisation.
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In Australia, the Hobart operation has focused on strengthening
its safety culture and risk awareness by the introduction of a new
personal risk management system, which has been rolled out
successfully to employees and contractors, the implementation of
an improved lock-out tag-out program, and a continued emphasis
on employee wellbeing programs.

The major initiative at Port Pirie has been the completion of
Phase I of the Semi Quantitative Risk Assessment required by
Australia’s Major Hazard Facility legislation.The next two phases
are scheduled to be completed in the first quarter of 2008.
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Revegetation of the foreshore area and improvement of visual amenity
at Hobart

ISO CERTIFICATIONS

Auby ISO 14001;2004, ISO 9001

Balen and Overpelt ISO 14001, ISO 9001

Budel ISO 14001, ISO 9001; OH SAS 18001

Clarksville ISO 14001, ISO 9001

Hobart ISO 14001, ISO 9001, AS4801

Port Pirie ISO 14001, ISO 9001

EXCEEDED

WASTEWATER

LIMITS 36%

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS NOT MET 3%
STORMWATER

OVERFLOWS 4%

EXCEEDED

AIR EMISSION

LIMITS 13%

2007 RECORDABLE INCIDENTS BY TYPE

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT REVIEW

Keeping our people safe includes ensuring personal protective equipment
is effective and properly worn
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Furthermore, recent equipment and infrastructure safety
assessments have driven another major initiative for 2008
regarding structural integrity, which will serve as the basis
for a company-wide best practice.

The Australian Refined Alloys joint venture in Sydney and
Melbourne completed initiatives to improve the employee
wellbeing program, introduced improved work permit
and lock-out programs during 2007, and are currently
finalising their crisis management and recovery plan.

As a regional initiative, the Australian operations in 2008 will take
the lead in several new initiatives such as the further development
of Nyrstar’s safety leadership program, the compilation of a
corporate safety and health audit guide and the development
of a standard tool box for the root cause analysis of significant
incidents (this is a joint initiative with the Balen plant).

At our US operations in Clarksville, our ongoing efforts in safety
and health have earned Nyrstar its first safety award: in October,
the site received the Governor’s Award of Excellence for Workplace
Safety.The award acknowledges Clarksville for not having a
lost time or restricted duty incident since January 2004, which
translates to more than one million hours worked without
an incident.

In China, Genesis continued the implementation of Nyrstar’s
safety programs, including a drug and alcohol policy, and took the
initiative to establish a regional safety and health partnership with
our operations at Föhl and Kunming.

During 2008 we will focus on the roll-out of the Nyrstar
management standards as they relate to safety and health and on
the implementation of a corporate safety and health audit system
which will provide us with a clear baseline by the end of the year.
Key initiatives in the further development of our programs are the
completion of the company’s safety leadership training and the
development of the next stage of this program, the introduction of
a systematic approach towards risk management with a focus on
critical risks, and the creation of a strong global network of safety
and health professionals which will spread and standardise best
safety and health practice throughout Nyrstar.

Environment
Many of our sites have long operating histories and were
established at a time when environmental regulation was not
as stringent as it is today.Therefore our key focus is both to
continually improve our current operating performance and to
address the legacies remaining from historical operations. In
order to achieve sustainability of our operations, it is important
that we maintain the trust and goodwill of our regulators and the
communities surrounding our plants. Our approach is to build this
trust by meeting our commitments and maintaining open and
honest communications.

Our key compliance measure is the number of recordable
environmental incidents.These are incidents or events that are
reported to the relevant environmental regulator and are considered
a non-compliance with licence or consent conditions. During 2007
we had 56 recordable environmental incidents all of which were
minor in nature. Most incidents related to non-compliances of
treated wastewater discharges with licence limits. No further
regulatory or legal action was initiated as a result of these incidents.

A number of capital improvement programs were progressed
during the year.These are part of our program to ensure that our
operations continue to comply with licence requirements and that
we continue to reduce emissions and impacts from our operations.

The key focus of environmental improvements at Auby during
2007 related to the upgrading and closure of landfills at site, and
the continuation of on-site and off-site soil remediation programs.
We will continue these works during 2008 as well as commencing
construction of the goethite compaction plant which will extend
the life of on-site landfills.

At Balen we spent more than €4m on improving our management
of goethite which is landfilled on the site.We also invested more
than €800,000 at Balen and Overpelt on energy efficiency
improvement projects.The projects to intercept and treat
contaminated groundwater were progressed, with project scope
close to being finalised and almost €200,000 spent on pump
infrastructure at Overpelt. Implementation of these projects is
expected to commence in 2008, as soon as the relevant regulatory
approvals have been received. Historical goethite pond closure will
be completed at Overpelt by mid-2008 and a permit application
made for a new landfill at Balen on top of the existing landfill,
which will provide a repository for ongoing soil remediation works
on the site and in the local community.

A number of improvements were completed at Budel, with over
€1m being spent in 2007 on various projects including replacement
of acid pipelines, containment of process materials and reduction of
groundwater abstraction for process water use. During 2008 we will
complete capping of the last gypsum pond and progress wastewater
treatment plant optimisation projects to reduce the occurrence of
non-compliances with our discharge licence.The final aftercare plan
for the historical jarosite and gypsum pond area will be completed
and submitted to the authorities for approval, with handover of this
area to the local province currently planned for the end of 2009.

Replacement of the acid plant preheater was completed at
Clarksville during 2007 at a cost of €1.2m which will prevent
elevated sulphur dioxide emissions during plant startup conditions.
A further €177,000 was spent on upgrading paving and sealing
around site and the ambient sulphur dioxide monitoring system.
Reclamation and sale of materials contained in on-site
impoundments was progressed, with one impoundment
substantially recovered and another planned for 2008.
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Increased stormwater retention capacity was the major project at
Hobart, with the installation of a new 15m litre stormwater pond
which should substantially resolve overflows to the Derwent Estuary
during high rainfall events. Further improvements were made to the
containment of bulk storages and visual amenity at the site.Works
progressed to identify the engineering solution for the visible tail
gas stack plume, the next phase of the contaminated groundwater
interception and recovery project and the treatment and disposal
of mercury contaminated wastes currently stored on site.We plan
to implement these projects during 2008 and 2009. In total, over
€2.9m was spent on environmental improvements at Hobart
during 2007.

At Port Pirie our highest priority project is the Tenby10 program,
which was launched in February 2006 and has the goal of meeting
the Australian national health standard of having at least 95%
of children under five years of age with a blood lead level below
10 micrograms per deciliter (µg/dL) by the end of 2010. During
2007 we continued our commitment to the Tenby10 program, with
more than €8.9m spent on fugitive lead emissions reduction
projects including enclosure of the blast furnace and installation of
a new coal injection system at the slag fumer. Numerous smaller
emissions capture projects were also completed and the community
air quality monitoring system also improved.The lead in air levels

at off-site monitoring sites continued to decline and to meet the
reduction targets that have been set by the South Australian
Environment Protection Authority.The blood lead levels of children
in the Port Pirie community have also continued to improve with
62% meeting the target of being less than 10 ug/dL at the end of
2007, compared with 55% at the end of 2006.

We will continue to implement programs and projects during 2008
that will reduce our environmental risks and emissions and address
historical impacts of our operations.We will also be working to
establish a closer relationship with the communities that surround
our sites and with regulators on key improvement programs that
relate to licence or other commitments.

TheTenby10 project aims to ensure the Port Pirie community meets
the blood lead level set by the Australian National Health Authority
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personal professional development and routinely engages in
ongoing learning and development activities.

The Nyrstar vision
Nyrstar’s vision is to be a global leader in metals processing
and recycling – making products for a sustainable future.

Our values
Nyrstar has carefully chosen a set of shared values by which
it lives and operates.The five core values that Nyrstar holds
at its heart are:

• Preventing harm • Being considerate

• Being open and honest • Working together

• Keeping our word

These values provide the bedrock principles that serve as a guide
for living.They influence our day-to-day interactions with our
colleagues, suppliers and clients.They explain who we are, what
we stand for and how we treat our stakeholders.

A significant portion of the incentive compensation award is
based on behaviour associated with these values.

We will
Prevent harm We always put safety first – which guides our
actions for our people, for our local communities and for the
environment around us.

Be open and honest We communicate openly and tell the
truth, building trust and simplifying our communication with
each other, customers and other stakeholders.

Keep our word We keep our promises and commitments and
are accountable, strengthening our relationships with each
other, customers and stakeholders.

Be considerate We treat each other with care and respect,
recognising our different cultures globally.

Work together We support and encourage one another across
the organisation, embracing new ideas and constantly seeking
the best way to do things.

In the sections below, Nyrstar provides information on
governance matters that relate to 2007.

Nyrstar governance model
The role of the board of directors is to pursue the long-term
success of the company by providing entrepreneurial
leadership and enabling risks to be assessed and managed.
Nyrstar has opted for a ‘one-tier’ governance structure,
whereby the board is the ultimate decision-making body, with
the overall responsibility for the management and control of
the company, and is authorised to carry out all actions that
are considered necessary or useful to achieve the company’s
vision.The board has all powers except those reserved to the
shareholders’ meeting by law or the articles of association.

The board is assisted by a number of committees to analyse
specific issues.The committees advise the board on these
issues, but the decision-making remains with the board as
a whole.The board has established an audit committee, a
nomination and remuneration committee and a safety, health
and environment committee.

The board of directors appoints and removes the chief
executive officer (CEO).The role of the CEO is to implement
the mission, strategy and targets set by the board and to
assume responsibility for the day-day-day management of
the company.The CEO reports directly to the board.

Corporate governance is the set of behaviours and rules
by which companies are properly managed and controlled
resulting in increased transparency and accountability.

Corporate governance is concerned with the relationships
and responsibilities between the board (and its committees),
management, employees, shareholders and other stakeholders
within a legal and regulatory framework. It influences how
the objectives of a company are set and achieved, how risk is
monitored and assessed, and how performance is optimised.

Good corporate governance structures encourage companies to
create value (through entrepreneurism, innovation, development
and exploration) and provide accountability and control
systems commensurate with the risks involved. Good corporate
governance is aimed at supporting long-term value creation –
not only for shareholders but also for other stakeholders.

Nyrstar believes that a robust and effective corporate
governance system is critical to ensure its long-term success.

Introduction
Nyrstar has published a Corporate Governance Charter in
line with the Belgian Code on Corporate Governance (the
Code). Nyrstar’s Corporate Governance Charter (the Charter)
describes the main aspects of the corporate governance of
Nyrstar including Nyrstar’s governance structure, the terms
of reference of the board of directors of Nyrstar and its
committees and other important topics.The board of directors
of Nyrstar approved the initial Charter on 5 October 2007
and the current version of the Charter was approved on
18 March 2008.

Nyrstar applies the nine corporate governance principles
contained in the Code. In addition, except as explained in
the Charter and below, Nyrstar complies with the corporate
governance provisions of the Code.

The Charter provides a reference point for our directors,
our management, our employees, our shareholders and
other stakeholders in understanding Nyrstar’s approach
to corporate governance.

The Charter is available, together with Nyrstar’s Articles
of Association, on Nyrstar’s website (www.nyrstar.com)
and will be updated as often as required to reflect changes
to Nyrstar’s corporate governance.What constitutes good
corporate governance will evolve with the changing
circumstances of a company and with the standards of
corporate governance globally and must be tailored to
meet those changing circumstances.

Good corporate governance at Nyrstar is based on our vision
and values, which sets out how we view our relationship with
our people, customers, suppliers, local communities, other
stakeholders and the environment.

Nyrstar has recognised that a critical check and balance
in the way we go about our business is provided by the
quality of the dialogue between our senior managers.While
all senior managers are committed to the best outcome for
the organisation and our key stakeholders, we recognise that
people may have different views on how to achieve these
optimal outcomes.The management culture promotes diversity
of opinion and believes that robust open and direct dialogue
creates the kind of transparency that leads to higher quality
decisions being made.To develop and enhance these
behaviours, the management team is committed to its own

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Committees
Audit committee
The audit committee was established on 5 October 2007
and consists of three non-executive directors, two of which
are independent.

The role of the audit committee is to assist the board in
supervising and reviewing the financial reporting, the internal
control and risk management systems and the internal audit
process of the company. In addition, the audit committee makes
recommendations to the board on the selection, appointment
and remuneration of the external auditor and monitors the
independence of the external auditor.

In principle, the committee will meet at least four times per year.
The members of the audit committee have full access to the
chief financial officer and to any other employee to whom they
may require access in order to carry out their responsibilities.

The CEO leads and chairs the senior management team.The
senior management team is responsible for assisting the CEO.
Nyrstar’s senior management team does not qualify as a
directiecomité in the sense of Article 524bis of the Code.

In principle, the senior management team meets weekly,
providing a forum for (amongst other things):

• the dissemination of information

• discussing issues which are best done by face-to-face
communication

• utilisation of the collective experience and wisdom of the
senior managers in making decisions

• gaining alignment of the senior managers on important
issues

• airing of ideas and fostering open dialogue

In order to provide a group-wide support structure based
on geographical lines, Nyrstar has regional offices based
in Balen (Belgium) and Melbourne (Australia). Nyrstar’s
corporate centres are based in Balen (Belgium) and London
(United Kingdom).These centres provide a number of
corporate and support functions in the areas of finance,
human resource co-ordination, internal audit, legal and tax,
information technology and public and investor relations.

The board
Composition
Pursuant to Nyrstar’s articles of association, the board must
consist of at least three members. Pursuant to the Code, at
least half of the directors must be non-executive and at least
three directors must be independent in accordance with the
criteria set out in the Charter and the Code.

The directors are appointed for a term of no more than four
years by the shareholders’ meeting. In the event the office of
a director becomes vacant, the remaining directors can
appoint a successor temporarily filling the vacancy until the
next shareholders’ meeting.The shareholders’ meeting can
dismiss the directors at any time.

The board elects a chairman from among its non-executive
members.The chairman of the board cannot be the CEO.

As at 31 December 2007, the board consisted of six
directors, five non-executives and one executive.Three
of the six directors are independent.

The board meets whenever the interests of the company
so require or at the request of one or more directors. In
principle, the board will meet at least six times per year.
The board’s decisions are made by a simple majority of
the votes cast by the directors present or represented.
The chairman of the board has a casting vote.

Since Nyrstar’s IPO in October 2007, one board meeting
was held during 2007.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

Name Position Director since Term expires Nature of directorship

Julien De Wilde(1) Chairman 2007 2010 Non-Executive, Independent

Paul Fowler CEO and MD 2007 2010 Executive

Ray Stewart Director 2007 2011 Non-Executive, Independent

Roland Junck Director 2007 2011 Non-Executive, Independent

Peter Mansell Director 2007 2010 Non-Executive

Karel Vinck Director 2007 2010 Non-Executive

(1) Acting through De Wilde J. Management BVBA.

NYRSTAR BOARD

CEO

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

AUDIT COMMITTEE

NOMINATION AND
REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

SAFETY, HEALTH
AND ENVIRONMENT
COMMITTEE

Operations

Finance

Development

Global market
Services

Environment

Human resources
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Legal/Secretariat

Investor relations/
Communications
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Compensation
The remuneration and compensation of the directors was
decided by the shareholders’ meeting on 5 October 2007.

Chairman:
• annual fixed remuneration of €200,000 per year

(as of 1 September 2007)

• IPO fee of €117,000 (payable in eight installments
from September 2007 until April 2008)

• no additional attendance fees

Other directors (excluding the CEO):
• annual fixed remuneration of €50,000 per year for

membership of the board

• fixed fee of €10,000 per year per board committee
of which they are a member

• fixed fee of €20,000 per year per board committee
of which they are the chairman

• no additional attendance fees

In accordance with the Charter, non-executive directors do not
receive any performance-related remuneration, stock options
or other share-based remuneration or pension benefits.

Activity report and attendance at board and committee
meetings since the company’s IPO

Board Committee Total Shares held
meetings meetings remuneration as at

Name attended attended 2007 (€) 31/12/07

Julien De Wilde(1) 1 of 1 0 of 0 125,168

Paul Fowler 1 of 1 0 of 0

Ray Stewart 1 of 1 0 of 0 12,501

Roland Junck 1 of 1 0 of 0 12,501

Peter Mansell 1 of 1 0 of 0 12,501

Karel Vinck 0 of 1 0 of 0 12,501

(1) Acting through De Wilde J. Management BVBA.

Performance review
At least once every three years, the board shall undertake
a formal evaluation of its own performance and that of its
committees. Such evaluation shall be performed by the
nomination and remuneration committee at the initiative
of the chairman and, if required, with the assistance of
external advisors.

The CEO and senior management team
Composition
The senior management team is comprised of at least four
members.The members of the senior management team are
appointed by the board on the basis of a recommendation
by the nomination and remuneration committee.

The following directors are members of the audit committee:
Ray Stewart (chairman), Roland Junck and Karel Vinck.

As a consequence of the audit committee having only recently
been established, no audit committee meetings were held
during 2007.

Nomination and remuneration committee
The nomination and remuneration committee was established
on 5 October 2007 and consists of four directors.

In deviation of provisions 5.3/1 and 5.4/1 of the Code, the
nomination and remuneration committee is not comprised
of a majority of independent directors.The nomination and
remuneration committee is comprised of four non-executive
directors, only two of which are independent.The two directors
who are not independent, Peter Mansell and Karel Vinck,
represent the founding shareholders of the company in the
board. Given that the board of directors is only comprised
of six directors, a nomination and remuneration committee
of more than four members is not deemed appropriate. At
the same time, the participation of the founding shareholders,
through Peter Mansell and Karel Vinck, in the nomination
and remuneration committee is viewed by the board as an
important and valuable tool in assisting the transition and
integration of the two businesses that were contributed to
the company by the two founding shareholders. For these
reasons, the board is of the opinion that a deviation of
provisions 5.3/1 and 5.4/1 of the Code is justified.

The role of the nomination and remuneration committee is
to make recommendations to the board with regard to the
appointment of directors and to make proposals to the board
of directors on the remuneration policy for directors and
executive management.

In principle, the committee will meet at least twice a year.

The following directors are members of the nomination and
remuneration committee: Julien de Wilde (chairman), Ray
Stewart, Peter Mansell and Karel Vinck.

As a consequence of the nomination and remuneration
committee having only recently been established, no nomination
and remuneration committee meetings were held during 2007.

Safety, health and environment committee
The safety, health and environment committee was established
on 5 October 2007 and consists of three non-executive
directors, two of which are independent.

The role of the safety, health and environment committee
is to assist the board in respect of safety, health and
environmental matters. In particular, its role is to ensure
that the company adopts and maintains appropriate safety,
health and environment policies and procedures, as well as
effective safety, health and environment internal control
and risk management systems, and to make appropriate
recommendations to the board.

In principle, the committee will meet at least twice a year.

The following directors are members of the safety, health
and environment committee: Roland Junck (chairman),
Julien de Wilde and Peter Mansell.

As a consequence of the safety, health and environment
committee having only recently been established, no safety, health
and environment committee meetings were held during 2007.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued
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shares or other financial instruments.The Dealing Code sets
limits on carrying out transactions in company shares and
allows dealing by the above-mentioned persons only during
certain windows.The Dealing Code is attached to the Charter.

Nyrstar Disclosure Policy
As a Belgian listed company and with a view to ensuring
investors in Nyrstar shares have available all information
necessary to ensure the transparency, integrity and good
functioning of the market, the board has established an
information disclosure policy (the Information Disclosure
Policy).The Information Disclosure Policy is aimed at
ensuring that inside information of which Nyrstar is aware
is immediately disclosed to the public. In addition, the
Information Disclosure Policy is aimed at ensuring
information that is disclosed is fair, precise and sincere, and
will enable the holders of shares in Nyrstar and the public to
assess the influence of the information on Nyrstar’s position,
business and results.

Conflicts of interest
Directors are expected to arrange their personal and business
affairs so as to avoid conflicts of interest with the company.
Any director with a conflicting financial interest (as set forth
in Article 523 of the Belgian Company Code) on any matter
before the board must bring it to the attention of both the
statutory auditor and fellow directors, and take no part in
any deliberations or voting related thereto.

In accordance with the company’s articles of association,
the company may enter into indemnification agreements with
a director. At the board meeting held on 6 December 2007,
the board considered the introduction of indemnification
agreements in favour of each of the current directors.

Prior to the deliberation and approval of the indemnification
agreement to be entered into between the company and each
director (each an Indemnification Agreement), each director
declared that pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, in
the event he were to incur a liability in the exercise of his
mandate as a director of the company, he would benefit from
an indemnification by the company against the financial
damages and other costs in connection with such liability. As
a result, under Article 523 of the Company Code, the relevant
director explained that he might have an interest of a financial
nature that could be in conflict with the proposed approval by
the board of the Indemnification Agreement. Each director
further stated that he believed that the terms of the proposed
agreement were not unusual or uncustomary, especially within
the context of listed companies, and that he would advise the
company’s statutory auditors of the potential conflict of
interest. Subsequently, the director left the meeting of the
board so as not to take part in the further deliberation and
decision relating to the Indemnification Agreement to be
entered into with the director concerned.

The remaining directors of the board noted the relevant
director’s declaration and subsequently, as far as necessary
and applicable in accordance with Article 523 of the Company
Code, proceeded with the deliberations.The board noted that
the purpose of the Indemnification Agreement is to indemnify
the director concerned against financial damages and other
costs in connection with a liability that he would incur in the
exercise of his mandate as a director of the company. In order
to attract and retain qualified individuals as directors, the
board believed it is reasonable, prudent and necessary for the

As at 31 December 2007, the senior management team
consisted of 10 members.

Name Title

Paul Fowler Chief Executive Officer

Heinz Eigner Chief Financial Officer

Greg McMillan Chief Operating Officer

Leo Jacobs Chief Operating Officer – West*

Paul Bibby Chief Development Officer

Erling Sorensen Chief Marketing Officer

Anne Dekker Director, Environment and Community

Russell Murphy Director, Human Resources and Safety

Michael Morley Director, Legal and Secretariat

Jan Altink Director, Investor Relations and
Communications

Mark Elliott Regional Director and Regional Head
of Finance – East

* Mr Jacobs retired with effect from 31 December 2007.

Compensation
The remuneration of the CEO and the members of the senior
management team is determined by the board based on
recommendation from the nomination and remuneration
committee. An appropriate portion of the remuneration is
linked to corporate and individual performance.

Variable
Title Base salary remuneration Other benefits

2007 (€) 2007 (€) 2007 (€)

CEO 233,762 0 139,251

Rest of senior 976,519 0 533,994
management
team

Nyrstar has established an Employee Share Acquisition Plan
(ESAP) and an Executive Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
with a view to attracting, retaining and motivating the
employees and senior management of Nyrstar.The key terms of
the plans are set out at pages 76 and 77. No amount is payable
by the relevant employees to the company on the granting or
vesting of any share awards under the ESAP or the LTIP.

On 1 November 2007, Nyrstar announced that a grant of
50 shares awards under the ESAP was made to each full-time
and permanent part-time employees of Nyrstar (including each
member of the senior management team). As at 31 December
2007, no share awards had been granted under the LTIP.

All members of the senior management team are entitled
to a 12-month salary payment in case their employment is
terminated without cause. In addition, the CEO is entitled
to a 12-month salary payment in case his employment is
terminated upon a change of control of the company.

Performance review
At least once a year, the nomination and remuneration
committee evaluates the operation and performance of the
CEO and the other members of the senior management team.

Nyrstar Dealing Code
With a view to preventing market abuse (insider dealing,
market manipulation), the board has established a dealing
code (the Dealing Code).The Dealing Code describes the
declaration and conduct obligations of directors, members of
the senior management team, certain other employees and
certain other persons with respect to transactions in company

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

As at 31 December 2007, on the basis of the notifications
received by the company, the major shareholders of the
company (i.e. holding more than 3% of the total voting
rights) are:

Shareholder Number of shares Percentage of voting rights

BlackRock Group 8,133,373 8.13%

Zinifex Limited 7,791,622 7.79%

Fidelity International Limited 7,019,100 7.02%

Umicore SA/NV 5,251,856 5.25%

Lansdowne Partners LP 5,200,000 5.20%

Ospraie Management LLC 5,055,000 5.06%

Greenlight Capital Inc 5,007,109 5.01%

In connection with the initial public offering of the company,
the company’s founding shareholders Umicore and Zinifex
agreed to a 360-day lock-up period (subject to customary
exceptions) from the commencement of conditional trading
(29 October 2007) with regard to their respective shareholdings.

Voting rights
Each shareholder of Nyrstar is entitled to one vote per
share. Shareholders may vote by proxy.Voting rights can
be suspended, amongst others, in relation to shares:

• Which are not fully paid up, notwithstanding the request
thereto of the board of directors of the company;

• To which more than one person is entitled, except in the
event a single representative is appointed for the exercise
of the voting right;

• Which entitle their holder to voting rights above the
threshold of 3%, 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15%, 20% and any
further multiple of 5% of the total number of voting rights
attached to the outstanding financial instruments of the
company on the date of the relevant shareholders’ meeting,
except in the event where the relevant shareholder has
notified the Company and the CBFA at least 20 days prior
to the date of the shareholders’ meeting on which he or she
wishes to vote its shareholding reaching or exceeding the
thresholds above; and

• Of which the voting right was suspended by a competent
court or the CBFA.

Changes to share capital
On 5 October 2007, the board was authorised to:

• Increase the capital of the company (without prior
authorisation by the shareholders’ meeting) on one or
several occasions, by a maximum amount of €400,000,000.
This authorisation is valid for a period of five years as from
the date of publication in the Annex to the Belgian State
Gazette of an extract of the minutes of the extraordinary
shareholders’ meeting held on 5 October 2007; and

• Acquire (without prior authorisation by the shareholders’
meeting) on or outside the stock exchange, a number of the
company’s shares representing a maximum of 10% of the
subscribed capital, for a price not lower than 10% below the
average closing price during the last 20 trading days and not
higher than 10% above the average closing price during the
last 20 trading days.This authorisation is valid for an 18-
month period as from 5 October 2007.

company to contractually obligate itself to provide such
indemnification. In addition, the board noted the existence
of indemnification agreements between publicly listed
companies and their directors is consistent with market
practice. Furthermore, the board noted that pursuant to
Article 21 of the company’s articles of association, the
board may enter into indemnification arrangements with
the directors and take out directors and officers insurance
coverage.The board also noted that financial consequences
would only accrue to the company under the Indemnification
Agreement in the event that a claim was made against a
director in relation to which the director was entitled to
indemnification under the Indemnification Agreement and
the claim was not otherwise insured. No such claims currently
existed. In addition, the indemnification would not apply
in certain instances, such as in the event of fraud or wilful
misconduct by the director concerned, and to the extent the
indemnification would apply to the payment of criminal fines.
Accordingly, the board deemed the Indemnification Agreement
to be in the interests of the company.

Following discussion, the board (with the exclusion of the
relevant director) resolved that:

(a) the Indemnification Agreements be approved in a form
substantially similar to that tabled at the meeting;

(b) the company enter into, execute and deliver the
Indemnification Agreement in the form of the draft tabled
at the meeting but with such amendments as the person
signing the same shall in that person’s discretion
determine; and

(c) the Indemnification Agreement be executed by the
signature of one director.

Shareholders
Issued shares
At 31 December 2007, the company had 100,000,000
fully paid up shares on issue. Nyrstar shares are listed
on Euronext Brussels.

Nyrstar shares can be held as registered shares or
dematerialised shares, at the discretion of shareholders.
Any shareholder can request the conversion of his shares
into another form, at his expense.

In accordance with the Law of 14 December 2005 on the
abolition of bearer securities, all bearer shares in book-entry
form were automatically converted in dematerialised securities
as from 1 January 2008.

All of the company’s shares are fully paid and freely transferable.

Shareholding structure
Nyrstar has a wide shareholder base, mainly composed of
institutional investors outside of Belgium, but also comprising
Belgian retail and institutional investors.

Pursuant to applicable Belgian legislation on the disclosure
of significant shareholdings and the articles of association, any
person who acquires at least 3% of the total existing voting
rights of the company must notify both the company and the
Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (the CBFA).
A notification is also required when a person acquires at least
5%, 7.5%(1), 10%, 15%, 20% or any further multiple of 5%
of the total existing voting rights of the company, or when, due
to disposals of securities, the number of voting rights falls
below one of these thresholds.

A list as well as a copy of such notifications can be consulted
on the company’s website (www.nyrstar.com).

(1) The 7.5% threshold will only apply as of 1 September 2008, i.e. the date of the
entering into force of the relevant provisions of the Law of 2 May 2007 on the
disclosure of significant shareholdings in issuers the shares of which are admitted
to trading on a regulated market and containing miscellaneous provisions.
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The authorisation of the board to increase the share capital of
the company through contributions in cash with cancellation
or limitation of the preferential subscription right of the
existing shareholders is suspended as of the notification to the
company by the CBFA of a public takeover bid on the financial
instruments of the company. Further, the board was not
granted the authorisation to purchase own shares to avoid
imminent and serious danger to the company (i.e. to defend
against public takeover bids).

Dividend policy and payment
Nyrstar’s present intention is to recommend to the annual
general meeting an annual gross dividend based on a target
payout ratio of a minimum of 30% of consolidated net profit
after tax.This policy will be reviewed by the board on at least
an annual basis.

No assurance can be given, however, that the company will
make dividend payments in the future. Such payments will
depend upon a number of factors, including our prospects,
strategies, results of operations, earnings, capital requirements
and surplus, general financial conditions, contractual
restrictions and other factors considered relevant by the
board. Pursuant to Belgian law, the calculation of amounts
available for distribution to shareholders, as dividends or
otherwise must be determined on the basis of the company’s
non-consolidated Belgian GAAP financial statements. In
accordance with Belgian company law, the company’s articles
of association also require that the company allocate each
year at least 5% of its annual net profits to its legal reserve,
until the legal reserve equals at least 10% of the company’s
share capital. As a consequence of these factors, there can be
no assurance as to whether dividends or similar payments will
be paid out in the future or, if they are paid, their amount.

Significant agreements that might be affected upon a
change of control
On 19 December 2007, the company entered into a three-year
€350 multi-currency revolving credit facility with a syndicate
of banks.The credit facility was entered into, amongst other
things, in order to refinance a bridging loan taken out at the
creation of Nyrstar. For further information relating to this
credit facility, reference can be made to the press release that
was issued by the company on 14 January 2008, and which is
available on the company’s website.The credit facility provides
(amongst other things) for the possibility of a termination
and/or mandatory early repayment of the facility in whole or
in part in the event of a change of control of the company.
At the company’s annual general meeting on 30 April 2007,
shareholders will be asked to approve the credit facility, as far
as needed and applicable, in accordance with Article 556 of
the Belgian Company Code.

2007 annual general meeting – 30 April 2008
The annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders will take
place in Auditorium Fortis in Brussels on the last Wednesday of
April, i.e. 30 April 2008 at 10.30am. At this meeting shareholders
will be asked to approve the following resolutions:

• Approval of the statutory financial statements for the fiscal
year ended on 31 December 2007, as well as the allocation
of the result as proposed by the board of directors;

• Discharge from liability to each of the directors who were
in office during the previous fiscal year, for the performance
of their mandate during that fiscal year;

• Discharge from liability to the joint statutory auditors
which were in office during the previous fiscal year, for the
performance of its mandate during that fiscal year; and

• Approval of the Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement
entered into by the company on 19 December 2007 as far
as needed and applicable, in accordance with Article 556
of the Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued
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Nyrstar transactional hedging policy results in an increased
EBITDA of €133 million for the 12 months ended
31 December 2007.The modification to reflect the Nyrstar
structural hedging policy results in an increase in EBITDA of
€104 million for the 12 months ended 31 December 2007.

Overall the Modified Pro Forma Financial Information reflects
an increase in EBITDA of €237m. By their nature, these
modified items are based on hypothetical situations and should
therefore not be interpreted as reflecting what would have
happened in past periods and may not be comparable to any
similar information presented by other companies.The bridges
from the Nyrstar 2007 IFRS Consolidated Income Statement to
the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information and from the
Consolidated Pro Forma Financial Information to the Modified
Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year
ended 31 December 2007 are set out on page 93 and page 94
respectively.The joint statutory auditors of the Company have
issued a separate ISAE 3000 report on the Pro Forma
Consolidated Financial Information.

Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in
this annual report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Financial
Information for the 12-month period ended 31 December 2007.
This information is presented solely to facilitate a review of our
operating result. Only the IFRS Consolidated Financial
Statements have been audited, the Pro Forma Consolidated
Financial Information and the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated
Financial Information is unaudited.

Under IFRS 3 (Business Combinations), the creation of
Nyrstar was considered a reverse acquisition through which
the former zinc and lead smelting and alloying business of
Zinifex Limited acquired the zinc smelting and alloying
business of Umicore SA/NV on 31 August 2007.

Consequently the Nyrstar 2007 IFRS Consolidated Financial
Statements set out on pages 46 to 88 reflect the results of:

1. The former zinc and lead smelting and alloying business of
Zinifex Limited (the Zinifex Carve-out Group) for July and
August 2007; and

2. Nyrstar for the period 1 September 2007 to
31 December 2007.

IFRS 3 requires that the comparative period be the last
reporting period of the acquiring group. In this case the
comparative period is that of the Zinifex Carve-out Group
for the period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007.

As a result of the above and in order to provide more
meaningful information to aid analysis and understanding of
Nyrstar’s operating result, Nyrstar has produced unaudited
Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for
the 12-month periods ended 31 December 2007 and 31
December 2006 set out on pages 90 to 101.The unaudited
Modified Pro Forma Financial Information is derived from the
unaudited Pro Forma Information and includes management
modifications to reflect the current transactional and structural
hedging policy of Nyrstar.The modification to reflect the

IMPORTANT NOTE IN RELATION TO THE PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Operations review/finance review: Please refer to pages 46 to
47 of this report. Further information on significant risk and
uncertainties is included on pages 24 to 25. Pages 34 to 37
include further information on non-financial key-performance
indicators relevant to the business, including information in
relation to environmental and employee matters.The Company
values are detailed in the Company code of conduct.

Operating results, financial position and cash flows:
Revenue for the six months ended 31 December 2007 was
€1,486 million, which was down from the comparative €2,391
million figure.The comparative figure represents 12 months
operations of the assets acquired from Zinifex Ltd.The Result
from Operations was €92 million and the underlying Result
from Operations was €84 million (see note 28 on page 81).
Performance in the 6 months to 31 December 2007 was
adversely affected by a decrease in the zinc price over the
period from US$3,546/tonne in July to US$2,352/tonne in
December 2007. Over the same period the US$/€ exchange
rate continued to decline, from €1 being equal to US$1.372
to €1 being equal to US$1.457.The total equity to total
assets ratio is 61% indicating the strong solvency of the
Group.The Group generated strong cash flows during the
period ended 31 December 2007, increasing cash and cash
equivalents from €74.5 million at 30 June 2007 to €198.8
million at 31 December 2007. Note that the proposed dividend
of €40m will be a cash outflow in 2008. Nyrstar has chosen
31 December as the balance sheet date and will consistently
prepare consolidated financial statements covering one-year
periods ending on 31 December.

Previously the Zinifex Carve-out Group entities presented their
annual financial statements with a 30 June balance sheet date.
Based on the Group’s decision to adopt a different reporting
date these annual consolidated financial statements are
presented for a six-month period to 31 December 2007.The
comparative amounts in the income statement, statement of
recognised income and expense, cash flow statement and
related notes are not entirely comparable because they cover a
12-month period to 30 June 2007.

Liquidity position and capital resources: In December 2007
Nyrstar NV concluded a three-year €350 million multi-
currency revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks
(further details provided on page 23).The Group’s net debt
at 31 December 2007 was €155 million.

Important events after the balance sheet date: Please refer
to note 35 on page 87 of this report.

Circumstances with significant impact:There is no
information to be disclosed with regard to circumstances
which may have occurred and which could materially affect
the development of the Group.

Research and development: The Company’s research and
development activities for the Nyrstar Group continued to
be conducted by the Research, Development and Innovation
department of Umicore with whom a service agreement has
been concluded.

Use of financial instruments: Note 27 on page 78 of this
report contains detailed information on the Group’s exposures
to risk and its risk policies.

MANAGEMENT REPORT IN ACCORDANCEWITH ARTICLE 119 OF BELGIAN COMPANY CODE*

* Relates to audited IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For the period ended 

 

Note 

6 months to  
31 December 2007 

€m 

12 months to 
30 June 2007 

€m 

Revenue  6 1,486.2 2,391.3 

Other income  8 11.2 6.4 

Raw materials used   (1,070.9) (1,568.1)

Stores and consumables used   (43.6) (55.6)

Employee benefits expense  9 (91.4) (109.0)

Energy expenses   (53.3) (142.6)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  12 (31.4) (39.6)

Contracting and consulting expenses   (62.8) (56.1)

Freight expense   (35.2) (40.8)

Other expenses   (16.4) (52.8)

Result from operating activities   92.4 333.1 

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)  10 9.4 (14.8)

Finance income  10 3.1 11.0 

Finance expense  10 (12.2) (6.9)

Net financing income / (expense)   0.3 (10.7)

Share of profit of equity accounted investees  14 9.0 6.4 

Profit before income tax   101.7 328.8 

Income tax benefit/(expense)  11 18.4 (42.7)

Profit for the period   120.1 286.1 

Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the parent   121.2 286.1 

Minority interest   (1.1) – 

   120.1 286.1 

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the  
Company during the period (expressed in Euro per share) 

    

– basic   26 1.65 7.1 

– diluted  26 1.55 7.1 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the period ended 

  
 

Note 

6 months to 
31 December 2007 

€m 

12 months to 
30 June 2007

€m 

Foreign currency translation differences  20 (27.3) (12.1)

Defined benefit plans – actuarial gains and losses net of tax   23 – 3.9 

Income/(expense) recognised directly in equity   (27.3) (8.2)

Profit for the period after income tax   120.1 286.1 

Total recognised income and expense for the period  20 92.8 277.9 

Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the parent   93.9 277.9 

Minority interest   (1.1) – 

Total recognised income and expense for the period  20 92.8 277.9 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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As at Note 

31 December 2007 
€m 

30 June 2007 

€m 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 12 801.8 319.8 

Intangible assets 13 256.0 – 

Investments in equity accounted investees 14 103.0 37.4 

Deferred tax assets 15 59.5 37.4 

Other financial assets 16 22.6 – 

  1,242.9 394.6 

Current assets    

Inventories 17 472.6 308.5 

Trade and other receivables 18 288.5 313.3 

Prepayments  8.6 7.4 

Current tax assets  18.2 8.2 

Other financial assets  16 86.1 17.6 

Cash and cash equivalents 19 198.8 74.5 

  1,072.8 729.5 

Total assets  2,315.7 1,124.1 

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    

Share capital and share premium 20 1,255.4 264.6 

Reserves 20 (208.9) 59.9 

Retained earnings 20 360.4 375.1 

  1,406.9 699.6 

Minority interest  13.7 – 

Total equity  1,420.6 699.6 

LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities    

Loans and borrowings 21 311.9 1.2 

Deferred tax liabilities 15 85.7 – 

Provisions 22 116.0 84.0 

Employee benefits 23 26.0 11.9 

Other financial liabilities 16 0.1 – 

  539.7 97.1 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 24 241.6 246.9 

Current tax liabilities  7.7 10.9 

Loans and borrowings 21 41.8 20.8 

Provisions 22 17.9 7.7 

Employee benefits 23 27.0 17.6 

Other financial liabilities  16 19.4 23.5 

  355.4 327.4 

Total liabilities  895.1 424.5 

Total equity and liabilities  2,315.7 1,124.1 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the period ended 

 
Notes 

6 months to 
31 December 2007 

€m 

12 months to 
30 June 2007

€m 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the period  120.1 286.1 

Adjustment to:    

Depreciation and amortisation 12 31.4 39.6 

Income tax expense 11 (18.4) 42.7 

Net finance expense  10 (0.3) 10.7 

Share of profit in equity accounted investees 14 (9.0) (6.4)

Equity settled share based payment transactions 20 0.1 – 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 8 0.1 (0.1)

  124.0 372.6 

Changes in inventories  99.6 (19.2)

Changes in trade and other receivables  173.6 (85.2)

Changes in prepayments  4.7 7.0 

Changes in other financial assets and liabilities  (97.8) (2.2)

Changes in trade and other payables  32.7 23.9 

Change in provisions and employee benefits  (0.9) (12.9)

Interest paid  (8.9) – 

Income tax paid  (27.9) (32.2)

Net cash from operating activities  299.1 251.8 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  12 (42.5) (65.8)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  – 0.2 

Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired-Zinifex Carve-out Group 20 (1,552.6) – 

Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired-Umicore Carve-out Group 7 (914.9) – 

Interest received  5.3 11.0 

Net cash (outflows) from investing activities  (2,504.7) (54.6)

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of share capital 20 2,195.0 – 

Proceeds from borrowings 27 350.0 – 

Repayments of borrowings  (77.5) (175.3)

Distributions to shareholders 20 (135.9) – 

Net cash (outflows) from financing activities  2,331.6 (175.3)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held  126.0 21.9 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 19 74.5 53.5 

Exchange fluctuations  (1.7) (0.9)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 19 198.8 74.5 

NOTE: 

In August 2007, Port Pirie Pty Ltd issued share capital, as reported in note 20, to its former parent, Zinifex Limited, in 
satisfaction of a long-term intercompany loan. 

In preparing the Nyrstar consolidated statement of cash flows, the €106.9 million repayment of the loan and the offsetting cash 
inflow from issuing share capital is netted. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity 
Nyrstar NV (‘Nyrstar’ or the ‘Company’) is a company domiciled in Belgium. The address of the Company’s registered office is 
Zinkstraat 1, 2490 Balen, Belgium. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the six months ended  
31 December 2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group 
entities’) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. 

The Group is primarily involved in the business of zinc and lead smelting and alloying. 

The Company listed its shares on the Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels on 29 October 2007. The listed entity represents a business 
combination of the zinc and lead smelting and alloying business of Zinifex Limited (the ‘Zinifex Carve-out Group’) and the zinc 
smelting and alloying business of Umicore SA/NV (the ‘Umicore Carve-out Group’). 

The costs associated with Nyrstar NV’s Initial Public Offering (IPO) and listing were borne by Nyrstar NV’s former parents 
Zinifex Limited and Umicore NV. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors of Nyrstar NV on 18 March 2008. 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of Nyrstar are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU. These include International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and the related interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), effective at the reporting date and adopted by the European Union. 
The comparative information presented has been restated to comply with the Nyrstar accounting policies set out below. 

(b) Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following: 

• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; 

• Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; and  

• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. 

(c) Acquisition of the Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out Groups 
The business combination of the Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out Groups has been treated as a reverse acquisition in accordance 
with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The Zinifex Carve-out Group has been identified as the acquirer in the context of the 
business combination. The assets and liabilities of the Zinifex Carve-out Group (the acquirer) have therefore been recorded  
at their pre-combination carrying amounts restated to comply with Nyrstar accounting policies, while the assets and liabilities  
of the Umicore Carve-out Group and Nyrstar NV (the acquirees) have been recorded at fair value.  

(d) Reporting period 
Nyrstar has chosen 31 December as the balance sheet date, and will in the future, consistently prepare consolidated financial 
statements covering calendar year periods. Previously, the Zinifex Carve-out Group entities presented the annual financial 
statements with a 30 June balance sheet date. Based on the Group’s decision to adopt a different balance sheet date, these 
annual consolidated financial statements are presented for a six-month period ended 31 December 2007. The comparative 
amounts for the income statement, statement of recognised income and expense, cash flow statement and the related notes  
are not entirely comparable because they cover a 12-month period ended 30 June 2007 of the Zinifex Carve-out Group. 

The Zinifex Carve-out Group comprises the zinc and lead alloying, refining and smelting business of Zinifex Limited (‘Zinifex’). 
The Zinifex Carve-out Group includes Zinifex’s Hobart Refinery business (Australia) and certain legal entities being Port Pirie 
Smelter (Australia), Budel Refinery (Netherlands) and Clarksville Refinery (United States), together with Zinifex’s 50% 
interest in Australia Refined Alloys (which operates lead acid battery recycling facilities in Australia) and 50% interest in 
Genesis Alloys (a joint venture which produces alloys in China). 

(e) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional’ currency). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Euro which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. All financial information has been rounded  
to the nearest hundred thousand. 

(f) Use of estimates and judgement 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It  
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying Nyrstar’s accounting policies. The estimates  
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period  
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if  
the revision affects both current and future periods. Critical accounting estimates and judgements are disclosed in note 4. 



NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 
 

51

2. Basis of preparation continued 

(g) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued not yet effective  
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007:  

• IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures and the complementary amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements-Capital Disclosures, introduces new disclosures relating to financial instruments and does not have any 
impact on the classification and valuation of the Group’s financial instruments, or the disclosures relating to taxation 
and trade and other payables. 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2, requires consideration of transactions involving the issuance of equity instruments, where the 
identifiable consideration received is less than the fair value of the equity instruments issued in order to establish whether  
or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 2. This standard does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

• IFRIC 10, Interim financial reporting and impairment, prohibits the impairment losses recognised in an interim 
period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments and in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed at  
a subsequent balance sheet date. This standard does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Standards and interpretations that were effective but not mandatory at the date these consolidated financial statements  
were authorised for issue. 

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).  

Standards and interpretations that were not adopted by the European Union at the date these consolidated financial statements  
were authorised for issue: 

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations and an amended version of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 
These standards complete the second phase of IASB’s project on business combinations. The new requirements take 
effect prospectively on business combinations occurring in the first accounting period beginning on or after  
1 July 2007, subject to endorsement by the European Union. 

• IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2009, the amendment is still subject to endorsement by the European Union). The amendment will  
affect the presentation of owner changes in equity and of comprehensive income.  

• IAS 23 (Amendment) Borrowing Costs (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, the 
amendment is still subject to endorsement by the European Union). The Group will apply IAS 23 (amended) from  
1 January 2009, but it is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s accounts. 

• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements (applicable for accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008, 
IFRIC 12 is still subject to endorsement by the European Union). IFRIC 12 is not relevant for the Group’s operations.  

• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (applicable for accounting years beginning on or after 1 July 2008, IFRIC 
13 is still subject to endorsement by the European Union). IFRIC 13 is not relevant for the Group’s operations.  

• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction’ 
(applicable for accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008, IFRIC 14 is still subject to endorsement  
by the European Union). The Group has not yet determined the potential impact of the interpretation.  

3. Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities. 

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The reclassification of  
the comparative arises as a result of a change in the method of accounting policy for joint ventures from the proportional 
consolidation method to the equity method. The policy change has no impact on the Group’s net result or net equity. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries 
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group until the date that the control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for subsidiaries in these consolidated financial statements. The assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. The cost  
of acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over Nyrstar’s share of the fair value of 
the net assets of the entity acquired is recorded as goodwill. If Nyrstar’s share in the fair value of the net assets exceeds the  
cost of acquisition, the excess is recognised immediately in profit and loss. Where necessary, the acquired entities’ accounting 
policies have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by Nyrstar. 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence but not control over the financial and operational 
policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another 
entity. Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement 
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. Associates and jointly controlled entities are 
accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are initially recorded at cost. The Group’s investment 
includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.  

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of equity 
accounted investees after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant 
influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.  

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest 
(including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the  
extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

Minority interests 
Minority interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s 
equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see 
below) and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. 

Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity, are allocated against the interests 
of the Group, except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to 
cover the losses. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated financial information of the Nyrstar Group entities. All 
significant intercompany balances and transactions with consolidated businesses have been eliminated. Unrealised gains arising 
from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are recognised during the period in the functional currency of each entity at exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of transaction. The date of a transaction is the date at which the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 
For practical reasons a rate that approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction is used at some Group entities, for 
example, an average rate for the week or the month in which the transactions occur. 

Subsequently, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate at the balance 
sheet date. 

Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement. 

Foreign operations 
The income statement and balance sheet of each Nyrstar operation that has a functional currency different to Euros is translated 
into the presentation currency as follows: 

• Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the end of the financial period; 

• Revenues and expenses are translated at rates approximating the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions; and 

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. 

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are released into the income 
statement upon disposal. 

(c) Financial instruments 
Commodity hedging, via the use of metal futures, is undertaken to reduce the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in commodity 
prices in relation to its unrecognised firm commitments arising from sales contracts. Nyrstar has adopted a policy that it will not 
enter into any speculative commodity hedging.  

Derivatives are initially recognised at their fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into. The method of 
recognising the changes in fair value subsequent to initial recognition is dependent upon whether the derivative is designated as a 
hedging instrument, the nature of the underlying item being hedged and whether the arrangement qualifies for hedge accounting.  

Hedge accounting requires the relationship between the hedging instrument and the underlying hedged item, as well as the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedging transaction to be documented at the inception of the hedge. 
Furthermore, throughout the life of the hedge, the derivative is tested (with the result documented) to determine if the hedge has been or 
will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows associated with the underlying hedged item. 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

Fair value hedges 
A hedge of the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or of a firm commitment, is referred to as a fair value hedge. Changes 
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, are recorded in the income statement, 
together with changes in the fair value of the underlying hedged item attributable to the risk being hedged. 

Cash flow hedges 
A hedge of the fair value of a highly probable forecast transaction is referred to as a cash flow hedge. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised 
outside of the income statement, directly in equity in the hedging reserve. Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges relating 
to the ineffective portion are recorded in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are recycled 
through the income statement in the same period that the underlying hedged item is recorded in the income statement. When a 
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, and the underlying hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
any cumulative gain or loss recognised in the hedging reserve is transferred to the income statement. When a hedge is sold or 
terminated, any gain or loss made on termination is only deferred in the hedging reserve where the underlying hedged 
transaction is still expected to occur. 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that 
does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement. Where an embedded derivative is 
identified and the derivative’s risks and characteristics are not considered to be closely related to the underlying host contract, 
the fair value of the derivative is recognised on the consolidated balance sheet and changes in the fair value of the embedded 
derivative are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

(d) Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads. The cost of self-constructed assets and acquired assets 
includes estimates of the costs of dismantling and removing the assets and restoring the site on which they are located. All items 
of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis. Freehold land is not depreciated. Useful lives are 
based on the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the remaining life of the operation, where the asset is being utilised. 
Depreciation rates are reviewed regularly and reassessed in light of commercial and technological developments. 

Depreciation 
The expected useful lives are the lesser of the life of the operation or as follows: 

• Buildings   40 years 

• Plant and equipment  5–15 years 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items  
of property, plant and equipment. 

Spare parts purchased for particular items of plant, are capitalised and depreciated on the same basis as the plant to which  
they relate. 

Assets under construction  
During the construction phase, self-constructed assets other than inventories and deferred tax assets are classified as 
construction in progress within property, plant and equipment. Once commissioned these assets are reclassified to  
property, plant and equipment and depreciated over their useful life, at which time they will commence being depreciated. 

Major cyclical maintenance expenditure 
Nyrstar recognises in the carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment, the incremental cost of replacing a component  
part of such an item, when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will 
flow to the Company, the cost incurred is significant in relation to the asset and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Accordingly, major overhaul expenditure is capitalised and depreciated over the period in which benefits are expected to accrue 
(typically three to four years). All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated profit and loss during the 
financial period in which the costs are incurred. 

(e) Intangible assets 

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition of a controlled entity, associate or jointly controlled entity over 
Nyrstar’s share in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the acquired entity  
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill in respect of associates and joint ventures is presented in the balance sheet on the line ‘Investments in equity accounted 
investees’, together with the investment itself and tested for impairment as part of the overall balance. 

The excess of Nyrstar’s interest in the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired over the cost of acquisition is recognised 
in the income statement immediately. 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

Research and development costs 
Research costs related to the prospect of gaining new scientific or technological knowledge and understanding are recognised  
in the income statement as an incurred expense. Development costs are defined as costs incurred for the design of new or 
substantially improved products and for the processes prior to commercial production or use. They are capitalised if, among 
others, the following conditions are met: 

• The intangible asset will give rise to future economic benefits, or in other words, the market potential has been  
clearly demonstrated; 

• The expenditures related to the process or product can be clearly identified and reliably measured; and 

• The Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. 

In circumstances where it is difficult to clearly distinguish between research or development costs, the costs are considered as 
being research. If development costs are capitalised they are amortised using a straight-line method over their useful life. 

Other intangible assets 
All of the following types of intangible assets are carried at historical cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses, except for government granted CO2 emission rights which are valued at the prevailing market price at the day of  
the grant: 

• Concessions, patents, licenses: are amortised over the period of their legal protection; 

• Software and related internal development costs: are typically amortised over a period of five years; 

• CO2 emission rights: are not amortised but can be impaired; and 

• Land use rights: are typically amortised over the contractual period. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which 
it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in the income 
statement as incurred. 

(f) Leased assets 
Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership, are classified as finance leases, while 
other leases are classified as operating leases. Finance leases are capitalised with a lease asset and liability equal to the present value of 
the minimum lease payments or fair value, if lower, being recorded at the inception of the lease. Capitalised lease assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term. Each finance lease repayment is allocated 
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.  

Lease payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement over the accounting periods covered by the 
lease term. 

(g) Inventories 
Inventories of finished metals, concentrates and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
selling expenses. By-products inventory on hand obtained as a result of the production process are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring and bringing the stock to its existing condition and 
location and includes an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses, including depreciation and amortisation. 
Stores of consumables and spares are valued at cost with due allowance for obsolescence. Cost of all types of inventories is 
determined on an average cost basis. 

(h) Impairment 

Financial assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A 
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value.  

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised.  
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

Non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at  
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the ‘cash-generating unit’). The goodwill acquired  
in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised  
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that  
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(i) Non-current assets held for sale 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily through  
sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the 
assets (or components of a disposal group) are re-measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, 
generally the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any 
impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata 
basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and employee benefit assets, which 
continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held 
for sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of 
any cumulative impairment loss. 

(j) Employee benefits 

Short-term benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave, are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date, calculated as undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the 
entity expects to pay at the reporting date, including related on-costs, such as payroll tax. Australian annual leave liabilities  
are disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet as provisions while accrued wages and salaries are disclosed as other payables. 

Long-term employee benefits other than pension plans 
A liability for long-term employee benefits is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value 
of expected future payments to be made in respect of service provided by employees up to the balance sheet date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including related on-costs, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match the estimated future cash flows. 

Defined contribution plans 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income 
statement as incurred. 

Defined benefit plans 
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit plans or medical plans is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. This 
liability (or asset) is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value 
of any fund assets belonging to the plan and any unrecognised past service cost. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligations is based on expected future payments that arise from membership of the fund to the balance sheet date. This 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national government bonds with  
terms to maturity and currency that match the estimated future cash flows. Any future taxes that are funded by the entity and 
are part of the provision of the defined benefit obligation are taken into account when measuring the net asset or liability.  
Any movements in the net defined benefit assets or liabilities are recognised in the consolidated income statement during the 
period, except for actuarial gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in the statement of recognised income and expense in the period in  
which they arise. 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

Employee bonuses 
Nyrstar recognises a liability and expense for employee bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation. 

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility  
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy.  

Share-based payment compensation  
The Group operates an employee share acquisition plan and an executive long-term incentive plan, both of which are equity-
settled share-based compensation plans. The fair value of equity instruments granted under the plans are recognised as an 
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase recognised in equity. The fair value is measured at the grant date  
and recognised over the period during which the eligible employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. The amount 
recognised as an employee benefit expense is the independently calculated fair value multiplied by the number of equity 
instruments granted. At each balance sheet date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the estimate of  
the number of equity instruments expected to vest, except where forfeiture is only due to the share price not achieving the 
required target. 

(k) Provisions 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, Nyrstar has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

Workers’ compensation 
Provision is made for outstanding claims, including any incurred but not reported claims, where any controlled entity self-insures 
for risks associated with workers’ compensation. 

Outstanding claims are recognised when an incident occurs and are measured at the cost that the entity expects to incur in 
settling the claims, discounted using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific 
to the liability.  

An independent actuary provides the calculation of the value of outstanding claims. Each period the impact of the unwind of 
discounting is recognised in the income statement as a financing cost. 

Restoration obligations 
In accordance with past practices and applicable legal requirements, provision is made for the anticipated costs of future 
restoration and rehabilitation of smelting and refining sites to the extent that a legal or constructive obligation exists. The 
provision includes costs associated with the dismantling of assets, reclamation, monitoring, water purification and coverage and 
permanent storage of historical residues. The provision is based upon current costs and has been determined on a discounted 
basis with reference to the current legal framework and current technology. Each period the impact of the unwind of discounting 
is recognised in the income statement as a financing cost. Any change in the restoration provision is recorded against the 
carrying value of the provision and the related asset, only to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the restoration expenditure will flow to the entity, with the effect being recognised in the income statement  
on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the relevant operation. The restoration provision is separated into current 
(estimated costs arising within 12 months) and non-current components based on the expected timing of these cash flows. 

(l) Revenue 
Sales revenue is stated on a gross basis, with freight and realisation expenses included in the cost of sales. Sales of metals  
and by-products are only recognised when all of the following conditions have been satisfied:  

• the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership  
nor effective control over the goods sold; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

(m) Finance income and expense 
Financing income includes: 

• Interest income of funds invested 

• Dividend income 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the income statement using the effective interest method. Dividend income  
is recognised in the income statement on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

Financing costs include: 

• Interest on short-term and long-term borrowings; 

• Amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; 

• Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings; 

• Finance lease charges; and 

• The impact of the unwind of discount on long-term provisions for restoration and workers’ compensation. 

Financing costs are calculated using the effective interest method. Financing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended  
use or sale. Other financing costs are expensed as incurred.  

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

(n) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the 
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be 
applied to the temporary differences when they reversed, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on  
different tax entities but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities  
will be realised simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the 
related dividend is recognised.  

(o) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank 
overdrafts are repayable on demand and are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. 
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and deposits at call which are readily 
convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts which are 
recognised at their principal amounts. 

(p) Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group entities prior to the end of the financial year 
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. These amounts are carried  
at amortised cost. 

(q) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables represent amounts owing for goods and services supplied by the Group entities prior to the end of the financial 
period which remain unpaid. They arise from transactions in the normal operating activities of the Group. 

Trade receivables are carried at amortised cost, less any impairment losses for doubtful debts. An impairment loss is recognised 
for trade receivables when collection of the full nominal amount is no longer certain. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration receivable is deferred, the amounts receivable in the future are discounted  
to their present value. 

(r) Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options 
are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effect(s). 
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3. Significant accounting policies continued 

(s) Earnings per share 
Nyrstar presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 
profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit for the period attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. 

(t) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are components of the Group for which discrete financial information is available and evaluated regularly by 
the Group’s Senior Management Team (SMT) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The SMT has 
been identified as the chief operating decision-makers.  

The segment information reported to the SMT (including the measurements of segment profit or loss, segment assets and 
liabilities) is prepared in conformity with the same accounting policies as those described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are allocated to the operating segments to the extent that items of revenue, expense and assets 
can be directly attributed or reasonably allocated to the operating segments. The interrelated segment costs have been allocated 
on a reasonable pro rata basis to the operating segments. Management believes inter-segment pricing is on an arm’s-length 
market basis. 

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
Estimates and judgements used in developing and applying the accounting policies are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity 
and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Nyrstar makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

The critical estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are listed below. 

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Impairment of assets 
The recoverable amount of each ‘cash-generating unit’ is determined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell  
and its value in use. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions such as discount rates, exchange rates, 
commodity prices, future capital requirements and future operating performance. 

Restoration obligations 
Provision is made for the anticipated costs of future restoration and rehabilitation of smelting and refining sites to the extent 
that a legal or constructive obligation exists. These provisions include future cost estimates associated with reclamation, plant 
closures, waste site closures, monitoring, demolition, decontamination, water purification and permanent storage of historical 
residues. These future cost estimates are discounted to their present value. The calculation of these provision estimates requires 
assumptions such as application of environmental legislation, plant closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost 
estimates. A change in any of the assumptions used may have a material impact on the carrying value of restoration provisions.  

Retirement benefit obligations 
An asset or liability in respect of defined benefit pension or medical plans is recognised on the consolidated balance sheet. The 
present value of a defined benefit obligation is dependent upon a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis. 
Nyrstar determines the appropriate discount rate to be used at the end of each year. 

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that  
future taxable profits are available to utilise those temporary differences and losses, and the tax losses continue to be available 
having regard to the nature and timing of their origination and compliance with the relevant tax legislation associated with  
their recoupment.  
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5. Financial risk management 

(a) Overview 
Nyrstar has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk from its use of financial instruments. This note presents 
information relating to Nyrstar’s exposure to each of these risks and the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for  
measuring and managing risk and measuring capital.  

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group,  
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risk faced by the Group. 
The audit committee will be assisted in its oversight role by an internal audit function.  

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of non-payment from any counterparty in relation to sales of goods or metal lease operations. In order to 
manage the credit exposure, Nyrstar has determined a credit policy with credit limit requests, approval procedures, continuous 
monitoring of the credit exposure and dunning procedure in case of delays. 

Trade and other receivables 
Nyrstar’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Management has 
established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the standard 
terms and conditions are offered. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the 
Group only on a prepayment basis. 

Nyrstar provides an allowance for trade and other receivables that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables and investments.  

Guarantees 
Nyrstar’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. At 31 December 2007, no guarantees  
were outstanding (June 2007: nil). 

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that Nyrstar will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

Liquidity risk is being addressed by maintaining a sufficient degree of diversification of funding sources. These include 
committed and uncommitted short-and medium-term bank facilities. 

(d) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect Nyrstar’s income or the value of its investments in financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market exposures within acceptable parameters 
while optimising the return. 

Commodity price risk 
In the normal course of its business, Nyrstar is exposed to risk resulting from fluctuations in the market prices of commodities 
and raw materials. Nyrstar currently engages only in transactional hedging which means that it will undertake short-term 
hedging transactions to cover the timing risk between raw material purchases and sales of metal and to cover its exposure on 
fixed-price forward sales of metal to customers. Transactional hedging arrangements are accounted for in the ‘Other Financial 
Assets’ and the ‘Other Financial Liabilities’ line items of the balance sheet. Any gains or losses realised from hedging 
arrangements are recorded within operating profit. Nyrstar currently does not undertake any structural or strategic hedging 
which means that its results are exposed to fluctuations in zinc, lead and other metal prices. Nyrstar may review its hedging 
policy from time to time. 

Foreign currency exchange risk 
Nyrstar incurs foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the  
Euro, Nyrstar’s functional and reporting currency. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the US dollar and the 
Australian dollar. Foreign currency exchange risk arises when the actual or forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either 
greater or less than the liabilities in that currency. 

(e) Interest rate risk 
Nyrstar incurs interest rate risk primarily on loans and borrowings. The interest rate and terms of repayment of Nyrstar’s loans 
are disclosed in note 21. Nyrstar’s current borrowings are all on a floating rate basis, but it may, in the future, borrow on a 
fixed rate basis. All variable interest rate loans and borrowings have EURIBOR or LIBOR based interest rates. Changes in 
interest rates may impact primary loans and borrowings by changing the levels of required interest payments. 

Management does not have a formal policy of determining how much of Nyrstar’s exposure should be to fixed or variable rates. 
However, at the time of additional debt financing, management will use its judgement to decide whether a fixed or variable rate 
would be more favourable over the expected term. Nyrstar does not currently use derivative financial instruments to reduce 
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. 
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5. Financial risk management continued 

(f) Capital management 
The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and so to 
sustain future development of the business. The board of directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net 
operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests. The board of directors also monitors the 
level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. 

Nyrstar’s present intention is to recommend to the shareholders’ meeting an annual gross dividend based on a target payout ratio  
of a minimum of 30% of consolidated net profit after tax. This policy will be reviewed by the board on at least an annual basis. 

No assurance can be given, however, that the Company will make dividend payments in the future. Such payments will depend upon a 
number of factors, including our prospects, strategies, results of operations, earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general 
financial conditions, contractual restrictions and other factors considered relevant by the board. Pursuant to Belgian law, the 
calculation of amounts available for distribution to shareholders, as dividends or otherwise, must be determined on the basis of the 
Company’s non-consolidated Belgian GAAP financial statements. In accordance with Belgian company law, the Company’s articles  
of association also require that the Company allocate each year at least 5% of its annual net profits to its legal reserve, until the legal 
reserve equals at least 10% of the Company’s share capital. As a consequence of these factors, there can be no assurance as to whether 
dividends or similar payments will be paid out in the future or, if they are paid, their amount. 

The Company has established an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (‘ESAP’) and an Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 
(‘LTIP’) (together referred to as the ‘Plans’) with a view to attracting, retaining and motivating the employees and senior 
management of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The key terms of each Plan are set out below in note 25.  
On 1 November 2007, Nyrstar announced that a grant of Employee Awards under the ESAP was made to all full-time and 
permanent part-time employees of the Group. No shares were granted under the LTIP as at 31 December 2007. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

6. Segment reporting 
The Group has identified the following operating segments on the basis of the principal business activities and economic 
environments in which it operates.  

• Hobart Smelter – The Hobart smelter is a large-scale electrolytic zinc refinery located on the Derwent River in 
Tasmania’s capital city, Hobart. A significant portion of Hobart’s zinc output is converted into high-value die cast 
alloy for sale into Asia, particularly China. 

• Port Pirie Smelter – The Port Pirie smelter is located on the eastern side of the Spencer Gulf in South Australia, 
approximately 200 kilometres north of Adelaide, South Australia. Port Pirie is the world’s largest primary lead 
smelting facility and a leading global silver producer. The majority of Port Pirie’s lead output is exported, primarily 
to Asia. 

• Clarksville Refinery – The Clarksville refinery is located on the Cumberland River close to Clarksville, Tennessee, in 
the United States of America. Clarksville is a mid-scale electrolytic zinc refinery producing zinc and zinc alloys and 
supplying customers in the mid-west United States. 

• Budel Smelter – The Budel smelter is located at Budel Dorplein in the Netherlands, close to the Belgian border. It is  
a large-scale electrolytic zinc refinery producing zinc and zinc alloys for the European market. 

• Auby Smelter – The Auby smelter is located in the town of Auby in the north of France. Auby is a mid-sized plant and 
using electrolytic smelting to produce zinc cathodes. Unlike other zinc smelting sites, the Auby smelter completes its 
product at the cathode stage (rather than casting into ingots) before selling on to its customers.  

• Balen Smelter – The Balen smelter is a large-sized electrolytic zinc smelter that also incorporates the die casting and 
alloying operations in Overpelt and a sales office in Germany. Approximately one-third of the zinc cathodes produced 
by the Balen smelter are melted and cast on-site to produce alloys and SHG zinc. The remaining cathodes are 
transported to Overpelt to produce other alloy products.  

• Chinese Operations – Nyrstar’s Chinese Operations include Nyrstar Yunnan, Föhl China and Genesis Alloys. These 
entities are involved in the production of SHG zinc, die casting parts and die casting alloys respectively. Nyrstar has  
a 60% interest in Nyrstar Yunnan and 50% interests in both Föhl China and Genesis. 

• Other Operations – Other Operations combines the operations based in Thailand (Padaeng), Australia Refined Alloys 
(ARA) and France (Galva 45 and GM-Metal). Padaeng is the most significant of these operations and is involved with 
open cut mining and electrolytic smelting to produce SHG zinc and alloys. The remaining entities are involved in (in 
order as listed above) lead and lead alloys, galvanized products and die casting alloys. This segment also includes 
unallocated items. 

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of ’Result from 
operating activities’. Sales to each individual customer (group of customers under the common control) of the Group did not 
exceed 10% with the exception of sales to Trafigura, which accounted for 29.2% of the Group’s total lead and zinc sales. 
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6. Segment reporting continued 

(a) A split by investee is provided in note 14.

 
 
 
Period to 31 December 2007 

 
 
 

Note 

Auby
Smelter

€m 

Balen
 Smelter 

€m 

Budel
 Smelter 

€m 

Clarksville 
Refinery 

€m 

Hobart
 Smelter 

€m 

Port 
Pirie 

Smelter
€m 

 
Chinese 

Operations 
€m 

 
Other 

Operations 
€m 

Eliminations
€m 

Total
€m 

Revenue from external 
customers 

 
91.5 260.2 299.0 130.2 298.9 343.8 

 
42.3 

 
20.3 0.0 1,486.2 

Inter-segment revenue  13.1 70.5 12.9 – 0.9 0.8 – 3.8 (102.0) – 

Total segment revenue  104.6 330.7 311.9 130.2 299.8 344.6 42.3 24.1 (102.0) 1,486.2 

Other income  0.4 5.8 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.7 0.4 3.6 0.0 11.2 

Changes in inventories  0.5 (0.5) (2.0) 0.6 (0.7) (2.2) – (0.8) 0.0 (5.1)

Raw materials  (87.1) (245.0) (201.8) (93.5) (228.4) (259.2) (38.0) (15.1) 102.3 (1,065.8)

Stores and consumables  (2.8) (9.3) (7.4) (4.3) (8.5) (9.6) (1.5) (0.2) 0.0 (43.6)

Employee benefits expense  (8.1) (11.7) (13.3) (7.1) (14.2) (19.3) (1.2) (16.5) 0.0 (91.4)

Energy expenses  (6.7) (15.7) (29.1) (7.7) 25.4 (15.3) (3.6) (0.6) 0.0 (53.3)

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 

 
(4.7) (6.0) (3.5) (1.9) (7.9) (6.3)

 
(0.5) 

 
(0.6) 0.0 (31.4)

Contracting and consulting 
expense 

 
(6.5) (7.5) (8.8) (2.9) (9.2) (11.6)

 
(0.5) 

 
(15.8) 0.0 (62.8)

Freight expense  (2.0) (5.9) (3.3) (3.0) (16.6) (1.5) – (2.6) (0.3) (35.2)

Other expenses  (2.0) (10.4) (3.5) (4.5) (5.7) (8.6) (0.4) 18.7 0.0 (16.4)

Profit from operating 
activities  

 
(14.4) 24.5 39.2 6.0 34.2 11.7 

 
(3.0) 

 
(5.8) – 92.4 

Net foreign exchange 
gain/(loss) 

          
9.4 

Financing income/(expense)           (9.1)

Net financing 
income/(expense) 

          
0.3 

Share of profit/(loss) of 
equity accounted investees(a) 

          
9.0 

Profit/(loss) before  
income tax 

          
101.7 

Income tax benefit/ 
(expense) 

          
18.4 

Profit for the period           120.1 

            

Segment assets  305.9 1,438.9 298.5 87.5 243.4 274.8 78.2 480.9 (892.4) 2,315.7 

Segment liabilities  (144.6) (170.2) (106.6) (42.0) (37.2) (44.7) (24.6) (1,217.6) 892.4 (895.1)

Net assets  161.3 1,268.7 191.9 45.5 206.2 230.1 53.6 (736.7) – 1,420.6 

            

Investments in associates  – – – – – – 8.5 94.5 – 103.0 

Capital expenditures and 
major cyclical maintenance 

 
12 (6.5) (5.6) (3.2) (6.2) (7.7) (10.3)

 
(0.6) 

 
(2.4) 0.0 (42.5)
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6. Segment reporting continued 

(a) A split by investee is provided in note 14. 

 
 
 
Period to 30 June 2007 

 
 
 

Note 

 
Auby 

Smelter 
€m 

 
Balen 

Smelter 
€m 

Budel
Smelter

€m 

Clarksville 
Refinery

€m 

Hobart
Smelter

€m 

Port 
Pirie 

Smelter
€m 

Chinese 
Operations

€m 

 
Other 

Operations 
€m 

Eliminations
€m 

Total
€m 

Revenue from external 
customers 

  
– 

 
– 792.5 350.0 744.3 504.5 – 

 
– – 2,391.3 

Inter-segment revenue  – – 11.7 3.6 37.6 1.1 – – (54.0) – 

Total segment revenue  – – 804.2 353.6 781.9 505.6 – – (54.0) 2,391.3 

Other income  – – (0.1) – 0.2 0.9 – 5.4 – 6.4 

Changes in inventories  – – 2.2 0.4 (0.6) (2.0) – – – – 

Raw materials  – – (513.5) (262.3) (513.6) (332.7) – – 54.0 (1,568.1)

Stores and consumables   – – (13.6) (9.4) (15.2) (17.4) – – – (55.6)

Employee benefits expense  – – (28.6) (15.1) (27.2) (35.0) – (3.1) – (109.0)

Energy expenses  – – (65.0) (15.2) (31.8) (30.6) – – – (142.6)

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 

 – – (6.5) (5.3) (15.7) (12.1) – – – (39.6)

Contracting and consulting 
expense 

 – – (13.7) (5.9) (16.6) (19.2) – (0.7) – (56.1)

Freight expense  – – (6.5) (7.6) (17.3) (4.2) – (5.2) – (40.8)

Other expenses  – – (10.3) (9.2) (14.7) (22.1) – 3.5 – (52.8)

Profit from operating activities  – – 148.6 24.0 129.4 31.2 – (0.1) – 333.1 

Net foreign exchange 
gain/(loss) 

  
– 

 
– – – – – – 

 
– – (14.8)

Financing income/(expense)  – – – – – – – – – 4.1 

Net financing income/(expense)           (10.7)

Share of profit/(loss) of equity 
accounted investees(a) 

  
– 

 
– – – – – – 

 
– – 6.4 

Profit/(loss) before  
income tax 

  
– 

 
– – – – – – 

 
– – 328.8 

Income tax (expense)  – – – – – – – – – (42.7)

Profit for the period  – – – – – – – – – 286.1 

          

Segment assets  – – 339.8 109.2 332.6 289.0 – 54.6 (1.1) 1,124.1 

Segment liabilities  – – (121.6) (51.6) (88.5) (159.5) – (4.4) 1.1 (424.5)

Net assets  – – 218.2 57.6 244.1 129.5 – 50.2 – 699.6 

            

Investment in associates  – – – – – – 1.1 36.3 – 37.4 

Capital expenditures and major 
cyclical maintenance 

 
12 

 
– 

 
– 9.5 7.2 18.9 32.4 – 

 
– – 68.0 
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7. Acquisitions of subsidiaries and minority interests 

Business combination 
Nyrstar was incorporated in Belgium on 13 April 2007. Since its incorporation, Nyrstar has acquired the zinc and lead  
smelting and alloying business of Zinifex Limited and the zinc smelting and alloying business of Umicore SA / NV (‘Umicore’). 
Based on the provisions of IFRS 3, Business Combinations the acquisition by Nyrstar of the Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out 
Groups has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition. Considering the relative sizes of the net assets and operations of the 
businesses respectively contributed by Zinifex and by Umicore to the Company, the Zinifex Carve-out Group has been identified 
as the acquirer for accounting purposes while Nyrstar and the Umicore Carve-out Group have been considered as the acquirees 
for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the Zinifex Carve-out Group have been accounted for in the 
Group’s Consolidated Statements based on their pre-combination carrying amounts, restated to comply with the Nyrstar 
accounting policies, while the assets and liabilities of Nyrstar and the Umicore Carve-out Group have been recorded at their  
fair values. The acquisition of the Umicore Carve-out Group occurred on 31 August 2007. 

A list of the entities that form the Nyrstar and Umicore Carve-out Group is included in note 34. 

The acquisition of Nyrstar and the Umicore Carve-out Group had the following provisional effect on the Group’s assets and 
liabilities at the acquisition date: 
 

 
Note 

Pre-acquisition 
carrying amounts 

Fair value 
adjustments 

Recognised values 
on acquisition 

Property, plant and equipment 12 138.3 343.7 482.0 

Intangible assets 13 1.2 – 1.2 

Investments in equity accounted investees 14 27.5 31.1 58.6 

Inventories  203.3 75.7 279.0 

Prepayments  6.4 – 6.4 

Trade and other receivables  275.3 – 275.3 

Cash and cash equivalents  20.5 – 20.5 

Other financial assets  2.9 1.3 4.2 

Loans and borrowings  (58.0) – (58.0)

Deferred tax liabilities  15 50.6 (142.0) (91.4)

Provisions/Employee benefits  (71.9) – (71.9)

Trade and other payables  (203.8) – (203.8)

Other financial liabilities  (6.8) – (6.8)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities  385.5 309.8 695.3 

Minority interests    14.7 

Net assets acquired    680.6 

Goodwill on acquisition 13   254.8 

Consideration paid, satisfied in cash     935.4 

Cash acquired    (20.5)

Net cash outflow    914.9 

The pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable IFRSs immediately before the acquisition.  
The values of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values. 

The goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Nyrstar and the Umicore Carve-out Group is attributable mainly to the synergies 
realised in amalgamating the Umicore and Zinifex asset portfolios to form the world’s largest zinc and lead smelter. The 
synergies include the ability to leverage core capabilities, take advantage of a multi-faceted skill base, the realisation of 
economies of scale and enable Nyrstar to take a leading role in shaping the industry by facilitating and contributing to  
industry consolidation. 

Establishment costs of €18 million were incurred by Nyrstar NV prior to the business combination. Establishment costs include 
the incorporation of Nyrstar NV, the establishment of regional and corporate offices and the recruitment of key personnel. As 
the establishment costs were incurred pre-business combination by Nyrstar NV, an aquiree under the business combination, the 
assets and liabilities arising from the establishment costs formed part of the acquired assets and liabilities. These assets and 
liabilities were allocated to the Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out Group to determine the amounts of goodwill and reverse 
acquisition reserve recognised in the Group’s consolidated accounts.  

A summary of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated is provided in note 13. 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2007, management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been  
€1,702.4 million and the result from operating activities for the six-month period ended 31 December 2007 would have  
been €86.4 million. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose  
on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2007. 
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8. Other income 
 
Recognised in the income statement 

Dec 2007 
€m 

June 2007
€m 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.1) 0.1 

Other  11.3 6.3 

 11.2 6.4 

9. Employee benefits expense 
 
Recognised in the income statement 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Wages and salaries (75.8) (98.4)

Compulsory social security contributions (10.1) (5.1)

Contributions to defined contribution plans  (2.8) (2.7)

Increase in liability for long-service leave (2.8) (1.7)

Expenses related to defined benefit plans 0.1 (1.1)

 (91.4) (109.0)

The workforce at Nyrstar’s operations comprised of 3,865 employees with approximately 72% of our total personnel employed 
in production and the remainder employed in management (approximately 6%), specialist roles (approximately 11%) and in 
administrative roles (approximately 11%).  

10. Finance income and expense 
 
Recognised in the income statement 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Finance income   

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 3.1 11.0 

 3.1 11.0 

Finance expense   

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (9.3) (4.4)

Unwind of discount in provisions  (2.5) (2.5)

Other finance charges (0.4) – 

 (12.2) (6.9)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 9.4 (14.8)

Net financing income/(expense) 0.3 (10.7)

11. Income tax expense 

(a) Income tax expense recognised in the income statement 
 Dec 2007  

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Current tax (expense) (11.9) (84.4)

Deferred tax benefit 30.3 41.7 

Income tax benefit (expense) 18.4 (42.7)

  

Reconciliation of deferred income tax benefit:  

Deferred tax benefit included in income tax expense comprises:  

Increase in deferred tax assets 18.7 2.8 

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities 11.6 38.9 

 30.3 41.7 
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11. Income tax expense continued 

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax 
rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: 

  
 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Profit before income tax   101.7 328.8 

Tax at aggregated weighted average tax rate   (26.7) (97.2)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:    

Notional interest deduction  10.3 – 

Non-taxable amounts  0.1 20.1 

Other  (0.9) (1.3)

  (17.2) (78.4)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses  9.6 34.3 

Adjustment to deferred tax balances on acquisition(i)  28.8 – 

(Under) provision for previous years  – (0.4)

Net adjustment to deferred tax balances due to tax rate decrease in foreign jurisdiction   – 1.8 

Share of income tax of equity accounted investees  (2.8) – 

Income tax benefit (expense)  18.4 (42.7)

(i) Upon the acquisition of the Hobart smelting assets, the tax base of the assets was restated to the fair value of the assets.  
This resulted in the recognition of a €30 million tax benefit in the Group’s income statement for the six-month period to  
31 December 2007 and a corresponding deferred tax asset attributable to the temporary difference in the Group’s consolidated 
balance sheet. 

The weighted average effective tax rate is 18%. 

(c) Income tax recognised directly in equity 
  Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Income tax expense recognised on share based payments   0.1 – 

Total income tax expense recognised directly in equity  0.1 – 
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12. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 Note 

Land and  
buildings  

€m 

Plant and 
equipment 

€m 

Leased plant and 
equipment 

€m 
Cyclical maintenance 

€m 

Under 
construction  

€m 

Total 

€m 

31 December 2007        

Cost or deemed cost  86.5 741.2 2.5 31.8 58.9 920.9 

Accumulated depreciation   (3.4) (92.4) (1.2) (22.1) – (119.1)

Carrying amounts   83.1 648.8 1.3 9.7 58.9 801.8 

        

Reconciliation of carrying amounts:        

Opening 1 July 2007  29.0 239.0 1.8 12.7 37.3 319.8 

Acquisitions through business 
combinations 

7 50.6 412.8 – 0.2 18.4 482.0 

Additions  0.3 10.2 – 0.6 31.4 42.5 

Transfers   4.8 22.9 – 1.3 (28.8) 0.2 

Disposals  – (0.3) – – – (0.3)

Depreciation   (0.6) (25.8) – – – (26.4)

Amortisation   – – (0.4) (4.6) – (5.0)

Exchange difference  (1.0) (10.0) (0.1) (0.5) 0.6 (11.0)

Closing   83.1 648.8 1.3 9.7 58.9 801.8 

 
30 June 2007        

Cost or deemed cost  31.9 310.8 2.6 32.7 37.3 415.3 

Accumulated depreciation   (2.9) (71.8) (0.8) (20.0) – (95.5)

Carrying amounts   29.0 239.0 1.8 12.7 37.3 319.8 

Reconciliation of carrying amounts:        

Opening 1 July 2006  23.5 203.0 – 12.0 28.7 267.2 

Additions  0.3 – – 3.0 64.7 68.0 

Transfers   0.1 45.6 2.5 9.7 (57.8) 0.1 

Disposals  – (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Depreciation   (0.7) (25.6) (0.7) – – (27.0)

Amortisation   – – – (12.6) – (12.6)

Exchange difference  5.8 16.1 – 0.6 1.7 24.2 

Closing   29.0 239.0 1.8 12.7 37.3 319.8 

13. Intangible assets 
 

Note 
Goodwill 

 €m 

Patents and 
trademarks €m 

Total 

€m 

31 December 2007     

Cost   254.8 1.2 256.0 

Accumulated amortisation   – – – 

Carrying amounts  254.8 1.2 256.0 

Reconciliation of carrying amounts:     

Opening 1 July 2007  – – – 

Acquisitions through business combinations 7 254.8 1.2 256.0 

Closing  254.8 1.2 256.0 

The Group held no intangible assets as at 30 June 2007. 
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13. Intangible assets continued 
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) according to the segments level summary below: 
 
 
Cash Generating Units 

Dec 2007 
 €m 

Jun 2007  

€m 

Auby Smelter 20.2 – 

Balen Smelter 183.3 – 

Budel Smelter 25.7 – 

Clarksville Refinery 0.2 – 

Chinese Operations 20.9 – 

Other Operations 4.5 – 

 254.8 – 

Management tests goodwill for impairment annually or when there are indicators of impairment present in accordance with the 
accounting policy outlined in note 2. The recoverable amounts of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated have been determined 
based on value-in-use calculations, by means of discounted cash flow modelling on the basis of the Group’s operational plans.  
The smelting operations are considered to be perpetual operations and therefore cashflows over a 35-year period are used in the 
value-in-use calculations. The weighted average cost of capital, which is used as a discounting factor was 7.5% and metal prices 
and exchange rates used to forecast future earnings were based on the average of forecasts provided by industry analysts and 
Consensus Economics Inc. 

As at 31 December 2007, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceeded the CGUs’ carrying values. 

14. Investments in equity accounted investees 
  

Note 
Dec 2007 

 €m 
Jun 2007  

€m 

    

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period  37.4 31.0 

    

Movements of the period:    

Acquisitions through business combinations 7 58.6 - 

Share of profit   9.0 6.4 

Exchange difference  (2.0) – 

Carrying amount at the end of the period  103.0 37.4 

Summary financial information for equity accounted investees, adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group, is  
as follows: 

In €m Note Ownership % Total assets Total liabilities Revenues Profit / (loss) 

June 2007       

ARA (Joint venture)  50.0 17.9 (16.2) 21.4 6.4 

Genesis (Joint venture)  50.0 10.7 (8.2) 45.5 – 

 6  26.9 (24.4) 66.9 6.4 

December 2007       

ARA (Joint venture)  50.0 17.8 (21.0) 23.3 9.5 

Genesis (Joint venture)  50.0 5.4 (4.1) 48.9 (0.1)

Padaeng (Associate)  24.9 152.6 (20.7) 71.9 (0.5)

Föhl China (Associate)  50.0 1.0 (0.7) 0.5 0.1 

 6  176.8 (46.5) 144.6 9.0 

During the six months ended 31 December 2007, Nyrstar acquired 24.9% of Padaeng Industry Public Company Limited and 
50% of Föhl China Co. through its acquisition of the Umicore Carve-out Group. Padaeng is a publicly listed company, whilst  
all other equity accounted investees are unlisted. 
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15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.  

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of temporary differences attributable to: 

 
Jun 2007 

€m 
Recognised in profit 

and loss Recognised in equity Reclassification (a) 
Acquired in business 

combinations 
Dec 2007

€m 

Employee benefits 6.3 1.7 –  2.7 10.7 

Environmental 
provisions 

– 5.0 –  4.8 9.8 

Other provisions – 0.9 –  – 0.9 

Embedded derivatives 1.4 (13.3) – (0.2) (12.1)

Restoration provisions – 9.9 –  – 9.9 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

– 16.5 – (118.2) (101.7)

Inventories 0.8 28.3 – (26.6) 2.5 

MTM position – (5.2) –  5.2 – 

Share based payments – – 0.1  – 0.1 

Tax credit notional 
interest deduction 

– 3.9 –  2.2 6.1 

Tax losses carried 
forward 

27.9 (14.3) – (2.6) 36.0 47.0 

Other  1.0 (3.1) –  2.7 0.6 

 37.4 30.3 0.1 (2.6) (91.4) (26.2)

Deferred tax assets 37.4    59.5 

Deferred tax liabilities –     (85.7)

(a) The current tax liability of the ARA joint venture was offset against the deferred tax losses of Port Pirie Smelter ARA’s parent. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
 Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Unused tax losses 63.3 53.9 

Potential tax benefit @ aggregated weighted average tax rate 19.4 16.2 

The available tax losses carried forward do not have an expiration date. 
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16. Other financial assets and liabilities 
 
 

 
 

Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Current assets    

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges (a) 1.9 8.3 

Fair value of underlying hedged risk  (a) 9.1 9.3 

Commodity contracts – held for trading  15.1 – 

Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading  42.1 – 

Embedded derivatives (b) 17.9 – 

  86.1 17.6 

Non-current assets    

Fair value of underlying hedged risk (a) 0.1 – 

Embedded derivatives (b) 22.5 – 

  22.6 – 

Current liabilities    

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges (a) 8.9 10.3 

Fair value of underlying hedged risk (a) 2.0 8.3 

Commodity contracts – held for trading  0.5 – 

Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading  5.9 – 

Embedded derivatives (b) 2.1 4.9 

Total current other financial liabilities  19.4 23.5 

Non-current liabilities    

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges (a) 0.1  

 

(a) Instruments used by Nyrstar to manage exposure to currency and commodity price risk  
The fair value of derivatives hedging fixed forward sales contracts resulted in a payable of €7.0 million (30 June 2007:  
€2.0 million) being recognised on the balance sheet with an offsetting asset of €7.1 million (30 June 2007: €1.0 million)  
being the fair value of the underlying hedged items attributable to the risk being hedged. 

The Group’s exposure to currency and commodity risk related to Other financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 27.  

(b) Embedded derivatives  
Where an embedded derivative is identified and the derivative’s risks and characteristics are not considered to be closely related 
to the underlying host contract, the fair value of the derivative is recognised on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet and 
changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative are recognised in the consolidated income statement. The fair value of  
the embedded derivative has been measured using the standard binomial method.  

As at 31 December 2007 a net amount of €40.4 million and €2.1 million (30 June 2007: nil and €4.9 million) was recognised 
respectively within non-current and current Other financial assets and liabilities. The change in fair value during the year ended 
31 December 2007 of €45.7 million (30 June 2007 €3.4 million) was recognised in the income statement within energy 
expenses. 

17. Inventories 
  Dec 2007

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Raw materials  244.5 152.5 

Work in progress  131.0 96.1 

Finished goods  69.3 46.5 

Stores and consumables  27.8 13.4 

Total inventories  472.6 308.5 

Inventories of finished metals, concentrates and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In the 
six-months to 31 December 2007 the write down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to €0.6 million. 
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18. Trade and other receivables 
 

Note 
Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Trade receivables   242.1 206.7 

Less: Provision for receivables impairment   (3.0) (2.1)

Trade receivables, net  239.1 204.6 

Other receivables from net related parties – interest bearing 31 16.4 105.2 

Other receivables   33.0 3.5 

Total trade and other receivables  288.5 313.3 

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 27. 

19. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
Dec 2007  

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Cash at bank and on hand  72.1 74.5 

Short-term bank deposits  126.7 – 

Total cash and cash equivalents  198.8 74.5 

Cash at bank or on hand and short-term deposits earned a weighted average interest rate of 4.62% on US dollar denominated 
deposits and 3.91% on Euro denominated deposits. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 27. 

20 Capital and reserves 

Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves 

 

 

 

 
 

Share capital 
€m 

Share 
premium 

€m 

Translation 
reserve 

€m 

Reverse 
acquisition

reserve 
€m 

Retained 
earnings

€m 

 
 

Total 
€m 

 
Minority 
interest 

€m 
Total equity 

€m 

Balance at 1 July 2006  264.6  72.0 85.1 421.7 – 421.7 

Total recognised  
income and expense 

 –  (12.1) 290.0 277.9 – 277.9 

Balance at 30 June 2007  264.6  59.9  375.1 699.6 – 699.6 

         

Balance at 1 July 2007  264.6  59.9 375.1 699.6 – 699.6 

Total recognised income and 
expense 

   (27.3)  121.2 93.9 (1.1) 92.8 

Issuance of shares by Zinifex 
Carve-out Group (pre-
acquisition) 

 106.9    106.9 – 106.9 

Dividends/return to equity 
holders 

    (135.9) (135.9) – (135.9)

Reverse acquisition of Zinifex 
Carve-out Group 

    (241.5)  (241.5) – (241.5)

Issuance of ordinary shares by 
Nyrstar 

 805.3 78.5   883.8 – 883.8 

Acquisition of minority interest      – 14.8 14.8 

Share-based payments  0.1    0.1  0.1 

Balance at 31 December 2007  1,176.9 78.5 32.6 (241.5) 360.4 1,406.9 13.7 1,420.6 
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20. Capital and reserves continued 

(a) Share capital and share premium 
As explained in note 7, based on the provisions of IFRS 3 Business Combinations the Group’s share capital under a reverse 
acquisition equates to that of the accounting acquirer plus any capital issued to acquire the accounting acquiree. Therefore the 
share capital and premium disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2007 represents the combined 
share capital of the Zinifex Carve-out Group, €371.5 million plus the issuance of share capital to acquire the Nyrstar and 
Umicore Carve-out Group, €883.8 million. 

As at 31 December 2007 the authorised share capital of Nyrstar NV comprised of 100 million ordinary shares with a par value 
of €20 and a share premium of €1.95. All authorised shares are fully paid and were issued during the six months ended 
31 December 2007. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

No shares in the Company are held by the Company or its subsidiaries or associates.  

(b) Translation reserve 
Foreign currency differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign controlled entities as well as the 
translation are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in accounting policy note 3(b). 

(c) Reverse acquisition reserve 
As mentioned in note 2, the business combination of the Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out Groups has been treated as a reverse 
acquisition in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The Zinifex Carve-out Group has been identified as the acquirer 
in the context of the business combination. The assets and liabilities of the Zinifex Carve-out Group (the acquirer) have 
therefore been recorded at their pre-combination carrying amounts restated to comply with Nyrstar accounting policies, while 
the assets and liabilities of the Umicore Carve-out Group and Nyrstar NV (the acquirees) have been recorded at fair value.  

The reverse acquisition reserve of €241.5 million, presented as a separate component of equity is made-up as follows: 
 Dec 2007 

 €m 

Parent company’s carrying value of investment (purchase price to acquire Zinifex Carve-out Group) 1,552.6 

Carrying value of the shares of Nyrstar acquired (1,311.1)

Reverse acquisition reserve 241.5 

(d) Return to equity holders (dividends) 
In August 2007, Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) BV declared and paid a €60 million interim dividend to its former parent Zinifex (UK) 
Ltd. 

In August 2007, prior to the legal formation of the Nyrstar business combination, the Hobart smelter business unit distributed 
surplus cash of €75.9 million to its former owner Zinifex Australia Limited.  

(e) Disclosure of the shareholders’ structure 
The Group’s major shareholders based on notifications of significant shareholdings received as at 31 December are: 
 
 
Shareholder’s name 

 
Shareholder’s address 

Date of 
notification 

Number of voting 
rights 

% 

Shareholding 

BlackRock Group 33 King William Street, London EC4R 9AS 29/10/2007 8,133,373 8.1% 

Zinifex Limited Level 29, Freshwater Place, 2 Southbank Boulevard, 
Southbank, VIC 3006 

3/12/2007 7,791,622 7.8% 

FIL Limited Pembroke Hall, 42 Crow Lane, Hamilton, HMCX, Bermuda 5/11/2007 7,019,100 7.0% 

Umicore N.V Broekstraat 31, 1000 Brussel – Belgium 3/12/2007 5,251,856 5.3% 

Lansdowne Partners 
LP 

15 Davies Street, London W1K 3AG 29/10/2007 5,200,000 5.2% 

Ospraie Managament 
LLC 

320 Park Avenue, Floor 27, New York, New York 10022 9/11/2007 5,055,000 5.1% 

Greenlight Capital Inc 140 East 45th Street, 24th Floor, New York, New York 
10017 

20/12/2007 5,007,109 5.0% 

   43,458,060 43.5% 
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21. Loans and borrowings 
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are 
measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity 
risk see note 27. 

 
 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Non-current    

Unsecured bank loans  311.3 – 

Finance lease liabilities  0.6 1.2 

  311.9 1.2 

Current    

Current portion of unsecured bank loans  21.5 – 

Loans from associate  19.6 20.1 

Finance lease liabilities  0.7 0.7 

  41.8 20.8 

Terms and debt repayment schedule 
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows: 

    Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007 
€m 

  
Currency  

Nominal interest 
rate Year of maturity Face value Carrying amount 

 
Face value Carrying amount 

Unsecured bank loan EUR EURIBOR + 
47.5bp 

2010 312.0 311.3 – – 

Unsecured bank loan RMB 5.9% 2008 19.5 19.5 – – 

Loan from associate AUD Non-Interest 
bearing 

2008 19.6 19.6 20.1 20.1 

Finance lease liabilities AUD 9.37% 2009 1.3 1.3 1.9 1.9 

Other  EUR Non-Interest 
bearing 

2008 2.0 2.0 – – 

 

Total interest bearing liabilities    354.4 353.7 22.0 22.0 

Finance lease liabilities 
 Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:   

Within one year 0.9 1.1 

Later than one year but not later than five years 0.4 1.1 

More than five years – – 

 1.3 2.2 

Future finance charges – (0.3)

Recognised as a liability 1.3 1.9 

The Group’s exposure to liquidity and currency risk related to loans and borrowings is disclosed in note 27. 
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22. Provisions 
 Current portion Non-current portion 

 
Restoration 

Workers’ 
compensation Other Total 

 
Restoration 

Workers’ 
compensation 

 

Total 

31 December 2007        

Carrying amount at start of period 5.1 2.6 – 7.7 80.5 3.5 84.0 

Acquisition through business 
combinations 

6.8 – 1.1 7.9 36.9 – 36.9 

Payments/other sacrifices of economic 
benefits 

– (1.1) – (1.1) (2.9) – (2.9)

Additional provisions – 0.3 – 0.3 3.0 0.2 3.2 

Transfers 3.2 – – 3.2 (5.6) – (5.6)

Unwind of discount – – – – 2.8 – 2.8 

Exchange differences – (0.1) – (0.1) (2.3) (0.1) (2.4)

Carrying amount at end of period 15.1 1.7 1.1 17.9 112.4 3.6 116.0 

 
 Current portion Non-current portion 

 
Restoration 

Workers’
 compensation Total 

 
Restoration 

Workers’ 
compensation Total 

30 June 2007       

Carrying amount at start of period 5.2 2.2 7.4 77.2 3.6 80.8 

Payments/other sacrifices of 
economic benefits 

– (2.3) (2.3) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)

Additional provisions – 2.7 2.7 – – – 

Transfers –  – – – – 

Unwind of discount – – – 2.5 0.1 2.6 

Exchange differences (0.1) – (0.1) 0.9 (0.1) 0.8 

Carrying amount at end of period 5.1 2.6 7.7 80.5 3.5 84.0 

Restoration work on the projects provided for is estimated to occur progressively over the next 15 years, whilst worker 
compensation payments made by self-insured operations will continue over the life of the operations. All other provisions will be 
satisfied within the next 12 months.  

The discount rates applied to the carrying amounts are 8% for restoration provisions and 6.5% for worker’s compensation provisions. 

23. Employee benefits 
 Dec 2007

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Current employee provisions   

Annual leave and long service leave (a) 25.8 15.9 

Retirement plans (b) 1.1 – 

Other 0.1 1.7 

 27.0 17.6 

Non-current employee provisions 
   

Current employee provisions   

Long service leave (a) 3.3 3.2 

Retirement plans (b) 21.3 7.2 

Other 1.4 1.5 

 26.0 11.9 
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23. Employee benefits continued 

(a) Annual leave and long service leave 
Annual leave is recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date, calculated as undiscounted amounts based 
on remuneration wage and salary rates that the entity expects to pay at the reporting date including related on-costs, such as 
payroll tax. 

A liability for long-term employee benefits is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value 
of expected future payments to be made in respect of service provided by employees up to the balance sheet date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including related on-costs, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match the estimated future cash flows. 

(b) Retirement and post-retirement plans 
Nyrstar participates in a number of superannuation and retirement benefit plans. The plans provide benefits on retirement, 
disablement, death, retrenchment or withdrawal from service, the principal types of benefits being lump sum defined benefits  
and lump sum defined contribution benefits.  

All plans below were assessed by a registered actuary during the past six months: 

Defined contribution plans 
• Nyrstar Australia Pty Limited Superannuation Accumulation Plan, reviewed as at 30 June 2007. 

• Group Stakeholder Pension Plan, effective 1 August 2007.  

Defined benefit plans 
• Nyrstar Australia Pty Limited Superannuation Defined Benefit Plan, reviewed as at 30 June 2007. 

• Nyrstar Clarksville Inc Hourly Employees’ Pension Plan, Nyrstar Clarksville Inc Salaried Employees’ Retirement 
Plan, reviewed as at 30 June 2007. 

• Employees of Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) BV are members of a multi-employer Metal and Electricity industry 
defined benefit pension plan (PME). PME are unable to provide the necessary information for defined benefit 
accounting to be applied and consequently the PME plan has been accounted for as a defined contribution plan.  

• Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) BV Excedent Pension Plan reviewed by Aon Consulting Actuaries. 

• Nyrstar Belgium SA/NV defined benefit plans, reviewed as at 30 June 2007. 

• Nyrstar France Régime d’Indemnités de Fin de Carrière and Régime du Mutuelle, reviewed as at 31 August 2007. 

• Galva 45 SA Régime d’Indemnités de Fin de Carrière, Régime de Médailles du Travail and Régime du Mutuelle, 
reviewed as at 31 August 2007. 

• GM Metal SAS Régime d’Indemnités de Fin de Carrière, Régime de Médailles du Travail and Régime du Mutuelle, 
reviewed as at 31 August 2007.  

Medical benefit plans 
• Nyrstar Clarksville Inc Post Retirement Medical Benefit and Life Insurance Plan (‘PRMB&LI’), reviewed as at  

30 June 2007. Defined benefit accounting is applied for the PRMB&LI. 

• Nyrstar France Régime de Médailles du Travail, reviewed as at 31 August 2007.  

These plans, at the time the reviews were undertaken, were in the name of the relevant Zinifex Carve-out Group and Umicore 
Carve-out Group entities. The plans have subsequently been transferred into the name of the appropriate Nyrstar entity. 
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23. Employee benefits continued 
The amounts recognised on the balance sheet have been determined as follows.  

 Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Present value of funded obligations 68.4 52.3 

Present value of unfunded obligations 13.6 – 

Total present value of obligations 82.0 52.3 

Fair value of plan assets (59.0) (45.1)

Unrecognised past service costs (0.6) – 

Total recognised retirement benefit obligations 22.4 7.2 

Plan assets comprise: 
 Dec 2007

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Cash 4.0 4.0 

Equity instruments 28.3 21.4 

Debt instruments 7.9 7.9 

Property 1.3 1.3 

Other assets 17.5 10.5 

 59.0 45.1 

Plan assets split by major category are not available for the Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) BV Excedent Pension Plan, 
therefore all assets been classified within other assets. 

The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: 
  

Note 
Dec 2007

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Defined benefit obligations at start of period  52.3 59.1 

Acquired in a business combination 7 31.3 – 

Current service cost  0.4 1.4 

Interest cost  1.1 2.9 

Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in equity  – (1.4)

Contributions paid into the plans  – 0.3 

Benefits paid by the plans  – (5.0)

Expected return on plan assets  (1.6) –

Exchange difference  (1.5) (5.0)

Defined benefit obligations at end of period  82.0 52.3 

The changes in the present value of plan assets are as follows: 
  

Note 
Dec 2007

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Fair value of plan assets at start of period  45.1 44.2 

Acquired in a business combination 7 13.6 – 

Expected return on plan assets  (1.6) 2.4 

Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in equity  – 2.5 

Contributions paid into the plans by employer  1.9 2.2 

Contributions paid into the plans by participants  – 0.4 

Benefits paid by the plan   – (3.6)

Acquisitions/divestures  0.9 –

Exchange difference  (0.9) (3.0)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period  59.0 45.1 
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23. Employee benefits continued 

The expense recognised in the income statement is as follows: 

Note 
Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Current service cost  (0.4) (1.4)

Interest cost  (1.1) (3.0)

Expected return on plan assets  1.6 2.5 

Total amounts included in employee benefits expense 9 0.1 (1.9)

Actual return on plan assets  – (4.9)

The actuarial gains and losses recognised directly in equity are as follows: 
 Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Cumulative at start of period 6.5 2.6 

Recognised during the period – 3.9 

Cumulative at end of period 6.5 6.5 

Principal actuarial assumptions 
The principal actuarial assumptions used at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

 Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Discount rate 5.43% 5.56%

Expected return on plan assets 6.10% 6.44%

Expected future salary increases 3.15% 3.51%

Annual increase in healthcare costs  

Initial trend rate 7.1% 8.0%

Ultimate trend rate 5.0% 5.0%

Years until ultimate is reached 5 6 

The expected long-term rate of return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual asset 
categories. The expected rate of return is based on historical returns. 

24. Trade and other payables 
 

 
Dec 2007 

€m 
Jun 2007

€m 

Current    

Trade payables  185.6 98.1 

Other payables  – 1.4 

Loans from related parties – non interest bearing  56.0 147.4 

Total trade and other payables  241.6 246.9 

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in the Financial Instruments note 27. 

25 Share-based payments 
The Company has established an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (‘ESAP’) and an Executive Long Term 
Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’) (together referred to as the ‘Plans’) with a view to attracting, retaining and motivating 
the employees and senior management of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The key terms of each Plan are  
set out below. 

(a) Employee Share Acquisition Plan 
On 1 November 2007, Nyrstar announced that a grant of Employee Awards under the ESAP was made to all full-time and 
permanent part-time employees of the Group. Each eligible employee was issued EUR 1,000 shares at the Initial Public Offer 
(IPO) price of €20, vesting in three year’s time from the grant date. If a participating employee leaves the Group prior to the 
vesting date, he or she will either forfeit his or her rights under the Employee Award or, if the Participating Employee is a ‘good 
leaver’, his or her Employee Awards will vest pro rata to the period elapsed since the grant date. Employees will not be entitled 
to dividends, voting or other ownership rights in respect of the Employee Awards until they vest. There is no current intention to 
make any further grants under the ESAP. 
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25. Share-based payments continued 
The Nyrstar ordinary shares, which are conditionally awarded to Participating Employees under the ESAP, will be acquired 
through the buy-back of Nyrstar shares in accordance with the procedures set out in Articles 620 and in accordance with the 
Belgian Companies Code. In the event the shareholders’ meeting does not recognise the required buy-back, the Employee Share  
Awards shall be automatically converted into Employee Phantom Awards and Participating Employees will be entitled to a cash 
payment equivalent to the market value of the shares to which the relevant vested Employee Share Awards relate. 

The fair value of the shares determined at the grant date was €19.14 per share. The significant inputs in calculating the fair 
value of the granted shares were the Initial Public Offering share price of €20, the total Group’s employees of 3,865 with an 
employee retention rate of 100%, total issued shares under the plan of 193,250 and an annual risk-free interest rate of 4.5%. 
The fair value of services received in return for the shares issued under the ESAP is based on the fair value of the share options 
granted which for the six-month period to 31 December 2007 was €0.2 million before tax effects (30 June 2007 nil). 

(b) Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 
Under the LTIP, key/senior executives employed by the Group (the ‘Executives’) selected by the board of directors may be 
granted conditional awards to receive ordinary shares in the Company at a future date (‘Executive Share Awards’) or their 
equivalent in cash (‘Executive Phantom Awards’). No shares were granted under the LTIP as at 31 December 2007. 

Maximum entitlement 
The value of the conditional Executive Awards under the LTIP will vary, depending on the role, responsibility and seniority  
of the relevant Participating Executive. 

Vesting 
In principle, Executive Awards will vest over a three-year rolling performance period. 

Performance conditions 
The LTIP performance conditions will be based on the Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) of the Company compared to its peers. 
TSR is defined as the combined equity return of shareholders realised through a combination of dividends, capital returns and 
share price movement. Additionally, the LTIP includes further performance conditions based on financial and operational 
objectives of the Company. 

The LTIP rules provide for various circumstances in which unvested Executive Awards lapse, including failure to satisfy 
performance conditions. 

Interim long term incentive plan 
For the six-month period ending 31 December 2007, an interim incentive plan was in place. Those entitled under the plan may 
receive a cash payment on the provision that certain performance conditions are met.  

An accrual of €0.7million was taken up during the six months ending 31 December 2007 to cover potential payments under the plan. 

26. Earnings per share 

(a) Basic earnings per share 
The calculation of basic earnings per share (EPS) at 31 December 2007 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of €121.2 million and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 73.6 million. The basic  
EPS is calculated as follows: 

 Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders   

Profit for the period  121.2 286.1 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (in millions)   

Issued ordinary shares at start of period 40.3 40.3 

Effect of shares issued 33.3 – 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of period 73.6 40.3 

(b) Diluted earnings per share 
The calculation of diluted earnings per share (EPS) at 31 December 2007 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of €124.7 million and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 80.2 million, after adjustment 
for the effects of all potential ordinary shares of 193,250. The diluted EPS is calculated as follows: 

 Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)   

Profit for the period  124.7 286.1 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 73.6  

Effect of shares issued 6.6 40.3 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at end of period 80.2 40.3 
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26. Earnings per share continued 

The basic earnings per share disclosed for each comparative period before the acquisition date, that is presented in the 
consolidated financial statements following a reverse acquisition, shall be calculated by dividing the profit or loss of the  
legal subsidiary attributable to ordinary shareholders in each of those periods by the number of ordinary shares issued by  
the legal parent to the owners of the legal subsidiary in the reverse acquisition. 

The number of ordinary shares deemed to have been issued is as follows: 

  

Opening balance 1 July 2006 40,264,232 

Deemed to have been issued – 

Closing balance 30 June 2007 40,264,232 

  

Opening balance 1 July 2007 40,264,232 

Deemed to have been issued at 31 August 2007 40,264,232 

Deemed to have been issued at 29 October 2007 19,471,536 

Closing balance 31 December 2007 100,000,000 

27. Financial instruments 
In the normal course of business, Nyrstar is exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices and exchange rates, interest rate risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. In accordance with Nyrstar’s risk management policies derivative financial instruments are used to 
hedge exposures to commodity prices and exchange fluctuations, but may not be entered into for speculative purposes. 

(a) Credit risk  
(i) Exposure to credit risk 

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if the counterparties to financial instruments fail to perform as 
contracted. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date was: 

 
 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007 
€m 

Trade and other receivables  288.5 313.3 

Cash and cash equivalents  198.8 74.5 

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging: Assets  11.1 17.6 

Forward exchange contracts held for trading: Assets  57.2 – 

  555.6 405.4 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was: 

 
Note 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007 
€m 

Domestic Euro-zone countries  188.6 81.0 

Asia  23.4 80.4 

United States  20.3 39.7 

Other European countries  1.7 0.6 

Other regions  5.1 2.9 

 18 239.1 204.6 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was: 

 
Note 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007 
€m 

Wholesale customers  225.0 174.8 

Retail customers  – – 

End-user customers  14.1 29.8 

 18 239.1 204.6 
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27. Financial instruments continued 

(ii) Ageing analysis 
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 

  
Note 

Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Not past due  187.2 187.9 

Past due 0-30 days  49.2 15.6 

Past due 31-120 days  2.3 1.0 

More than one year  0.4 0.1 

 18 239.1 204.6 

Credit risk in trade receivables is also managed in the following ways: 

The Company has a duty to exercise reasonable care and prudence in granting credit to and withholding credit from existing  
and potential customers. The Company must take all reasonable steps and use the best of its endeavours to minimise any losses 
arising from bad debts. The Company’s Credit Risk Management Policy describe the organisation and system put in place in 
order to efficiently and effectively manage the risks related to the credits granted to business partners. 

Payment terms can vary from 0 to 90 days, after the month of delivery. Payment terms are dependent on whether the sale  
is a cash sale or a sale with an attached letter of credit stating the payment terms.  

A risk assessment is undertaken before granting customers a credit limit. Where no credit limit is granted, sales have to  
be covered by other securities (i.e. bank guarantee, parent guarantee) and/or by documentary collection.  

If sales are covered by a letter of credit, this will in principal be irrevocable, confirmed with approved financial institutions. 

Credit risk arising from dealings in financial instruments is controlled by a strict policy of credit approvals, limits and 
monitoring procedures. 

(b) Liquidity risk management 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding  
the impact of netting agreements: 

€m 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
cash flows  

6 mths 
or less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years 

31 December 2007       

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Finance lease liabilities 1.3 1.3 0.4 0.4 0.5 – 

Loans and borrowings 332.8 332.8 19.5 2.0 162.0 149.3 

Trade and other payables 241.6 241.6 241.6 – – – 

       

Derivative financial liabilities       

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges 9.0 9.0 7.9 1.0 0.1 – 

Fair value of underlying hedged risk 2.0 2.0 2.0 – – – 

Commodity contracts – held for trading 0.5 0.5 (1.0) 1.5 – – 

Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading 5.9 5.9 5.8 0.1  – – 

Embedded derivatives 2.1 2.1 – 2.1 – – 

 
€m       

30 June 2007       

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Finance lease liabilities 1.9 1.9 0.1 0.6 1.2 – 

Trade and other payables 246.9 246.9 246.9 – – – 

       

Derivative financial liabilities       

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges 10.3 10.3 10.3 – – – 

Fair value of underlying hedged risk 8.3 8.3 7.6 0.7 – – 

Embedded derivatives 4.9 4.9 – 4.9 – – 
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27. Financial instruments continued 

(c) Currency risk  

Exposure to currency risk 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was based on notional amounts as follows: 

 31 December 2007  30 June 2007 

€m EURO USD AUD OTHER  EURO USD AUD 

Trade receivables 194.8 82.1 11.6 –  53.5 151.1 – 

Loans and borrowings (312.5) (0.7) (20.9) (19.6) – – (22.0)

Trade payables (159.5) (37.2) (40.6) (4.3) (55.4) (74.8) (116.7)

Gross balance sheet exposure (277.2) 44.2 (49.9) (23.9) (1.9) 76.3 (138.7)

Foreign exchange contracts – 526.2 (226.9) –  – – – 

Commodity contracts – 149.2 – –  – 81.9 – 

Net exposure (277.2) 719.6 (276.8) (23.9)  (1.9) 158.2 (138.7)

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year: 

  Average rate  Reporting date spot rate 

 Dec 2007 Jun 2007  Dec 2007 Jun 2007 

Euro:USD 1.4119 1.3051  1.4721 1.3448 

Euro:AUD 1.6245 1.6628  1.6757 1.5883 

Sensitivity analysis 
A strengthening of the USD and AUD against the Euro of €0.01 at 31 December would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, commodity prices, 
remain constant. 

 
31 December 2007 

Equity 
€m 

Profit or loss 
€m 

USD 12.0 12.0 

AUD (4.0) (4.0)

A weakening of the USD and AUD against the Euro of €0.01 at 31 December would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, commodity prices, 
remain constant. 

 
31 December 2007 

Equity 
€m 

Profit or loss 
€m 

USD (12.0) (12.0)

AUD 4.0 4.0 

(d) Commodity price risk management 
Nyrstar is exposed to commodity price volatility on commodity sales and raw materials purchased by refineries and smelters. 
Nyrstar may enter into zinc, lead and silver futures and swap contracts to hedge certain forward fixed price sales to customers in 
order to achieve the relevant metal price at the date that the transaction is settled. Nyrstar may enter into zinc and lead futures 
and swap contracts to more closely align the time at which the price for externally sourced concentrate purchases is set to the 
time at which the price for the sale of metal produced from that concentrate is set. These instruments are referred to as ‘metal 
at risk’ hedges and the terms of these contracts are normally between one and three months. 

The following table sets out a summary of the face value of derivative contracts’ hedging commodity price risks at  
31 December 2007. 

 
 

Average price  
US$ per tonne 6 mths or less 6-12 mths 12-18 mths 

 
18 mths + 

Total 
 €m 

31 December 2007       

(i) Zinc       

Contracts purchased 2,734.0 (111.7) (19.4) (0.4) (0.1) (131.6)

Contracts sold 2,518.0 209.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 209.7 

Net position  97.9 (19.3) (0.4) (0.1) 78.1 

(ii) Lead       

Contracts purchased 2,678.0 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2)

Contracts sold 2,964.0 71.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 71.4 

Net position  71.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 71.2 
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27. Financial instruments continued 

The following table sets out a summary of the face value of derivative contracts hedging commodity price risks at 30 June 2007. 

 
 

Average price 
US$ per tonne 6 mths or less 6-12 mths 

 
12-18 mths 18 mths + 

Total 

 €m 

30 June 2007       

(i) Zinc       

Contracts purchased 3,392.6 100.2 5.7 0.1 – 106.0 

Contracts sold (3,316.4) (19.1) (5.6) – – (24.7)

Net position  81.1 0.1 0.1 – 81.3 

(ii) Lead       

Contracts purchased 2,599.0 0.6 – – – 0.6 

Contracts sold – – – – – – 

Net position  0.6 – – – 0.6 

Sensitivity analysis 
A US$100 per tonne strengthening of the USD zinc price and USD lead price at 31 December 2007 would have increased equity 
and profit and loss before tax by €18.7 million and €2.1 million respectively. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular exchange rates, remain constant. 

(e) Interest rate risk management 
Nyrstar’s exposure to interest rate risk, along with sensitivity analysis on a change of 100 basis points in interest rates at 
balance date on interest bearing assets and liabilities is set out below: 
 
     Sensitivity analysis 

     Profit and loss Equity 

  
 

Note 

Floating 
interest rate 

 €m 

Fixed interest 
rate 
 €m 

Total 
 €m 

100 bp 
increase 

 
100 bp  

decrease 
100 bp 

increase 
100 bp 

decrease 

Interest rate risk exposures 
31 December 2007 

        

Financial assets         

Cash 19 198.8 – 198.8 0.2 (0.2) 0.2 (0.2)

Related party receivables  18 16.4 – 16.4 – – – – 

  215.2 – 215.2 0.2 (0.2) 0.2 (0.2)

Financial liabilities         

Unsecured loan facility 21 (312.0) – (312.0) (3.0) 3.0 (3.0) 3.0 

Loan facility 21 (19.6) – (19.6) (0.2) 0.2 (0.2) 0.2 

Lease liability 21 – (1.3) (1.3) – – – – 

Related party payables 24 (56.0) – (56.0) – – (0.2) 0.2 

  (387.6) (1.3) (388.9) (3.2) 3.2 (3.4) 3.4 

Net interest bearing 
financial assets/(liabilities) 

  
(172.4)

 
(1.3)

 
(173.7)
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27. Financial instruments continued 

     Sensitivity analysis 

     Profit and loss Equity 

  
 

Notes 

Floating 
interest rate 

 €m 

Fixed interest 
rate 

 €m 

Total 

 €m 

100 bp 
increase 

100 bp 
decrease 

 
100 bp  

increase 

 
100 bp 

decrease 

Interest rate risk exposures 
30 June 2007 

        

Financial assets         

Cash 19 74.5 – 74.5 0.7 (0.7) 0.7 (0.7)

Related party receivables  18 105.2 – 105.2 1.1 (1.1) 1.1 (1.1)

  179.7 – 179.7 1.8 (1.8) 1.8 (1.8)

Financial liabilities         

Lease liability 21 – (1.9) (1.9) – – – – 

  – (1.9) (1.9) – – – – 

Net interest bearing 
financial 
assets/(liabilities) 

  

 

179.7 

 

 

(1.9)

 

 

177.8 1.8 (1.8) 1.8 (1.8)

On 19 December 2007, the Company and a subsidiary, Nyrstar Finance International NV, entered into a €350 million 
Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks and replaced a pre-existing bridge financing facility which  
has been cancelled.  

The facility is available to both the Company and Nyrstar Finance International NV as co-borrowers and each company 
guarantees the other’s liabilities. The facility is denominated in Euros but available for drawing in optional currencies and  
is unsecured. 

The facility has a termination date of 19 December 2010, however on 19 December 2009 the facility commitment suffers  
a mandatory reduction of €200 million.  

Interest charges under the facility are at a floating rate with an initial margin over EURIBOR of 47.5 basis points and 
subsequently on a margin grid based on the covenant ratio Net Debt to EBITDA, with margins over EURIBOR varying  
from 32.5 basis points to 65.0 basis points.  

The facility contains covenants limiting Net Debt to EBITDA, Total Debt to Consolidated Net Worth and EBITDA to  
Interest and covenants are tested bi-annually. 
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27. Financial instruments continued 

(f) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities recognised at amortised cost on the combined balance sheet 
approximates their fair value. 

  31 December 2007   30 June 2007 

 
Note 

Carrying 
Amount 

 
Fair Value 

 Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Trade and other receivables 18 288.5 288.5  313.3 313.3 

Cash and cash equivalents 19 198.8 198.8  74.5 74.5 

  487.3 487.3  387.8 387.8 

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging: assets       

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges  1.9 1.9  8.3 8.3 

Fair value of underlying hedged risk   9.2 9.2  9.3 9.3 

Commodity contracts – held for trading  15.1 15.1  – – 

Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading  42.1 42.1  – – 

Embedded derivative  40.4 40.4  – – 

 16 108.7 108.7  17.6 17.6 

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging: liabilities       

Commodity contracts – fair value hedges  (9.0) (9.0)  (10.3) (10.3)

Fair value of underlying hedged risk   (2.0) (2.0)  (8.3) (8.3)

Commodity contracts – held for trading  (0.5) (0.5)  – – 

Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading  (5.9) (5.9)  – – 

Embedded derivative  (2.1) (2.1)  (4.9) (4.9)

 16 (19.5) (19.5)  (23.5) (23.5)

Unsecured bank loans 21 (332.8) (332.8)  – – 

Finance lease liabilities 21 (1.3) (1.3)  (1.9) (2.2)

Loan from associate 21 (19.6) (19.6)  (20.1) (20.1)

Trade and other payables (241.6) (241.6)  (246.9) (246.9)

 (595.3) (595.3)  (268.9) (269.2)

28 Reconciliation of result from operating activities to underlying result 

‘Underlying result’ is an additional measure of earnings, which is reported by the Group to provide greater understanding of  
the underlying business performance of its operations. The Result from operating activities and Underlying result both represent 
amounts attributable to the Group’s shareholders.  

The items excluded from the Result from operating activities in arriving at Underlying earnings are as follows: 

(a) The Hobart Smelter entered into a new electricity contract with its electricity supplier that had a positive impact on the 
result from operating activities of €40 million. The former contract also contained an embedded derivative that had a positive 
impact on the result from operating activities of €4.7 million. Both these impacts have been reversed and reduce the result  
from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation for the purpose of calculating Nyrstar’s underlying result. 

(b) As at 31 August 2007, Nyrstar inherited an unhedged metal at risk position. Parent company approval (Zinifex and 
Umicore were the parent companies until the date of the IPO being 29 October 2007) for the hedging of this position was 
received on 13 September 2007. During this period in which the metal was not hedged, both the price of zinc and the US dollar  
fell, resulting in a negative impact on the result from operating activities of approximately €24.7 million. Certain sales remained 
unhedged until 19 December 2007 resulting in a further loss of €12.0m. 

The underlying result for the comparative period ended 30 June 2007 has not been prepared as historical information is  
not readily available from the accounts prepared by the former parent company (Zinifex). 

 
Note Dec 2007

€m 

Result from operating activities  92.4 

   

Exclusions from underlying result:    

Hobart embedded derivative gains (a) (44.7)

Unhedged inventory position (b) 36.7 

Underlying result  84.4 
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29. Capital commitments 
The value of commitments for acquisition of plant and equipment contracted for but not recognised as liabilities at the reporting 
date are set out in the table below. 

 Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Within one year 19.2 9.3 

Later than one year but not later than five years 0.7 – 

 19.9 9.3 

30. Operating leases 
The value of commitments in relation to operating leases contracted for but not recognised as liabilities at the reporting date are 
set out in the table below. 

 Dec 2007 
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Within one year 6.0 0.2 

Later than one year but not later than five years 9.0 0.1 

 15.0 0.3 

 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments relate primarily to the lease of buildings. 

Lease rentals for the six-month period ended 31 December 2007 amounting to €1.6 million (30 June 2007: €4.3 million) 
relating to the lease of property and machinery respectively, have been included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.  

31. Contingencies 

Guarantees 
Nyrstar has guaranteed the obligations of certain Group entities in relation to Bankers’ Undertakings and cash deposits  
provided by the Group’s bankers to the Workers’ Compensation authorities. These guarantees at 31 December 2007 amount  
to €6.2 million (30 June 2007: €5.4 million). Provision is made in the financial statements for expected benefits accruing to 
past and present employees in relation to workers’ compensation. 

Bank guarantees have been provided by Nyrstar with respect to contractual relationships between Nyrstar and third parties. 
These guarantees at 31 December 07 amount to €9.1 million (30 June 2007: €1.5 million). 

Bank guarantees have been provided by Nyrstar with respect to environmental matters. These guarantees at 31 December 2007 
amount to €41.6 million (30 June 2007: nil). 

Legal actions 
Galveco case 
Galveco is a patent-protected zinc alloy used for galvanizing steel. Between June 2000 and March 2007, Umicore produced  
and supplied (approximately) 45Kt of Galveco to galvanizers in various countries (corresponding to approx. 3.5Mt of steel  
that has been galvanized with Galveco). Umicore withdrew Galveco from the market in March 2007 as a precautionary measure 
following the discovery of cracking in steel that had been hot dip galvanized. It is alleged that a cause of this cracking is the use 
of Galveco.  

The production and supply of Galveco in certain countries was part of the zinc alloys activities of Umicore, which through 
contributions of business branches, were transferred to Nyrstar. 

There are currently four legal proceedings related to Galveco that directly or indirectly involve Nyrstar (three in Germany and 
one in Belgium). Two of the three legal proceedings in Germany involve Nyrstar Belgium NV/SA and Nyrstar Germany GmbH 
and are pending before the Regional Court (Landgericht) in Kaiserslautern and concern evidence hearing proceedings to 
determine the causes of cracks discovered in the steel construction of a football stadium roof in Kaiserslautern and a freight 
cargo hall in Ramstein. These proceedings are still ongoing and the experts’ final findings and conclusions are not yet known. 
The two above Nyrstar-entities are involved in these proceedings through demands for intervention received from the German 
galvaniser Verzinkerei Rhein-Main GmbH & Co KG (VRM). The third procedure in Germany is a €50,000 damages claim, 
which was initiated by another galvanizer, Rietbergwerke GmbH & Co. KG on 29 December 2006, before the Regional Court  
in Bielefeld and which also involves Nyrstar Belgium NV/SA and Nyrstar Germany GmbH.  

The legal proceeding in Belgium was initiated before the Brussels Commercial Court on 27 December 2007 and involves  
claims by VRM and four other galvanizers belonging to the VRM group. The claimed damages are provisionally estimated at 
(approximately) €5.8 million. 

Four other claims have been received in relation to cracks that have been discovered in steel constructions in Germany. In two  
of these cases, the claimed damages are (respectively) €725,053 and €532,563. The amounts for the other two claims have not 
been quantified. 

Under the Business Combination and Shareholders’ Agreement, in the event that a claim against Nyrstar in relation to Galveco 
is successful, Umicore must remit to Nyrstar any insurance proceeds received and, for losses not covered by such proceeds, 
indemnifies Nyrstar for 50% of all losses up to €10 million and 100% thereafter. Accordingly, Nyrstar’s maximum potential 
liability in relation to all Galveco claims is limited to €5 million. In addition, Nyrstar is, within certain limitation as regards 
extent and duration, insured in relation to all Galveco claims. 
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31. Contingencies continued 

Business combination and Shareholders agreement  
On 31 August 2007, Zinifex and Umicore completed the transfer of their zinc and lead smelting and alloying businesses  
to Nyrstar.  

A dispute has arisen between Nyrstar and Zinifex in relation to the calculation of the purchase price adjustments under  
the Business Combination and Shareholders Agreement (‘BCSA’) in relation to the transfer of the Zinifex assets.  
Nyrstar believes the purchase price adjustment amount payable to Zinifex is overstated by (approximately) €34 million. 

In accordance with the BCSA, Nyrstar and Zinifex have appointed an ‘Independent Expert’ to make a determination  
in relation to the dispute.  

If Nyrstar were required to pay all or part of the €34 million in dispute, the amount will be accounted for in line with other 
accepted purchase price adjustments and taken to equity in the reverse acquisition reserve.  

32. Related parties 

Transactions with related parties 
For the period to 29 October 2007, Zinifex and Umicore were the parent entities of the Nyrstar Group. These consolidated 
financial statements include transactions with the former parent entities such as the sale and purchase of inventory as well  
as corporate services for the period presented. Although Zinifex and Umicore ceased to be a related party upon selling their 
controlling interest in Nyrstar, the disclosed amounts of transactions with related parties relates to the full six-month period  
to 31 December 2007. 

Revenue from product sales to Umicore amounted to €138.1 million for the six-month period ended 31 December 2007. 

Purchases from Zinifex subsidiaries amount to €402.1 million for the six-month period ended 31 December 2007, and relate  
to purchases of raw materials which management believes are on arm’s length terms as pricing is based on the relevant metal 
prices as determined by reference to quotations on the London Metals Exchange and other factors such as benchmark 
agreements negotiated within the zinc and lead industries (30 June 2007: €800.4 million). 

At 31 December 2007, the Group had sundry receivables from Zinifex subsidiaries of €5.8 million (30 June 2007: €108.4 
million). These amounts are reflected in receivables from related parties in the consolidated financial statements and bear 
interest at commercial rates.  

As at 30 June 2007, the Group had loans from Zinifex entities of €147 million. The loans were non-interest bearing and 
repayable at call. These loans have been repaid in full. 

Of the total receivables and payables recognised by the Group in its consolidated statements, €46.2 million relates to  
purchase price adjustments owed to the former parents per the Business Combination and the Shareholder agreement. 

General and administration expenses include charges for corporate costs from Zinifex and Umicore for the six-month period 
ended 31 December 2007 of €7.5 million (30 June 2007: €16.7 million). Corporate expenses include accounting, finance, 
human resources, legal and certain other administrative services.  

As at 31 December 2007 the Group has borrowings from associates of €19.6 million (30 June 2007: €20.1 million). 

Outstanding balances with related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions between related parties: 

 
Notes 

Dec 2007
€m 

Jun 2007
€m 

Receivables 18 16.4 105.2 

Payables 24 (56.0) (147.4)

Revenue  138.1 – 

Purchases  (402.1) (800.4)

Administration expenses  (7.5) (16.7)

Key management compensation 
 
 

Dec 2007
€m 

Board of directors  

Salaries and other compensation:  

Fixed portion 0.2 

Variable portion – 

Number of shares held – 
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32. Related parties continued 
 
 

Dec 2007 
€m 

Senior management team  

Salaries and other compensation:  

Fixed portion 1.2 

Variable portion (paid during period) – 

Other benefits 0.7 

Number of shares held 5,150 

Other benefits comprised of relocation-related allowances, housing allowances and pension contributions. 

33. Audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s joint statutory auditors 
During the period, the auditors received fees for audit and non-audit services provided to the Group as follows: 

 
 

Dec 2007 
€’000 

Audit services  

PWC 452.6 

KPMG 396.9 

Non-audit services  

PWC 227.4 

34. Group entities 
The major holding and operating companies originating from the Zinifex Carve-out Group, Umicore Carve-out Group and 
Nyrstar included in the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements are: 

Zinifex Carve-out Group 
Entity (1) Belgium company number Country of incorporation Ownership 

Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) BV (Zinifex Netherlands 
(Holdings) BV) 

 the Netherlands 100% 

Nyrstar Budel BV (Zinifex Budel BV)  the Netherlands 100% 

Budelco BV  the Netherlands 100% 

Buzifac BV  the Netherlands 100% 

Buzipon BV  the Netherlands 100% 

Buzisur BV  the Netherlands 100% 

Nyrstar Australia Pty Ltd (Smeltco Pty Ltd)  Australia 100% 

Nyrstar Hobart Pty Ltd (Smeltco2 Pty Ltd)  Australia 100% 

Nyrstar Metals Pty Ltd (Zinifex Metals Pty Ltd)  Australia 100% 

Nyrstar Port Pirie Pty Ltd (Zinifex Port Pirie Pty Ltd)  Australia 100% 

Australian Refined Alloys Pty Ltd  Australia 50% 

Australian Refined Alloys (Sales) Pty Ltd  Australia 50% 

Nyrstar US Inc  United States 100% 

Nyrstar Holdings Inc. (Zinifex Resources (US) Inc.)  United States 100% 

Nyrstar Taylor Chemicals Inc (Zinifex Taylor Chemicals Inc)  United States 100% 

Nyrstar Clarksville Inc (Zinifex Clarksville Inc)  United States 100% 

Genesis Recycling Technology (BVI) Ltd  British Virgin Islands  50% 

Genesis Alloys Ltd  Hong Kong  50% 

Zinifex Hong Kong Limited (2)  Hong Kong 100% 

Genesis Alloys (Ningbo) Ltd  China  50% 
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34. Group entities continued 

Umicore Carve-out Group 

 
Nyrstar 
Entity (1) Belgium company number Country of incorporation Ownership 

Nyrstar NV RPR 0888.728.945 Belgium 100% 

Nyrstar Finance International NV RPR 0889.716.167 Belgium 100% 

Nyrstar UK Pty Ltd  the United Kingdom 100% 

(1) Names between parentheses denote the former names of the legal entities as part of the Zinifex Carve-out Group and Umicore 
Carve-out Group. 

(2) In the process of liquidation. 

35. Subsequent events 

Padaeng 
On 4 April 2008 Nyrstar announced that it had reached agreement to divest its minority shareholding of 24.9% in Padaeng to  
a consortium of investors, represented by Asia Plus Securities Public Company Limited. The transaction is expected to generate 
cash proceeds of approximately €34 million, resulting in a loss of approximately €16 million including transaction fees (based 
on the exchange rate at 3 April 2008 and the carrying amount of the associate at 31 December 2007). The resulting  
loss reflects the decline in Padaeng’s share price since 31 December 2007 and the decline of the Thai Baht against the Euro 
over this period. Settlement of the transaction is expected to occur on 10 April 2008. 

Padaeng, listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand, operates a silicate zinc mine and a smelter in Tak province, as well as a 
roaster plant located in Rayong province. Production of zinc metal and alloys is focused on the domestic Thai market. The zinc 
ore mining concession awarded by the Thai government expired in Oc tober 2007 and has not yet been renewed, causing the 
cessation of mining activities. 

Padaeng is currently included within the Other Operations segment as disclosed in note 6. 

Föhl 
As at 31 December 2007 Nyrstar’s 50% shareholding in Föhl had not yet been transferred to the Group as certain conditions 
included in the Föhl share purchase agreement between Nyrstar Netherlands (Holdings) B.V. and Umicore SA/NV remained 
outstanding. These conditions were met on 24 January 2008 and payment was made on 31 January 2008.  

Entity (1) Belgium company number Country of incorporation Ownership 

Nyrstar Belgium NV (Umicore Zinc Alloys Belgium NV) RPR 0865.131.221 Belgium 100% 

Zinc Alloys International NV RPR 0890.085.856 Belgium 100% 

Nyrstar France SAS (Umicore Zinc Alloys France SAS)  France 100% 

Galva 45 S.A  France  66% 

GM-Metal SAS  France  100% 

Nyrstar Germany GmbH (Umicore Zinc Alloys  
Germany Gmbh) 

 Germany 100% 

Nyrstar Yunnan Zinc Alloys Co, Ltd (Umicore Yunnan Zinc 
Alloys Co., Ltd)  China 60% 

Föhl China Co., Ltd  China 50% 

Padaeng Industry Public Company Limited  Thailand  24.90% 
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Report of the joint statutory auditors to the general meeting of shareholders of Nyrstar NV on the consolidated financial 
statements as of and for the six-month period ended 31 December 2007. 

In accordance with legal and statutory requirements, we report to you on the performance of our audit mandate. This  
report includes our opinion on the consolidated financial statements together with the required additional comment. 

Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nyrstar NV (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (jointly ‘the Group’), 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and with the legal 
and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium. These consolidated accounts comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 
31 December 2007 and the consolidated statements of income, recognised income and expense and cash flows for the six-month-
period then ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and the other explanatory notes. The total of the 
consolidated balance sheet amounts to €2,315.7 million and the consolidated statement of income shows a profit for the period 
of €120.1 million. 

The board of directors of the Company is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our  
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, legal requirements and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, 
as issued by the 'Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren’. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the  
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we have considered internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. We have also evaluated the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used, the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Company and the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, we have obtained from management and responsible officers of the 
Company, the explanations and information necessary for our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s net worth and financial position  
as of 31 December 2007 and of its results and cash flows for the six-month period then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable  
in Belgium. 

Additional comment 
The preparation of the management report and its content are the responsibility of the board of directors. 

Our responsibility is to supplement our report with the following additional comment, which does not modify our audit opinion  
on the financial statements: 

The management report on the consolidated financial statements includes the information required by law and is consistent  
with the consolidated financial statements. We are, however, unable to comment on the description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties which the Group is facing, and on its financial situation, its foreseeable evolution or the significant influence  
of certain facts on its future development. We can nevertheless confirm that the matters disclosed do not present any obvious 
inconsistencies with the information that we became aware of during the performance of our mandate. 

Brussels, 3 April 2008 

 

Joint Statutory Auditors 
Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler   PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Bedrijfsrevisoren / Réviseurs d’Entreprises  Bedrijfsrevisoren / Réviseurs d’Entreprises 

Represented by     Represented by  

 

 

 

Benoit Van Roost     Peter Van den Eynde 
Bedrijfsrevisor     Bedrijfsrevisor 
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The annual accounts prepared under Belgian GAAP are presented below in summarised form. In accordance with the Belgian Company 
Code, the annual accounts of Nyrstar NV together with the management report and the statutory auditors’ report will be deposited  
with the National Bank of Belgium.  

These documents may also be obtained on request from: 

Nyrstar NV 
Zinkstraat 1 
B- 2490 Balen (Belgium) 

The joint statutory auditors, Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeter – Réviseur d’Entreprises represented by Benolt Van Roost, and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Réviseur d’Entreprises represented by Peter Van den Eynde have expressed an unqualified opinion on 
the annual statutory accounts of Nyrstar NV. 

Nyrstar NV – Balance sheet 
 
(thousand EUR) 31 December 2007 

ASSETS  

Non-current assets  2,569,118 

Formation expenses 12,166 

Intangible assets 1,176 

Property, plant and equipment 3,365 

Financial assets 2,552,411 

Current assets  142,823 

Total assets 2,711,941 

  

LIABILITIES  

Shareholders’ equity 2,216,731 

Issued share capital 2,000,000 

Share premium 194,875 

Legal reserves 3,093 

Retained earnings 18,763 

Liabilities 495,210 

Non-current liabilities 312,000 

Current liabilities 183,210 

Total equity and liabilities  2,711,941 

 

Nyrstar NV – Income statement 
 
(thousand EUR) 31 December 2007 

Operating income  17,092 

Operating charges (21,174)

Operating result (4,082)

Financial income 75,216 

Financial charges 9,278 

Ordinary result before taxes 61,856 

Income taxes – 

Net result 61,856 

Profit allocation  

to the legal reserves 3,093 

dividends to be distributed 40,000 

profit to be carried forward 18,763 
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The following appendices set out the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information of Nyrstar for the year ended 31 December
2007 and the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2007.

The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been prepared as if the business combination between Nyrstar and the zinc 
and lead smelting, alloying and refining assets and operations of Zinifex Limited and Umicore SA/NV took effect as of 1 January 2007. 
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information consolidates the results of the segment assets and is adjusted to reflect Nyrstar’s 
accounting policies, the impact of the International Financial Reporting Standard relating to business combinations (IFRS 3) and the
elimination of intercompany transactions. 

The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information modifies the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information described above
to illustrate management’s view of the combined Nyrstar Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year ended 31 December
2006 by applying Nyrstar’s transaction and structural hedging policy.

Both the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information and Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information are unaudited 
and should be read in conjunction with the limitation of information sections set out in the respective appendices.



MODIFIED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Income Statement
(Before Net Financing Costs and Income Tax)

31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006 
€m €m

Revenue 3,815.2 3,389.1

Result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation 541.3 517.8

Depreciation and amortisation (74.8) (70.8)

Result from operating activities 466.5 447.0

Share of profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees 18.4 15.1

Result before net financing costs and income tax 484.9 462.1

Other information

Other important information includes:

Gross profit 1,218.6 1,143.6

Employee benefits expense (202.0) (188.7)

Energy expenses (175.7) (228.7)

Other expenses (299.6) (208.4)

Total operating costs (677.3) (625.8)

Capital expenditure (102.2) (108.1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information.
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Notes

1. Reporting entity
Nyrstar NV (‘Nyrstar’ or the ‘Company’) was formed on 13 April 2007 in the context of the subsequent signing of the Business
Combination and Shareholders’ Agreement between Nyrstar, Zinifex Limited (‘Zinifex’) and Umicore SA/NV (‘Umicore’) on 23 April 2007.
The Company listed its shares on the Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels on 29 October 2007.

The listed entity represents a business combination of the zinc and lead smelting and alloying business of Zinifex (the ‘Zinifex Carve-out
Group’) and the zinc smelting and alloying business of Umicore (the ‘Umicore Carve-out Group’).

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information
The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information comprises Selected Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Income Statement
Information before net financing costs and income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2007 and comparative information for
the year ended 31 December 2006.

The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been provided only to the level of profit before net financing costs
and income tax.The tax profile and gearing of Nyrstar differ substantially from those of the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore
Carve-out Group, which, historically, have been operated under different corporate structures and, therefore, a comparison of historical
interest and tax expense is not considered to be meaningful, appropriate or representative.

The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information is unaudited.

(b) Underlying financial information
The Nyrstar Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information for the year ended 31 December 2007 is based on:

• Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information set out on pages 98 to 101 of this annual report; and

• Management adjustments to illustrate management’s view of the Company’s performance over the periods disclosed.

The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2006 is based on:

• Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information set out in Appendix IV of the Nyrstar prospectus dated 12 October 2007 issued
in the context of the Company’s listing of its shares on the Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels (the ‘Nyrstar prospectus’); and

• Management adjustments to illustrate management’s view of the Company’s performance over the periods disclosed.

(c) Limitation of information
The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been prepared for both the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year
ended 31 December 2006.The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information gives pro forma effect to the acquisitions of the
Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore Carve-out Group by Nyrstar as if the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2007 and
1 January 2006 respectively.The information has been prepared and is intended for illustrative purposes only and addresses a hypothetical
situation and therefore does not purport to represent the results of operations that the Company would actually have obtained during the
periods presented and is not necessarily indicative of the results the Company expects in future periods.The information is modified to the
extent it is adjusted to show management’s view on the Company’s performance over the periods disclosed.

In this respect, the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information, for all information relating to periods prior to 1 September
2007, amongst other things:

• Does not reflect the strategies and corporate structure that Nyrstar may have employed had the smelting businesses been operating
as a combined group;

• Does not reflect the fact that the contractual terms between Nyrstar and its customers and suppliers may have been different had
the smelting businesses been operating as a combined group;

• Does not reflect the operating risks that Nyrstar may have been subject to had the smelting businesses been operating as a
combined group; and

• Does not reflect the results of any Financial Risk Management, such as transactional hedging, that Nyrstar may have employed.

In addition, as has been noted above, the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been provided only to the level
of profit before net financing costs and income tax.

(d) Nature of management adjustments
The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been modified to reflect management’s view of the Company’s
performance for the periods disclosed.The management adjustments apply Nyrstar’s transactional hedging policies and eliminate the
results of the Umicore Carve-out Group’s structural hedging policy.

The modified pro forma adjustments are based on estimates, currently available information and certain assumptions that management
believes are reasonable.
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3. Underlying financial information

Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2007
Management adjustments

Period to 31 December 2007 Nyrstar
€m Pro Forma Transactional Reversal of Nyrstar Modified
Income / (Cost) 31 Dec 07 hedging structural hedge Pro Forma

(a) (b) (c) 31 Dec 07

Revenue 3,711.3 – 103.9 3,815.2

Result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation 304.8 132.6 103.9 541.3

Depreciation and amortisation (74.8) – – (74.8)

Result from operating activities 230.0 132.6 103.9 466.5

Share of profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees 18.4 – – 18.4

Result before net financing costs and income tax 248.4 132.6 103.9 484.9

Other information

Other important information includes:

Gross profit 982.1 132.6 103.9 1,218.6

Employee benefits expense (202.0) – – (202.0)

Energy expenses (175.7) – – (175.7)

Other expenses (299.6) – – (299.6)

Total operating costs (677.3) – – (677.3)

Capital expenditure (102.2) – – (102.2)

(a)Derived from the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2007 set out in pages 98 to 101
of this annual report, except for Other information, which has been calculated by management and considered to be useful for readers
of this Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information.

(b)The transactional hedging adjustment modifies the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information to reflect Nyrstar’s current
transactional hedging policies as from 1 January 2007.This adjustment modifies the pro forma result for:

• The impact of fair value adjustments to inventory at the former Umicore Carve-out Group entities for the eight months ended
31 August 2007; and

• Zinifex’s policy to hedge only 75% of its concentrate purchases from third parties for the eight months ended 31 August 2007.

(c)Umicore engaged in a structural hedging practice also referred to as cash flow hedging under International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRS’).This policy involved the forward hedging of forecast metal price and currency risk exposures when prices were
above their historical averages and attractive margins could be secured. Nyrstar does not apply this practice. As this adjustment is
more analytical in nature rather than accounting based, it is classified as a management adjustment.
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3. Underlying financial information continued

Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2006
Management adjustments

Nyrstar
Period to 31 December 2006 Pro Forma Transactional Reversal of Nyrstar Modified
€m 31 Dec 06 hedging structural hedge Pro Forma
Income / (Cost) (a) (b) (c) 31 Dec 06

Revenue 3,173.3 – 215.8 3,389.1

Result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation 436.0 (134.0) 215.8 517.8

Depreciation and amortisation (70.8) – – (70.8)

Result from operating activities 365.2 (134.0) 215.8 447.0

Share of profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees 15.1 – – 15.1

Result before net financing costs and income tax 380.3 (134.0) 215.8 462.1

Other information

Other important information includes:

Gross profit 1,061.8 (134.0) 215.8 1,143.6

Employee benefits expense (188.7) – – (188.7)

Energy expenses (228.7) – – (228.7)

Other expenses (208.4) – – (208.4)

Total operating costs (625.8) – – (625.8)

Capital expenditure (108.1) – – (108.1)

(a) Derived from the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2006 set out in Appendix IV of the
Nyrstar Prospectus except for Other Information, which has been calculated by management and is considered to be useful for readers
of this Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information.

(b) The transactional hedging adjustment modifies the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information to reflect Nyrstar’s current
transactional hedging policies as from 1 January 2006.This adjustment modifies the pro forma result for:

• The impact of fair value adjustments to inventory at the former Umicore Carve-out Group entities for the 12 months ended
31 December 2006; and

• Zinifex’s policy to hedge only 75% of its concentrate purchases from third parties for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006.

(c) Umicore engaged in a structural hedging practice also referred to as cash flow hedging under IFRS.This policy involved the forward
hedging of forecast metal price and currency risk exposures when prices were above their historical averages and attractive margins
could be secured. Nyrstar does not apply this practice. As this adjustment is more analytical in nature rather than accounting based,
it is classified as a management adjustment.
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4. Segment reporting
The segment information reported below has been prepared on the basis of the segments described in Nyrstar’s consolidated
financial statements.

Selected Modified Pro Forma segment information for the year ended 31 December 2007
Selected Modified Pro Forma Financial Information

Auby Balen Budel Clarksville Hobart Port Pirie Chinese Other
Period to 31 December 2007 Smelter Smelter Smelter Refinery Smelter Smelter Operations Operations Total
Income / (Cost) €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue to external customers 347.4 969.2 673.5 332.4 646.4 643.4 136.8 66.1 3,815.2

Intersegment revenue 52.4 413.6 23.3 3.6 8.6 1.4 – 14.6 517.5

Result from operating activities before 58.9 169.6 117.2 23.8 128.8 45.3 0.8 (3.1) 541.3
depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation (13.8) (17.8) (6.8) (5.3) (15.4) (12.8) (1.6) (1.3) (74.8)

Result from operating activities 45.1 151.8 110.4 18.5 113.4 32.5 (0.8) (4.4) 466.5

Share of profit / (loss) of equity – – – – – – (0.2) 18.6 18.4
accounted investees

Result before net financing costs 45.1 151.8 110.4 18.5 113.4 32.5 (1.0) 14.2 484.9
and income tax

Other information

Other important information includes:

Gross profit 132.3 329.1 254.3 85.0 196.8 184.2 17.5 19.4 1,218.6

Employee benefits expense (21.7) (45.9) (27.6) (14.6) (27.8) (36.6) (3.1) (24.7) (202.0)

Energy expenses (23.2) (48.6) (58.6) (15.8) 13.0 (31.6) (9.3) (1.6) (175.7)

Other expenses (28.5) (65.0) (50.9) (30.8) (53.2) (70.7) (4.3) 3.8 (299.6)

Total operating costs (73.4) (159.5) (137.1) (61.2) (68.0) (138.9) (16.7) (22.5) (677.3)

Capital expenditure (11.7) (18.2) (10.4) (10.0) (23.0) (23.9) (1.0) (4.0) (102.2)
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4. Segment reporting continued

Selected Modified Pro Forma segment information for the year ended 31 December 2006
Selected Modified Pro Forma Financial Information

Auby Balen Budel Clarksville Hobart Port Pirie Chinese Other
Period to 31 December 2006 Smelter Smelter Smelter Refinery Smelter Smelter Operations Operations Total
Income / (Cost) €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue to external customers 354.2 809.0 718.9 300.9 648.8 424.4 80.1 52.8 3,389.1

Intersegment revenue 134.9 500.7 33.5 – 33.8 1.3 – 8.4 712.6

Result from operating activities before 33.9 136.7 157.3 19.2 119.2 50.5 0.0 1.0 517.8
depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation (14.2) (19.3) (6.0) (3.8) (15.5) (10.3) (0.8) (0.9) (70.8)

Result from operating activities 19.7 117.4 151.3 15.4 103.7 40.2 (0.8) 0.1 447.0

Share of profit / (loss) of equity – – – – – – (0.3) 15.4 15.1
accounted investees

Result before net financing costs 19.7 117.4 151.3 15.4 103.7 40.2 (1.1) 15.5 462.1
and income tax

Other information

Other important information includes:

Gross profit 117.1 269.6 277.7 70.2 217.5 160.7 12.0 18.8 1,143.6

Employee benefits expense (21.7) (42.8) (28.0) (15.7) (27.2) (36.4) (3.7) (13.2) (188.7)

Energy expenses (28.0) (46.3) (65.1) (15.2) (35.1) (31.5) (6.1) (1.4) (228.7)

Other expenses (33.5) (43.8) (27.3) (20.1) (36.0) (42.3) (2.2) (3.2) (208.4)

Total operating costs (83.2) (132.9) (120.4) (51.0) (98.3) (110.2) (12.0) (17.8) (625.8)

Capital expenditure (12.4) (15.3) (13.2) (6.1) (23.5) (35.8) (0.5) (1.3) (108.1)
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5. Reconciliation to Underlying EBITDA
The following table sets out the reconciliation between the modified pro forma EBITDA and the Company’s underlying EBITDA for the
12 months ended 31 December 2007.

The Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2006 was prepared for the Nyrstar
prospectus. As this information was prepared by the former parent companies (Zinifex and Umicore), it has not been restated on an
underlying basis.

‘EBITDA’ includes the result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation plus Nyrstar’s share of the profit or loss of
equity accounted investees. ‘Underlying EBITDA’ is an additional measure of earnings, which is reported by the Group to provide a greater
understanding of the underlying business performance of its operations.

€m Note 31 Dec 07

Result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation 541.3

Share of profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees 18.4

EBITDA 559.7

Underlying adjustments

Hobart Smelter embedded derivatives (a) (49.5)

Unhedged inventory (b) 36.7

Underlying EBITDA 546.9

The items excluded from the result from operating activities before depreciation and amortisation for the year ended 31 December 2007
in arriving at the Underlying EBITDA are as follows:

(a) The Hobart Smelter entered into a new electricity contract with its electricity supplier that had a positive impact on the result from
operating activities of €40.0 million.The former contract also contained an embedded derivative that had a positive impact on the
result from operating activities of (€9.5) million. Both these impacts have been reversed and reduce the result from operating activities
before depreciation and amortisation for the purpose of calculating Nyrstar’s underlying result.

The table below sets out Nyrstar’s underlying modified pro forma energy expenses and total operating costs:

31 Dec 07

Total Total
€m energy costs operating costs

Total Modified Pro Forma energy expenses (175.7) (677.3)

Adjustment for embedded derivatives (49.5) (49.5)

Underlying energy costs (225.2) (726.8)

(b) As at 31 August 2007, Nyrstar inherited an unhedged metal at risk position. Parent company approval for the hedging of this position
was received on 13 September 2007. During this period in which the metal was not hedged, both the price of zinc and the US dollar fell
resulting in a negative impact on the result from operating activities of approximately €24.7 million. Subsequently, an additional 19,000
tonnes of metal was determined to be exposed and was successfully hedged by mid-December.The impact of this exposure was to reduce
the result from operating activities by €12.0 million.These impacts have been reversed and increase the result from operating activities
before depreciation and amortisation for the purpose of calculating Nyrstar’s underlying result.

The table below sets out Nyrstar’s underlying gross profit on a modified pro forma basis.

31 Dec 07

€m Total gross profit

Total Modified Pro Forma gross profit 1,218.6

Adjustment for unhedged inventory 36.7

Underlying gross profit 1,255.3
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Notes

1. Reporting entity
Nyrstar NV (‘Nyrstar’ or the ‘Company’) was formed on 13 April 2007 in the context of the subsequent signing of the Business
Combination and Shareholders’ Agreement between Nyrstar, Zinifex Limited (‘Zinifex’) and Umicore SA/NV (‘Umicore’) on 23 April 2007.
The Company listed its shares on the Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels on 29 October 2007.

The listed entity represents a business combination of the zinc and lead smelting and alloying business of Zinifex (the ‘Zinifex Carve-out
Group’) and the zinc smelting and alloying business of Umicore (the ‘Umicore Carve-out Group’).

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information comprises Selected Pro Forma Consolidated Income Statement Information before
net financing costs and income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2007.The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information
has been prepared having regard to the principles set out in Annex II of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004.

The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been provided only to the level of profit before net financing costs and income tax.
The tax profile and gearing of Nyrstar differ substantially from those of the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore Carve-out Group,
which, historically, have been operated under different corporate structures and, therefore, a comparison of historical interest and tax
expense is not considered to be meaningful, appropriate or representative.

The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information is unaudited.

(b) Underlying financial information
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended 31 December 2007 is based on:

• The consolidated income statement of Nyrstar for the six months ended 31 December 2007, derived from the Nyrstar Consolidated
Financial Statements as at and for the six months ended 31 December 2007.This consolidated income statement comprises:

– The income statement of the former Zinifex Carve-out Group entities for the six months ended 31 December 2007; and

– The income statements of the new Nyrstar entities and former Umicore Carve-out Group entities for the four months ended
31 December 2007;

• Selected combined income statement information before net financing costs and income tax of the Umicore Carve-out Group for the
two months ended 31 August 2007;

• Selected combined income statement information before net financing costs and income tax for the Zinifex Carve-out Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2007, derived from the Zinifex Carve-out Group Combined Selected Financial Information included in the Nyrstar
prospectus dated 12 October 2007 issued in the context of the Company’s listing of its shares on the Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels; and

• Selected combined income statement information before net financing costs and income tax for the Umicore Carve-out Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2007, derived from the Umicore Carve-out Group Combined Selected Financial Information included
in the Nyrstar prospectus dated 12 October 2007 issued in the context of the Company’s listing of its shares on the Eurolist of
Euronext, Brussels.

The Nyrstar Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information should be read in conjunction with the information detailed above.

Prior to the acquisition by Nyrstar of the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore Carve-out Group on 31 August 2007, the Company
had minimal assets and conducted no operations.

(c) Limitations of pro forma information
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information gives pro forma effect to the acquisitions of the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the
Umicore Carve-out Group by Nyrstar as if the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2007.The information has been prepared and is
intended for illustrative purposes only and addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore does not purport to represent the results of
operations that the Company would actually have obtained during the period presented and is not necessarily indicative of the results the
Company expects in future periods.

In this respect, the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information, to the extent that it includes financial information relating to the period
prior to 1 September 2007, amongst other things:

• Does not reflect the strategies and corporate structure that Nyrstar may have employed had the smelting businesses been operating
as a combined group;

• Does not reflect the fact that the contractual terms between Nyrstar and its customers and suppliers may have been different had the
smelting businesses been operating as a combined group;

• Does not reflect the operating risks that Nyrstar may have been subject to had the smelting businesses been operating as a combined
group; and

• Does not reflect the results of any financial risk management, such as transactional hedging, that Nyrstar might have employed.

In addition, as has been noted above, the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been provided only to the level of profit
before net financing costs and income tax.
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2. Basis of preparation continued

(d) Accounting policies
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been compiled on the basis of the accounting policies of the Company.These
accounting policies are set out in the Nyrstar Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the six months ended 31 December 2007.

(e) Nature of pro forma adjustments
The Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information includes adjustments that are factually supported, directly attributable to the
transaction, and appropriate and complete for the purpose for which the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been prepared.

Pro forma adjustments have been recorded to give effect to:

• The alignment of the financial information of the former Zinifex and Umicore Carve-out Groups prior to their acquisition by Nyrstar
to Nyrstar accounting policies; and

• The impact of the business combination relating to the fair values of the assets and liabilities of Nyrstar and the Umicore Carve-out
Group and the sale of the Umicore Carve-out Group structural hedges.

Certain pro forma adjustments are based on estimates and assumptions that management believes are reasonable.

(f) Intercompany eliminations
All intercompany transactions between the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore Carve-out Group, prior to their acquisition by
Nyrstar, have been eliminated.

3. Selected Pro Forma Consolidated Income Statement Information before net financing costs and income tax

6 months 2 months 6 months 12 months

Umicore Zinifex Umicore
Period to 31 December 2007 Nyrstar Carve-out Carve-out Carve-out Elimination of Nyrstar
€m Consol. Group Group Group Group Pro Forma inter-company Pro Forma
Income / (Cost) 31 Dec 07 31 Aug 07 30 Jun 07 30 Jun 07 SUB-TOTAL Adjustments transactions 31 Dec 07

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

Revenue 1,486.2 222.8 1,242.7 798.7 3,750.4 (13.0) (26.1) 3,711.3

Result from operating activities before
depreciation and amortisation 123.8 (95.8) 131.5 62.8 222.3 82.5 – 304.8

Depreciation and amortisation (31.4) (4.0) (21.6) (10.7) (67.7) (7.1) – (74.8)

Result from operating activities 92.4 (99.8) 109.9 52.1 154.6 75.4 – 230.0

Share of profit / (loss) of equity accounted investees 9.0 1.9 – 3.3 14.2 4.2 – 18.4

Result before net financing income and income tax 101.4 (97.9) 109.9 55.4 168.8 79.6 – 248.4

(a) Derived from Nyrstar’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 31 December 2007.

(b) Derived from the selected combined income statement information before net financing costs and income tax of the Umicore
Carve-out Group for the two months ended 31 August 2007.

(c) Derived from the Zinifex Carve-out Group Combined Selected Historical Financial Information included in Appendix III of Chapter 1
(‘F-Pages’) to the Nyrstar prospectus dated 12 October 2007 issued in the context of the Company’s listing of its shares on the
Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels.

(d) Derived from the Umicore Carve-out Group Combined Selected Historical Financial Information included in Appendix III of Chapter
1 (‘F-Pages’) to the Nyrstar prospectus dated 12 October 2007 issued in the context of the Company’s listing of its shares on the
Eurolist of Euronext, Brussels.

(e) The pro forma adjustments are detailed in section 4 of this report.
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4. Pro forma adjustments
The pro forma adjustments recorded to the underlying financial information of Nyrstar, the Zinifex Carve-out Group and the Umicore
Carve-out Group in section 3 of this report are detailed in the table below.

Impact of business
Alignment of accounting policies combination

JVs Property, Sale of
Property, accounted Total plant & Umicore

Period to 31 December 2007 plant & Lower of Non-metal Metal for under accounting equipment Carve-out Total pro
€m equipment Revenue cost or inventory inventory equity policy (Fair value Group forma
Income / (Cost) (Useful lives) recognition market valuation valuation method alignments uplift) hedge book adjustments

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h)

Revenue – – – (13.0) (13.0) – – (13.0)

Result from operating activities
before depreciation and amortisation – (1.5) (5.9) 41.7 (55.8) (5.1) (26.6) – 109.1 82.5

Depreciation and amortisation 4.4 – (1.4) – – 0.9 3.9 (11.0) – (7.1)

Result from operating activities 4.4 (1.5) (7.3) 41.7 (55.8) (4.2) (22.7) (11.0) 109.1 75.4

Share of profit / (loss) of equity
accounted investees – – – – – 4.2 4.2 – – 4.2

Result before net financing costs
and income tax 4.4 (1.5) (7.3) 41.7 (55.8) – (18.5) (11.0) 109.1 79.6

(a) The increase of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment compared to those previously applied by the Umicore Carve-out
Group during the eight months ended 31 August 2007 results in a reversal of depreciation charges amounting to €4.4 million.

(b) Under the Umicore Carve-out Group’s accounting policies, revenue from refining activities was recognised when the metal reference
stage (cathode) was reached. Nyrstar recognises all revenue when the significant rewards of ownership have been transferred to a third
party.The reversal of the revenue recognised by the Umicore Carve-out Group in this context during the eight months ended 31 August
2007 had a negative impact of €1.5 million on the result from operating activities.

(c) The former Umicore Carve-out Group measured and recorded Lower of Cost or Market (LoCoM) charges on metal inventory within the
income statement notwithstanding the fact that these LoCoM charges were potentially compensated by the gross margins to be realised
upon the sale of the finished products containing this metal.The LoCoM charges previously recorded have been reviewed and assessed
for the probability that these charges will be compensated by subsequent gross margins to be realised.This review has resulted in a
decrease of the result from operating activities of €7.3 million (including a €1.4 million negative impact on amortisation).

(d) The non-metal part of the Umicore Carve-out Group’s inventories, composed of non-paid metal (i.e. refined zinc produced by the
smelter over and above the metal content the smelter has paid for in concentrates it purchases from the miner), treatment charges
and conversion costs, was valued at the annual weighted average price during the eight months ended 31 August 2007. Nyrstar’s
accounting policies require the non-paid metal and the treatment charges to be valued using the FIFO principle and the conversion
costs to be valued at the three-month average cost.This change has increased the result from operating activities by €41.7million.

(e) The Umicore Carve-out Group held inventories of metal containing base products of which the metal contents were classified in
categories reflecting their specific nature and business use. Each category was valued using the weighted average at 31 August 2007.
Nyrstar does not use these categories; therefore all metal inventory is valued on an average cost basis.The valuation impact of
combining all metal categories and applying one average cost to them within the metal price environment of 2007 has a negative
impact on the result from operating activities of €46.5 million.

Metal inventories of the Umicore Carve-out Group were valued at the rolling monthly average zinc price during the eight months ended
31 August 2007 whereas Nyrstar accounting policies require it to be valued on an average cost basis.This change results in a negative
impact on the result from operating activities of €9.3 million.

The combined impact of these two adjustments is a negative impact on the result from operating activities of €55.8 million.

(f) The impact of the change in accounting policies results from the adoption of the equity method of accounting for joint ventures that
were previously consolidated using the proportional method according to the Zinifex Carve-out Group’s accounting policies.These
changes have a nil impact on the overall reported result before net financing costs and income tax.

(g) An additional depreciation charge arises from the recognition of property, plant and equipment of the Umicore Carve-out Group at
their fair values as at 31 August 2007 amounting to €11.0 million.

(h) The Umicore Carve-out Group sold its hedge book related to structural hedges in August 2007 as part of the business combination
process and incurred a loss on this sale of the hedge book.The reversal of this loss results in a positive impact on the result from
operating activities of €109.1 million.

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION continued

NY002 p90-102.qxp:NY002 p90-102  7/4/08  16:48  Page 100



NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007 101

4. Pro forma adjustments continued
No pro forma adjustments have been recorded in the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information in respect of:

(i) Corporate costs: Management estimate that the corporate costs charged to the former Umicore Carve-out Group and the Zinifex
Carve-out Group by their respective parent companies during the eight months ended 31 August 2007 approximate the level of the
corporate costs that Nyrstar, as a stand-alone entity, would have incurred for that period. Accordingly, no pro forma adjustment in
respect of corporate costs was deemed to be necessary.

(ii) The reversal of the fair value step up recorded to inventories as at 31 August 2007.
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INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE REPORT ON PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

To the Board of Directors of Nyrstar NV
We report on the accompanying Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information set out on pages 98 to 101 of the annual report of
Nyrstar NV, which has been compiled as described in the basis of preparation note set out in section 2 of the Pro Forma Consolidated
Financial Information (the ‘Basis of Preparation’), for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how the acquisition by
Nyrstar NV (the ‘Company’), of the zinc and lead smelting, alloying and refining assets and operations of Zinifex Limited and Umicore
SA/NV might have affected its selected consolidated income statement information before net financing costs and income tax for the 12
month period ended 31 December 2007, prepared on the basis of the accounting policies adopted by the Company. Because of its nature,
the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore does not represent the Company’s
actual results for the period presented had the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2007.

Management is responsible for the compilation of the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information, which has been prepared in
accordance with the Basis of Preparation.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion as to the proper compilation of the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information on the basis of
the work that we have performed.We are not responsible for expressing any other opinion on the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial
Information or on any of its constituent elements. In particular, we do not accept any responsibility for any financial information previously
reported on and used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information beyond that owed to those to whom reports
or opinions were addressed at the dates of their issue.

We conducted our work in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000, Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information.The work that we performed for the purpose of making this report, which involved
no independent examination of any of the underlying financial information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted underlying
financial information with the source documents, considering the evidence supporting the pro forma adjustments, and discussing the Pro
Forma Consolidated Financial Information with Company management.We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information
and explanations we considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial
Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

In our opinion, the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated in the Basis of
Preparation and such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company as described in the Basis of Preparation of the
Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information.

Brussels, 3 April 2008

Joint Statutory Auditors

KPMG PricewaterhouseCoopers
Bedrijfsrevisoren-Reviseurs d’Entreprises Bedrijfsrevisoren-Reviseurs d’Entreprises

represented by represented by

Benoit Van Roost Peter Van den Eynde
Bedrijfsreviser Bedrijfsreviser
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Alloy Metal containing several components.

Alloying A technique of combining or mixing two or more metals to make an entirely new metallic
compound; for example, mixing copper and tin creates bronze.

Base Metal Non precious metal, usually refers to copper, lead, zinc, aluminium and tin.

BEL20 The BEL20 is the benchmark stock market index of Euronext Brussels.

Blast furnace A tall shaft furnace used to smelt sinter and produce crude lead bullion and a slag.

Brook Hunt A leading metals industry consultancy.

Cadmium A soft bluish-white ductile malleable toxic bivalent metallic element; occurs in association
with zinc ores.

CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate.

Cake The solid mass remaining after the liquid that contained it has been removed.

Calcine Product of roasting zinc sulphide concentrates; mainly zinc oxide, also with silica and
iron compounds, lead compounds, minor elements and residual combined sulphur.

Capping Rock overlying the mineral body of a mine.

Cathode Negatively charged electrode in electrolysis; in zinc and cadmium electrolysis, the cathode
is a flat sheet of aluminium.

Cell house The location in the production process where zinc metal is electrolytically plated onto
aluminium cathodes.

CGG Continuous Galvanizing Grade zinc; contains alloying agents such as aluminium,
lead and selenium in specific qualities desired by customers; used in continuous strip
galvanizing plants.

Concentrate Material produced from metalliferous ore by mineral processing or benefication;
commonly based on sulphides of zinc, lead and copper; in a concentrate, the abundance
of a specific mineral is higher than in the ore.

Continuous galvanizing A system for providing a continuous supply of material to be galvanized.

Copper cementate Metallic copper obtained by cementation.

Copper sulphate A copper salt made by the action of sulphuric acid on copper oxide.

Die casting A process for producing parts in large quantities, by injecting molten metal under
pressure into a steel die.

Dross Solid scum that forms on top of molten metals as a result of oxidation; must be
removed for recycling.

EBIT Earnings before interest and tax.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

EU Seveso II Directive European Council Directive 96/82/EC on the control of major-accident hazards.

Galvanizing Process of coating steel sheet or fabricated products with a thin layer of zinc for
corrosion protection.

Geohydrological containment System that prevents the spreading of polluted groundwater.
system

Goethite FeO.OH., hydrated iron oxide: as a zinc production by-product it contains some zinc,
lead, silver and other impurities.

Germanium A brittle grey crystalline element that is a semiconducting metalloid (resembling silicon).

HSEC Health Safety Environment Community.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards.

Impoundments On-site storage facilities for zinc plant leach residues.

Indium A rare, soft silvery metallic element.

IPO Initial Public Offering.

GLOSSARY FOR ANNUAL REPORT
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ISO International Standards Organization.

Jarosite An iron sulphate mineral often formed as zinc smelter waste.

LME London Metal Exchange.

LTR Lost Time Injury Rate per million man hours.

Modified pro forma Pro Forma financial information which has been modified to reflect Nyrstar’s
current transactional and structural hedging policies.

Neutralisation sludge landfill Landfill used for the storage of sludge coming from the treatment of plant effluents.

Ore Mineral bearing rock.

Oxide washing Process to remove halides from zinc secondaries.

RLE process Roast Leach Electrowin; technology used for the production of zinc and which combines
the roasting, leaching and electrowinning processes.

Secondaries / Secondary materials By-products of industrial processes such as smelting and refining that are then available
for further treatment/recycling. It also includes scrap from metal machining processes
and from end-of-life materials.

SHG Special High Grade Zinc Minimum 99.995% zinc; traded on the LME.

Sinter A hard, porous, agglomerated intermediate material made by oxidation at moderately
high temperature of sulphide concentrates, fluxes and returns on a grate conveyor termed
a sinter machine.

Smelting Chemical reduction of a metal from its ore by fusion.

Treatment Charges (TC) An annually negotiated fee that may be linked to metal prices, paid by the miner or seller
to a smelter as a concession on the cost of the metal concentrate or secondary materials
that the smelter purchases.

Troy ounce 1 troy ounce = 1.097 ounces

NYRSTAR ANNUAL REPORT 2007104
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Financial calendar
30 April 2008 Annual General Meeting

7 May 2008 Dividend payment

14 May 2008 2008 first quarter update

19 August 2008 2008 half year results

18 November 2008 2008 third quarter update

additional information
Stock exchange: Euronext Brussels

Trading symbol: NYR

Contact:
Jan Altink
Director, Investor Relations and Communications
Phone: + 44 (0)20 7408 8100
Email: jan.altink@nyrstar.com

Annual report:This report is also available in Dutch and
French and can be downloaded from www.nyrstar.com

Registered office:
Nyrstar NV
Zinkstraat 1
B-2490 – Balen
Belgium
Phone: +32 14 44 9500

Website: www.nyrstar.com

Email: info@nyrstar.com

Company number: VAT BE 0888.728.945 RPR/RPMTurnhout

Design and Production:
Black Sun Plc (London)
+44 (0)20 7736 0011

Printed on Think Bright – FSC certified

REVENUE EBITDA†

TOTAL ZINC PRODUCTION (tonnes)# TOTAL LEAD PRODUCTION (tonnes)#

nyrstar is a new star in the metals industry and the world’s largest producer
of zinc with a market share of approximately 10%*, as well as a major lead producer.
We were created on 31 August 2007 from the zinc and lead smelting and alloying assets
of Umicore and Zinifex. Nyrstar became a publicly listed company on 29 October 2007
on the Euronext Brussels stock exchange.

Our name, Nyrstar, is a combination of ‘nyr’, an old Norse word meaning new, and ‘star’
a leading light. For us, Nyrstar means a bright new star, a new organisation full of energy
with a strong focus on future growth.

We have a truly global spread of high-quality assets that are well positioned to supply our
customers in Europe, North America,Australia and Asia Pacific.We focus on meeting our
customers’ needs for premium quality zinc and zinc alloys worldwide.

Our vision is to be a global leader in metals processing and recycling – making products
for a sustainable future.
*Source: Brook Hunt

€3,815m €560m

1,073,000 221,000

Important note: Unless stated otherwise, the financial information included in this annual
report is based on the Modified Pro Forma Consolidated Information for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2007 set out on pages 90 to 102 (please refer to page 45 ‘Important
note in relation to the presentation of financial information’ for a detailed explanation of
the presentation of financial information in this annual report).

†Including income from associates.
#Production tonnes include production from primary zinc smelters and primary and secondary lead smelters only. Production at
subsidiaries and associate companies has been consolidated proportionate to our equity holdings. Zinc production includes market metal
production from Balen and Overpelt and excludes cathodes purchased from Auby for conversion into zinc and zinc alloys.

KEy 2007 HIGHLIGHts
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